

European Network of Councils for the Judiciary (ENCJ)

Réseau européen des Conseils de la Justice (RECJ)

ENCJ WORKING GROUP

# Quality and Access to Justice 2009-2010

Register Version 1 May 2011



With the support of the European Union Avec le soutien de l'Union européenne

## **REGISTER**

## Working Group on Quality and Access to Justice European Network of Councils for the Judiciary

## Table of Contents

Introductory remarks	4
1. Financial Hindrances	
1.1. Court Fees - (variable costs and reimbursement of wins costs	6
1.2. Legal assistance (legal aid for free/reduced cost, initial advice and representation)	14
1.3. Impairing by financing systems (insurance, public aid)	23
2. Geographical Hindrances	24
2.1. Size of court districts	
2.2. Number of permanent or temporary court locations within the district	35
2.3. Facilitating transportation	40
2.4. Video conferences	42
2.5. Telephone conferences	46
2.6. Written testimonies	47
3. Physical hindrances	50
3.1. Location of courts (public transport, parking facilities, etc.)	50
3.2. Opening days and hours in the courts	51
3.3. Access for disabled persons	54
3.4. Hearing aid in court rooms	56
4. Technological Hindrances	57
4.1. Electronic in- and outgoing communication (fax, e-mail, electronic signature)	57
4.2. Access to information – (internet, pamphlets)	67
5. Psychological Hindrances	
5.1. Attire and arranging of court rooms	75
5.2. Information and assistance and explanation of outcome (court decision and others)	79
5.3. Education and survey of judges	
5.4. Treatment of other users of the courts (witnesses)	88
6. Hindrances to Personal Appearance	91
6.1. Mandatory professional representation	
6.2. Simple procedure cases (family cases, cases involving minor amounts and others)	96
6.3. Practical possibilities for personal appearance	100
6.4. Oral or written opening and procedure	
6.5. Requirements to written applications and facilitating by use of blanks and the like	
6.6. Assistance and guidance by the judge	110

	110
7. Social Hindrances	
7.1. Awareness of rights and use of professional language	112
7.2. Linguistic hindrances and hindrances for minority groups, immigrants, and aliens	113
8. Time Hindrances	121
8.1. Delays	
8.2. Fast track procedures	135
8.3. Pre-trial evidence	140
8.4. Interim provisions	141
8.5. Injunction	
9. Hindrances to Enforcement	
9.1. Enforcement by bailiffs within the judiciary or by private executors	144
9.2. Direct enforcement	150
9.3. Execution, eviction etc. on basis of documents or other simple means of proof	153
9.4. Fees, legal aid, time involved and debtors' rights	157
10. Treatment of Victims of Crime	161
10.1. Advice, support and assistance	161
10.2. Involvement in proceedings	169
10.3. Ability to influence the sentence of the offender	179
10.4. Compensation	182
11. Contact Persons for further details	190
11.1. Member States	190
11.2. Observers	191

### **REGISTER**

Working Group on Quality and Access to Justice European Network of Councils for the Judiciary

## **Introductory remarks**

When commencing this work the Working Group considered carefully which topics to choose for the research. The Group decided on the topics stated in the headlines below, as they were found to all encompass clear and present issues related to access to justice. The members were asked to give a short description of the hindrance relevant to the situation in their countries and of any initiatives taken by the court system to facilitate access by meeting the hindrance.

Some members of the Working Group prefer to use the term "obstacles" rather than "hindrances", but both address impediments which may be overcome, avoided or mitigated in their effect. The choice of words is therefore not of great significance and both terms appear in this report.

The aim of the Register is to mainly be a guide for easy access to further information. The aim is therefore not to have a thorough comparative description of the regulation in each country on each topic. If the reader needs more details please find the contact details of experts on the described activities and initiatives listed at the end of the Register.

In their descriptions the members mainly focus on civil cases keeping also the scope of the work – informing of initiatives to meet hindrances to access to justice – in mind. Some contributions do however include information on issues that do not fall within this scope – e.g. information on the rights of the defendant in criminal proceedings.

Some contributions contain detailed information on status in the country in question, whereas other contributions have left out information on the topic. The fact that some members have left out in-

formation on an issue in the Register does not imply that the country in question does not have a regulation, similar to that described in contributions from other countries.

As the aim of ENCJ is to share experience it was decided at the ENCJ General Assembly in London in June 2010 to have the Register continue as a live document and thus to have it both supplemented by contributions from the Members and Observers who did not participate in the Working Group on Quality and Access to Justice and to have it continuously updated by all Members and Observers.

The Project Team on Timeliness has subsequently asked all Members and Observers to either update their contribution or to supplement the Register with information on the situation in their country.

This version of the Register reflects the situation in the following countries by 1 May 2011:

- Austria	- Norway
- Czech Republic	- Netherlands
- Cyprus	- Poland
- Denmark	- Portugal
- England and Wales	- Romania
- Germany	- Scotland
- Latvia	- Slovakia
- Lithuania	- Sweden

The information in the Register from the remaining countries reflects the situation in these countries by June 2010.

## 1. Financial Hindrances

### 1.1. Court Fees - (variable costs and reimbursement of wins costs

### 1.1. Belgium, Croatia, Cyprus, Germany, Italy and Lithuania

### Status

In many countries court fees generally depend on the value of the case. The higher the value the higher the fee. In Lithuania the fee is e.g. 1-3 %. Court fees also depend on the type of the case (divorce, trespassing, family cases, labour cases etc.), some categories of citizens (f.i. welfare recipients in Lithuania) have no duty to pay court fees and parties can apply to be lifted from the obligation to pay court fees. In Germany the course of proceedings may affect the final amount of fees charged – an out-of-court settlement will f.i. lead to a two-third reduction of the fees.

The parties must also cover the costs of witnesses, experts, expertise institutions, interpreters, the costs related to the review of the place, paying the attorney, etc. The party who loses the case in many countries must cover the costs of the winning party. In Belgium it is a flat rate sum fixed by Royal Decree which depends on the nature and the importance of the case. In Italy no court fees are due in criminal law cases

### 1.1. Austria

### Status

The costs of a civil proceeding are court fees and, if required, fees for experts, interpreters, witnesses and guardians appointed by the court (as representatives for absent parties or parties in need of guardianship), the parties' travelling expenses, and costs of announcements and representation by a lawyer. Each party must pay its own costs; the party which is unsuccessful in a civil litigation case must reimburse the costs of the successful party.

### Initiative

"From 2009 to 2011 various amendments to the Act on Court Fees came into force or are about to come into force in which existing court fees were raised (e.g. concerning civil litigation and for acquiring information or for recording modifications to the land- or business-register), new court fees for new proceedings were created and new fees in areas up to now free of court fees were introduced (e.g. concerning family law cases and costs for copies)."

### **Objective and impact**

The objective of these initiatives was to achieve a better balance between the rising costs of court proceedings and the amount or fees paid by the parties. Furthermore the implementation of new fees helps to meet the costs for providing justice in new areas and to guarantee correct court judgments in a reasonable time also in areas formerly free of court fees (such as various family law cases and proceedings auditing financial guardianship) as the State budget cannot cover the cost increase in these proceedings. The impact of these initiatives will be seen in the next year(s), where corresponding analyses will be undertaken.

### Organizational and financial implications

The implications of the initiatives were mainly financial:

- to cover (at least some part of) the cost increase of the proceedings, and
- to avoid proceedings by parties able to cover the costs of these proceedings, but not willing to pay these (e.g. initiating proceedings free of fees only to incommode their former partners).

### 1.1. Czech Republic

### Status:

There are variable costs and reimbursement of witness costs in the Czech Republic. In civil proceedings for monetary claims above 15.000 CZK court fee rate is 4 %. In special types of cases the court fee is fixed (divorce 1.000 CZK). Some types of cases and some cathegories of citizens have no duty to pay court fees. The parties must also cover the costs of witnesses, experts, expertise institutions, paying the attorney, etc. The party who loses the case in many countries must cover the costs of the winning party. No court fees are due in criminal law cases, except of lawyer fee.

### Initiative:

Nowadays, an amendment of the Law on court fees, suggesting an increase of court fees, is in the legislative procedure. It is expected that from 2011 some fixed court fees will be increased.

1.1. Denmark

### Status

The amount due depends on the value and type of the case. The fee comprises of two separate fees: one which is due to be paid at the time of filing the law suit and one which is due to be paid when commencing trial proceedings. The amount of the two fees is set in a proportion of 50/50.

### Initiative

The method of calculating court fees was generally altered by new legislation in 2005. The court fees in civil cases regarding minor claims (maximum 50.000 DKK which is approx.  $6.500 \in$ ) where largely reduced and set to a fixed amount of 500 DKK (approx.  $65 \in$ ). Further the maximum total amount payable in all cases was largely reduced to 150.000 DKK (approx.  $20.000 \in$ ). In cases raised against public institutions the maximum total amount was reduced to 4.000 DKK (approx.  $550 \in$ ). It was also this new legislation that fixed the two payable fees in a proportion of 50/50. Before the amount of the fees where set in a proportion of 5/6.

### Objective and impact

The legislation was to contribute to the impairment of financial hindrances to access to justice and also to encourage the parties to settle the case before commencing trial proceedings.

### 1.1. England and Wales

### Status

The Ministry of Justice's policy, opposed by the judiciary, is to have" full cost recovery" i.e. the cost of civil justice met from fees paid by litigants. This is opposed by the judiciary on the principle that access to the courts should not be restricted by the inability to afford court fees. There is a system of means-tested fee waivers which the government considers is appropriate to ensure that tax-payers' money is targeted to where it is most needed. The practical application of this policy gives rise to the perception that access to civil justice only being available to the poor and very rich. In damages claims the court fees are scaled to the value, or estimated value of the claim and payable on the issue of proceedings, where directions are sought and upon setting down for trial. The government is committed to fees contributing to the financing of Her Majesty's Court Service and this position is unlikely to change. Lawyers acting under conditional fee arrangements may underwrite

such costs as part of the remuneration arrangement. Fees are not payable for applications or appeals to tribunals but are (or will be) in connection with immigration applications.

### Initiative

The fees for public law children's' cases were recently increased to a sum equivalent to about 2.200  $\in$ . These are proceedings brought by local (government) authorities in discharge of their child protection duties. To cushion the effect on local authority budgets the government made a one off allowance to each authority. Sadly this initiative coincided with a case of child murder and in a case which had wide publicity a local authority was found to be failing in its duty to the child in question. This resulted in a rapid and significant increase in applications to the courts and the net value of this initiative was very small.

### 1.1. Finland

### Status

As opposed to lawyers fees court fees are not high in Finland but set in a fixed amount. In the District court the fee for a civil case is  $79 \notin$  if the decision is made during the preparation of the case. The fee is  $111 \notin$  if the decision is made in the oral preliminary hearing,  $145 \notin$  if the decision is made after the main hearing heard by one judge and  $179 \notin$  if the decision is made after the main hearing heard by one judge and  $179 \notin$  if the decision is made after the main hearing heard by three judges. The court fee for a criminal case is  $79 \notin$ , but it is not collected from the general prosecutor. There also are some fixed cost for cases that are not heard in a hearing, like divorce  $(79 \notin)$  and court annexed mediation  $(110 \notin)$ .

In the Court of Appeal the court fee for a civil case is  $179 \notin$  and for a criminal case  $89 \notin$ . In the Supreme Court the court fee for a civil case is  $223 \notin$  and for a criminal case  $111 \notin$ . The appealing party is obliged to perform the cost, but there are many exceptions for that obligation, too. As a conclusion, court fees are not high in Finland but the lawyers' fees are. The loosing party is in most cases obliged to cover the cost of the winning party and they are already in the court of first instance on average of 5.277  $\notin$ .

### 1.1. Hungary

### Status

The fee of the judicial proceeding is 6 % of the claim.

### Initiative

In order to relieve the Hungarian courts of their overwhelming workload, the legislator of the Republic of Hungary has striven in recent years to create ways of alternative dispute resolution (mediation), especially in criminal and civil cases. As an encouragement, citizens are entitled to a reduction of court fees in a subsequent court proceeding if they make use of these means of alternative resolution.

### 1.1. Latvia

### Status

The court fees depend on the value of the case and the minimum fee is approx.  $70 \notin$ . In cases with no economical value the fees vary from  $20-130 \notin$ . There is a fixed court fee of approx.  $30 \notin$  in cases regarding administrative matters and the parties will not be obliged to pay additional costs (for expertise, witnesses inspections etc.). There are no court fees in criminal matters.

### Initiative

There are planned amendments in 2011 for raising the court fees and to establish new court fees in regard to f.i. concerning intellectual property claims.

### **Objective and impact**

The objective is to achieve better balance between the rising court costs and number of cases and the amount of fees paid. It is not planned to abolish persons with low incomes.

### 1.1. The Netherlands

### Status

No court fees are due in criminal law cases. In civil cases with a financial interest under  $5.000 \in$ , only the plaintiff pays court fees, the amount of which depends on the value of the claim. In civil cases with a financial interest over  $5.000 \in$  both the plaintiff and the defendant pay the same amount of court fees. Here too, the court fees depend on the type of case and the financial interest involved. The same principles apply for court fees due in an appeal.

### Initiative

A legislative proposal foresees the following main changes regarding court fees:

- 1. The introduction of fixed court fees.
- 2. The introduction of a low fixed fee for persons with no income or a low income, under simultaneous elimination of the (partial) exemption from court fees for persons with no income or a low income.
- 3. A higher tariff for appeal and cassation.
- 4. Collection of court fees at the beginning of the procedure.
- 5. The special tariff for the defendant in interlocutory proceedings is to be abolished.

### **Objective and impact**

The aim of the legislative proposal is to design a system that will improve comprehension of the court fee tariff system for citizens and their legal representatives and will reduce the administrative burden of the courts.

### 1.1. Norway

### Status

Court fees amounts to about  $500 \notin$  in civil cases where the main court hearing lasts one day. The fee will increase for more days in court. The court fee is reduced if the case is rejected some time before the main hearing. The court fee in appeal cases amounts to about  $2.400 \notin$  and increases for more than one day. The court fee for appeals on procedural rulings is  $600 \notin$ . No court fee is due in e.g. cases of family matters, in tenant and landlord cases, and in cases where an employee is suing the employer for terminating the employment. One can apply to be exempted from the obligation to pay court fees.

### 1.1. Poland

### Status

In principles, Polish law regulations stipulate that court actions are paid – both within the civil, as well as, in determined scope, the criminal procedure. However if a person demonstrates that they cannot afford costs related to the proceedings, they may be exempted from them, in part or in whole. Some actions determined in the act are also free of charge (or against some of them, there is a very low charge). For example, a petition within the proceedings in the scope of labour code will be free of charge, when the value of the subject of dispute does not exceed PLN 50,000.00 (approx.

 $12.500 \in$ ). The right of exemption from judicial costs does not affect the obligation to reimburse the costs of purposeful defence and purposeful rights' pursuit to the court opponent.

### 1.1. Portugal

### Status

Costs include Court fees, charges (emoluments) and costs fees of legal representatives.

Court fees are set according to the type, amount and complexity of the case.

Anyone who can be considered intervening in a case (author, defendant, petitioner, executed, appellant and defendant, plaintiff, assistant) may have to pay fees. Are clearly excluded mere witnesses and experts.

The winner parties must pay court fees, because this payment is to provide a service.

### Costs are:

- a) The court fees paid by the successful party;
- b) The costs incurred by the party;
- c) The remuneration paid to and by the executor; and
- d) Any expenses which he incurred on behalf of the agent
- e) The court fees of legal representative

### Initiative

The regime on court fees was amended in 2008 in order to:

- Make the party responsible for the payment of the court's fees whenever he/she has hindered the alternative dispute resolution mechanisms.
- Give some benefits for the users of electronic means of procedure (reduced fees from 25 to 50%).
- Penalize those who abuse from dilatory measures.

## 1.1. Romania

### Initiative

The Superior Council of Magistracy proposed to the Ministry of Justice to introduce some fixed amounts of judicial taxes for all kinds of legal actions. Moreover, in case of property litigations, where the value of a house may well amount to several hundred thousands  $\in$ , the plaintiffs are to pay large sums as judicial taxes, according to the general principle where fees depend on the value of the case.

### 1.1. Scotland

### Status

The position is similar to that in England and Wales, see above.

### 1.1. Slovakia

### Status

In general, the court fees depend mainly on the amount in the dispute and the nature of the dispute. Basic determination of legal fees:

a) 6% of the price of claim; at least  $\notin$  16.50 euro, not more than  $\notin$  16,596.50; or from the amount in commercial matters of the dispute not more than  $\notin$  33,193.50.

b)  $\in$  99.50 - in the cases where the subject of the claim cannot be financially estimated

In addition to this basic principle of determining the amount of the court fee the law contains the designation of court fees, depending on the nature of the dispute. Each party shall bear its costs in the proceedings individually and thereafter, depending on the outcome of the proceedings the court decides on the obligation to pay the costs, depending on the success or the failure in the matter, respectively. Party which is unsuccessful in the proceedings shall pay the costs to the successful party. Under the conditions laid by the law the court may exempt the party of the proceedings from court fees, based on the principle that access to the courts cannot be limited on the ground of inability to pay court fees. Certain benefits are provided for the parties by laws, if they meet certain statutory conditions. When submitting proposals electronically, where these are signed by secure electronic signature *the owner* of the electronic signature shall use a discount in legal fees amounting to 50% of the fee. In the actions against the State pursuant to an unlawful decision, unlawful arrest,

detention or other deprivation of personal liberty, a decision on punishment, a detention order or a custody decision, or maladministration.

### 1.1. Spain

### Status

Court fees were actually abolished in the 1980s in order to grant a wider access to justice by the public and to avoid corruption linked to direct payments in judicial offices. Court fees – as a flat rate – were reintroduced by a legal reform in 2003 regarding claims filed by legal persons before the civil and administrative branches of the jurisdiction. It was reintroduced to avoid the abuse of litigation by companies which would take advantage of the exemption of court fees and file ill founded claims or lodge inadmissible appeals. The reintroduction of the court fee has apparently reduced abuse of litigation by companies, albeit there are no reliable statistics confirming the actual impact of the measure. The current amount of the court fees ranges from  $90 \notin$  to  $210 \notin$  (proceedings in first instance) and from  $300 \notin$  to  $600 \notin$  (ordinary appeals and cassation appeals).

### 1.1. Sweden

### Status

A fundamental idea in the Swedish judicial system is to grant the public a wide access to justice. To pursue that idea Court Fees are rarely used. An application fee at 450 SEK (approx.  $45 \in$ ) is however used in civil cases when filing a law suit or an application. No fees are used in the Criminal or the Administrative branches of the judicial system.

### 1.2. Legal assistance (legal aid for free/reduced cost, initial advice and representation)

### 1.2. Belgium, Croatia, Cyprus, Finland, Italy, Lithuania and the Netherlands

### Status

In most countries anyone can upon application receive legal aid if their annual income is below a certain amount and circumstances surrounding the case make it reasonable. The legal aid will normally fully cover court fees, representation, other expenditures (experts etc.) and may also cover council in order to examine the chances of success of entering into litigation (Austria, Belgium, the Netherlands and Spain). Some lawyers also offer a free introductory meeting or a first preliminary discussion at a low rate (Belgium, the Netherlands and Spain).

### 1.2. Austria

### Status

In cases, where the engagement of an attorney is not obligatory (i.e. in principle at the district courts), anyone can file an application or make a statement orally; to this end one half day per week is reserved on which interested parties may address a judge directly. A party with insufficient financial means may apply for legal aid when entering into litigation or at any time later as long as the civil proceeding is still pending. As far as required the court can give legal aid by (wholly or partially) freeing the indigent party from court fees and the other fees mentioned under 1.1. and by providing legal representation free of charge. Where legal representation is provided, legal aid also covers the pre-trial advice given by the lawyer.

Legal aid is granted in all civil and commercial court proceedings regardless of the applicant's nationality or place of residence. If legal aid is granted in the main proceeding, the same also applies to the enforcement proceedings. A party which was granted legal aid for a particular legal dispute in another EU Member State is also entitled to legal aid in Austria for a proceeding concerning the recognition and enforcement of the decision given in that dispute. At its discretion the courts may grant full legal aid or – depending on the applicant's circumstances and taking into account expected costs – partial legal aid, covering only certain fees. Such aid may cover:

- a provisional exemption from court fees, fees for witnesses, experts and guardians, costs
  of the necessary announcements and the cash expenditure of guardians or lawyers; exemption from the guarantee covering the costs of the opposing party; and
- representation by a court official or if necessary a lawyer.

If the applicant loses the case, he has to reimburse the winning party's procedural costs.

### Initiative

In 2009 it was initiated that no legal aid is granted to legal bodies, only to individual persons.

### Objective and impact of the initiative

15

Reduce costs of legal aid, reduce work of the judges.

### 1.2. Czech Republic

### Status

In civil cases there is no general system for legal aid in the Czech Republic. Representation in front of the court is not obligatory. The court shall assess upon request each situation individually.

### 1.2. England and Wales

### Status

In civil cases, except public law children's cases, all applicants for assistance must satisfy a test of both merit and financial need. Legal aid for tribunal cases is usually only available in special cases, where for example an issue of general importance needs to be settled by onward appeal. One mitigating feature is that there are many voluntary and advice groups, funded by the Legal Service Commission, local government, trades unions and charities, which will provide support and representation.

### 1.2. Germany

### <u>Status</u>

If a party cannot meet the costs of legal action or can only do so in part or in instalments, he may apply for legal aid. If the intended legal action has sufficient prospects of success and does not appear to be mischievous, the party shall be awarded legal aid. Depending on the amount of income that has to be taken into account, the party has the obligation to repay this legal aid in instalments. The assets to be taken into account have to be assessed in each individual case.

In order to assert rights <u>outside</u> court proceedings, citizens receive legal advice and assistance upon application. The public treasury meets the costs of legal advice and representation apart from a small amount of  $\in$  10 to be paid by the citizen. Apart from need, this is in particular subject to the condition that there are no other reasonable assistance options and the assertion of rights is not mischievous.

In criminal proceedings, a defence counsel is appointed for defendants who do not yet have a defence counsel under certain circumstances (e.g. seriousness of the offence, complexity of the factual and legal situation), regardless of their income.

### 1.2. Hungary

### Initiative

The Ministry of Justice and Law Enforcement has operated a legal aid system since 2008. Its task in brief:

- Legal advice
- Appoint of the solicitor to make petition
- Appoint of the solicitor to represent

There are various ways in which the social disadvantaged can obtain legal aid. Legal aid covers – not in its entirety – the costs even in case of failure of lawsuit.

### 1.2. Latvia

### Status

In civil and administrative matters legal representation is not mandatory. Parties with insufficient means can apply for legal aid and a court or a judge can – when judging the material situation - exempt a party from payment of court fee as well as postpone payment or divide payment into instalments.

1.2. Norway

### Status

In criminal cases the defendant is entitled to a public defence except in some minor cases and when the defendant has confessed the crime. In family cases, some cases regarding housing and employment and cases regarding compensation for personal injury free legal aid is given to people with a gross income less than 29-30.000  $\in$  pr year, about 43.000  $\in$  for couples. People with gross income more than 12.500  $\in$  have to pay 25% of the costs themselves. In some cases – for example child care cases, divorce after a person have been forced into marriage, compensation for unlawful prosecution and compensation for serious violence – everyone is entitled to free legal aid in full. The Norwegian Bar Association is offering limited free legal advice in small legal problems. Some immigration cases (asylum) may be conducted free of charge in the courts by members of the Bar Association.

### Initiative

The government has recently proposed to extend the parties' access to legal aid, but in exchange make them pay more of the costs themselves.

### 1.2. Poland

### <u>Status</u>

A party may apply for the right for free-of-charge processional legal support (first of all an attorney, an in civil cases also a legal counsellor).

### Initiative

Until April 2010, only a party exempted, even only partially, from the court costs, was entitled to submit the application for the award of legal support of a professional attorney in civil case. Due to amendments of regulations of the Code of Civil Procedure, as of April 2010, the free-of-charge legal support of professional attorney may be granted to persons who demonstrate that they do not have sufficient funds to incur the costs of attorney's or legal counsellor's remuneration.

There are further works currently underway on the act of free legal support and legal information for natural persons. Already in 2009 the National Council of the Judiciary of Poland took the position as regards assumptions of this project. The assumptions were viewed positively, as the Council expressed a conviction, that the issues connected with the support law, including exemptions from costs of proceedings, should be conveyed to be handled in the projected mode (that is to off-court bodies). In opinion of the Council, this would reduce the load over courts with regard to cases only indirectly connected with the judiciary. Proceedings on granting free legal support should be as much intuitive and simple, as possible. At the Ministry of Justice, there are currently works underway on the project of assumptions to the bill on "free off-court legal support and legal information for natural persons". (The project is also related to the right to support in administrative procedure).

### 1.2. Portugal

### Status

Anyone can upon application receive legal aid if their annual income is below a certain amount and circumstances surrounding the case make it reasonable. The right is restricted to individuals, not legal persons. Some lawyers also offer a free introductory meeting or a first preliminary discussion at a low rate.

The system of legal aid applies to all courts, whatever the form of process and whatever the matter (civil, criminal, administrative, fiscal, labor, commercial etc.). Application must be filed in any public service department of social security before the first intervention or before the first procedural action that occurs after knowledge of economic failure. The deadline for completion of the administrative proceeding is 30 days. If this deadline is passed without a decision the process is tacitly approved. During this process there is no intervention of any court.

The fees of legal representatives are set by the Court, which must, for this purpose, have due regard to the time spent, the difficulty of the matter, the importance of the service provided, the financial means of the interested parties, the results obtained by means of the lawsuit and the amounts applied, in similar situations, within the respective judicial district. There is a computer program that makes automatically the calculation, always with the help of specific tables, which are the basis of that calculation. Some proceedings are, by virtue of legal provisions, exempt from the payment of costs, as are some parties to proceedings.

### Initiative

The latest initiative was the creation of a schedule of fees and expenses for attorneys and the creation of a formula containing the criteria for obtaining legal aid. All projects are implemented by the Ministry of Justice in conjunction with the Bar Association.

### 1.2. Romania

### Initiative

In order to ensure equal access to justice for all, a special law was passed in 2008 on judicial assistance. In contrast to the previous provisions on judicial assistance, the benefits of the new provisions are:

- judicial assistance was extended from civil cases also to commercial, administrative, labor and social securities cases, the only exception being criminal cases;
- a person is entitled to judicial assistance if she/he cannot afford to pay the costs of a trial without incurring prejudice to his own or his family's needs;
- judicial assistance consists not only in exemptions or postponements of paying judicial taxes but also free counseling and assistance by a lawyer, support in paying the fees of enforcement agents, support in paying the fees for experts or interpreters.

According to the Report on justice of 2008, with the exception of 2 courts of appeal, all the other courts of appeal reported a significant increase of the cases where judicial assistance was awarded during 2008.

### 1.2. Scotland

### Status

Legal aid is available in Scotland, both in the courts and in tribunal proceedings. As in England and Wales, tests of merit and financial need require to be met.

### Initiative

In April 2009 the Scottish Government has recently reduced the financial eligibility requirements for legal aid in Scotland so that one million more individuals were eligible. There has also been a recent increase in expenditure on advisory services for those facing repossession. In November 2010 the Government announced an intention to reform legal aid significantly in light of the need to make financial savings following the UK comprehensive spending review.

### 1.2. Slovakia

### Status

In Slovakia in certain cases there exists a possibility of free legal aid but that is intended for people who are in a state of material distress, in order not to be denied the access to law and justice.

### 1.2. Spain

### Status

Citizens who have insufficient means to litigate is guaranteed a basic right to legal aid which applies to cases brought before the courts of the four branches of the jurisdiction and also to constitutional complaints before the Constitutional Court. Legal aid may also under certain circumstances be granted to legal persons (foundations and non-profit making associations). The decision on whether to grant an applicant full or partial legal aid or not is made by an independent panel. Full legal aid comprises of fees and initial legal advice before the commencement of the proceedings; free counsel through an advocate and free representation through a representative before the court in all the phases of the judicial proceedings. The applicant (including the arrested suspect or the victim of terrorism of domestic violence) may seek initial legal advice and representation, which is granted by the competent Bar Council and Court Representatives Associations.

### Initiative

Given the amount of budgetary resources devoted to legal aid every year, some autonomous regions with competences in the field of justice have made proposals in order to monitor the performance of advocates appointed under legal aid schemes. The objective of these initiatives would be to avoid the lodging of appeals by advocates or court representatives when the person enjoying legal aid has not instructed the legal professionals to do so (which happens frequently in cases before the courts of the administrative branch of the jurisdiction when the immigrant has been effectively expelled from the Spanish territory). However these proposals are currently under discussion and have not been adopted so far.

1.2. Sweden

### Status

The Swedish legal aid system requires that a citizen primarily seek to make use of the legal protection cover under his or her insurance. Most of the citizens have a home insurance. If the citizen should have had insurance but does not, he or she normally cannot get assistance from the State for costs. The legal protection covers all or parts of the costs for legal assistance. Everybody (private persons, associations, organisations and companies) can get advice under the Legal Aid Act. This means that advice will be given from an attorney or an associate for fixed charge, which is lower than what the advice would normally cost, that is about  $120 \notin$ . You can get advice in this way for a maximum of two hours. If a citizen need assistance with more complex issues, which take a longer time, in some cases he or she can get legal aid which is financial support provided by the State. The legal aid covers part of the costs for the legal representative, but also costs relating to evidence and other expenditure.

Legal aid is the difference between the costs that arise for a legal representative and the legal aid fee which you must pay yourself. The basic idea is that the citizen should contribute to the cost to the extent afforded according to income. Legal aid can be received for a legal representative up to 100 hours. In very special cases the court can extend legal aid.

### Initiative

Recently an evaluation of the Legal Aid Act was made. One of the main questions in the evaluation was which effects the Legal Aid Act from 1997 had on the citizens. The result of the evaluation was that the legislation mainly had had the expected effects. In some areas suggestions for changes was made in order to achieve the main purpose of the legislation which is to give financial support to those who otherwise cannot afford to pursue a legitimate dispute. The suggestions are now under consideration at the Ministry of Justice.

### **1.3. Impairing by financing systems (insurance, public aid)**

## 1.3. Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, England and Wales, Germany, Latvia, Norway, Portugal and Spain

### Status

In most countries ordinary household insurances usually include legal expenses insurance in most civil cases. Persons with legal insurance may be insured to a maximum amount and for only one or more specific jurisdictions. The cover provided by legal protection is stated in the insurance policy or insurance conditions.

### 1.3. The Netherlands

### Status

Private insurance companies offer legal expenses insurance, covering legal assistance and legal advice in legal disputes and sometimes mediation. Usually persons with legal insurance are insured to a maximum amount and for one or more specific jurisdictions. The conditions - the legal issues (not) covered, the maximum amounts, etc - differ between the companies.

### 1.3. Slovakia

### Status

The cost reduction is possible through the so-called *legal expenses insurance*. There are institutions engaged in providing such services in Slovakia.

### 1.3. Sweden

### Initiative

Recently an evaluation of the Legal Aid Act was made. One of the questions in the evaluation was if the citizens' possession of insurances with legal protection had decreased. The result was that, on the opposite, more citizens possess the actual insurance.

## 2. Geographical Hindrances

### 2.1. Size of court districts

### 2.1. Austria

### Status

The size of the 141 Austrian district courts concerning the number of working judges varies from 0,50 to 44 judges (5 district courts less than 1 judge, 4 with one judge, 21 less than 2 judges, 41 less than 3 judges, 23 less than 4 judges, 7 less than 5 judges, 23 less than 10 judges, 8 less than 15 judges, 8 between 17 and 21,50 judges, one – the biggest district court with 44 judges) The size of the 20 regional courts varies from 11 to 72 judges.

### 2.1. Belgium

### Status

In the 27 judicial districts there is one court of first instance, one labour court and one commercial court. Within these 27 judicial districts are 227 justices of the peace located. With 10.3 million inhabitants and a total area of 35.500 km2, geographical access to the courts is not an obstacle.

### 2.1. Czech Republic

There are 86 district courts, in total 98 courts in the Czech Republic. Sizes of courts may vary.

### 2.1. Croatia

### Status

In Croatia there are around 70 Municipal and Misdemeanour courts and having in mind the size of Croatia and the number of inhabitants there are no geographical hindrances regarding geographical access to justice.

### 2.1. Denmark

### Initiative

As part of a larger reform launched in the middle of this decade and encompassing both municipalities, police districts and court district the number of court districts where by 1 January 2008 sized down from 82 to 24. Districts courts are the court of first instance in practically all cases In Greenland there are 18 court districts but discussions on reducing this number to 4 with the establishment of local offices. Considering the size of Greenland 4 districts will of course create very long distances for some inhabitants to the local court. The challenges in regard to access to justice do however not only lie within the distance but also within the problems of transportation in icy and mountainous areas. Some districts can only be reached by boat in the summer time and by helicopter or snow scooters during winter time. These hindrances are sought met by making the court travel to the local areas or by use of videoconferences (see below 2.4. Denmark).

### **Objective** and impact

The objective of the reform in Denmark was to create fewer and larger courts making it possible to conduct collegial court hearings (presiding 3 judges) in cases of a principal matter or of greater financial value.

The objective was further to improve the case flow by introducing effective case handling procedures which could easier be carried out in larger organisations. After a reduction of number of court districts each court district of course cover bigger areas and greater distances involving longer transportation for citizens going to court, but due to modern communication and relatively easy transportation because of the geographical characteristics of Denmark the greater distances was not seen as a major problem.

### 2.1. England and Wales

### Status

A factor in deciding on closures/relocation/amalgamation is travelling time. The aim is usually that access to these services should be possible within one hour travelling on public transport. There is justifiable exception to appeal courts and specialised tribunals being located in the capital. Other factors, which are less easy to resolve, include remote areas where there may be transport able to cover a route within one hour, but running infrequently and socially deprived areas where the expense of transport is unaffordable. This hindrance is less of a problem with tribunals where the cost of travel is, within reasonable limits, recoverable and domiciliary hearings are common in cases of a person with disability.

### 2.1. Finland

### Status

Finland is a big, but sparsely inhabited country. The distance from the southern point to northern point of the county is more than 1.200 kilometres. The population is 5.2 million people. There are 348 municipals in Finland, thus the average population in a municipal is about 15.000. As of the beginning of 2010 there are 27 Courts of First Instance and 6 Courts of Appeal. The First Instance Courts are only in the biggest towns. This means that the distances to a court are long for many people living in countryside, small towns or municipals. E.g. the nearest court for a citizen living in Utsjoki is the District Court of Lapland, situated in Rovaniemi, 453 kilometres south from Utsjoki.

### Initiative

We can not change the geography, thus we have to live with it. First solution to guarantee access to justice for people that lives a long way from a court are the secondary offices in smaller towns. Some of them are manned to be able to handle all kind of district court cases. Some of them are only part time manned premises for court hearings. For example the nearest secondary office to Utsjoki is situated in Sodankylä and there are premises for court hearings in Utsjoki, too. The second solution is that the court travels. For example the Court of Appeal of Rovaniemi hears more than 50 % of cases in Oulu that is the biggest town in the jurisdiction. In practise travelling means that the section of three judges and a clerk travels from the main office in Rovaniemi to a smaller town to hear a case. In some cases it takes only one day, in some cases the section spend more days on the way. The third solution is the use of electronic networks in mass procedures like undisputed debt collection cases, case filing, invitations to a hearing etc. During 2010 a totally electronic summary procedure for undisputed debt collection cases used via internet should be introduced.

### Objective and impact

According to article 21 of the Constitution of Finland everybody are entitled to have their case heard without undue delay in the competent court or authority. Geography is not a reason to ignore justice. It is merely a challenge.

### 2.1. Germany

Status

Because of the federal order of the Federal Republic of Germany, the court system is also structured federally. Jurisdiction is exercised by federal courts and by courts of the 16 federal states (*Länder*). The courts of the *Länder* are administered by the responsible ministries of the *Länder*. The ministries are also responsible for the size of court districts. Civil and criminal cases are heard before the courts of ordinary jurisdiction. As of 31 December 2008, these were:

- 665 local courts
- 116 regional courts
- 24 higher regional courts
- 1 federal court (Federal Court of Justice)

The size of the districts of the local, regional and higher regional courts vary.

### 2.1. Hungary

### Initiative

The legislature aims at enabling every citizen to have his affairs administered as near as possible to his residence. However, the jurisdictional interest of centralising the treatment of important cases may constitute an exception from this principle. In recent times it happens occasionally that 'the case goes to the judge' on the ground of a decision taken by the National Council of Justice, i.e. the treatment of a certain case is delegated from the court which should normally have territorial jurisdiction to another court (of a same level of jurisdiction) which is about 100-200 kilometres far away. Additional costs occurring in these cases are covered by the judiciary budget, because this administrative measure is of jurisdictional interest.

### 2.1. Italy

### Status

The Italian population is 60 million. The territory of Italy covers 301.338 km<sup>2</sup>. Italy's population density is 200,3 persons per square kilometer. The judicial district with the highest number of magistrates is the Court of Naples, whose personnel is made up of 1.040 judges and prosecutors. On the contrary the Court of Campobasso is the judicial district with the lowest number of magistrates, i.e. 66 magistrates (judges and prosecutors). The Italian territory is composed of 26 Court of Appeal districts; there are 165 ordinary Courts of first instance, evenly spread throughout the national territory. A need to act on legal districts and communes is in fact apparent, that is to say on the distribution of court houses across national territory. In this regard, it may be observed that courts with limited staff are dysfunctional, not being in a position to provide a prompt, quality response to the demand for justice. Indeed, the complexity of current legislation, as drawn up over the last twenty-years, necessarily requires specialised magistrates, even if for homogeneous subject areas. Therefore, judicial structures with reduced staff, where every judge is in charge of the different areas of law (civil, criminal, family, employment law and so on and so forth), even in this area appear inadequate to provide an efficient and prompt restorative justice.

### Initiative

The rationalization of the judicial geography is one of the issues recently examined by the High Council of the Judiciary; in this respect, in January 2010 the Council adopted a "delibera programmatica" sent to the Ministry of Justice, which stresses the need to revise the judicial geography. The introductory law of the High Council of the Judiciary, in fact, expressly provides that the Council may submit proposals to the Ministry of Justice to change the judicial districts, as well as on all the subjects concerning the organization and the functioning of the various legal services. In the course of the last few years the council has indeed on several occasions hoped for a reassessment of legal districts and communes, noting their inadequacy in terms of efficiency and being up to date in the exercise of jurisdiction. A proposal to reassess judicial geography has also recently been made by the Ministry of Economy and Finance.

### 2.1. Latvia

### Status

Judicial power in the Republic of Latvia is vested in district (city) courts, regional courts, the Supreme Court and the Constitutional Court. Civil cases, Criminal cases and Administrative cases are heard in 42 courts in Latvia, which are divided into a three levels – 35 district (city) courts, six regional courts and Supreme Court. By size courts are divided into small courts (if the court house is planned for maximum five judges); mid-court buildings (court for 6-10 judges) and large courts (planned for more than 11 judges).

28

Until 2009 January 1st there was only one district court, dealing with administrative cases in the first instance. With the purpose to ensure availability of the Administrative Regional courts since 2009, January 1st four structural units of Administrative district court were established.

### Initiative

In 2009 Ministry of Justice developed and government approved the Judiciary Development Guidelines 2009th - 2015th. According to this guidelines considering the change in the structure of the courts a court location and infrastructure development concept is planned in 2011. This concept will ensure the orderly, gradual and consistent improvement of judicial performance.

### 2.1. Lithuania

### Status

There are 56 district courts, where the major part of criminal, civil cases and cases of administrative offences are tried, also 5 regional courts, the Court of Appeal and Supreme Court of Lithuania. The complicated criminal and civil cases are heard by 5 regional courts as the courts of the first instance. The regional courts are also an appeal instance for decisions of district courts. There are district courts almost in all municipalities. There is also a separate system of administrative courts: 5 regional administrative courts and Supreme Administrative court of Lithuania. The utmost distance to district court is approximately 50 km and to regional court it is approximately 120 km.

### 2.1. The Netherlands

### Status

There are 19 so-called district courts and 41 subsidiary court locations providing a limited range of services in the Netherlands. The number of inhabitants in each district ranges from approximately 380,000 inhabitants to roughly 1.8 million and the average district size of a Dutch district court is a little over 860,000 inhabitants. As the Netherlands is a small country with a highly developed (public) transport infrastructure, distances and geographical access to the courts are not perceived as an obstacle.

### Initiative

There are plans to revise the judicial map of the Netherlands. According to these plans, the Judiciary will be organised into 10 larger district courts and the number of courts of appeal shall be reduced from five to four. Each of the 10 district courts will comprise a court board and a number of court locations. Furthermore, according to the Minister of Justice's most recent proposal, the number of court locations shall be reduced to 32 and the court boards shall be free to determine where the different types of cases shall be handled while ensuring high quality and accessible justice.

### Objective and impact

The objective of the revision of the judicial map is to enhance quality and continuity of the judiciary for the litigant. In order to maintain the expertise of judges a minimum number of cases within a court are required. A minimum number of judges in one sector are also considered necessary to work efficiently and to ensure sufficient continuity within the sector. In the future, it is expected that each court will have sufficient cases, personnel and means to continue delivering high quality.

### Organisational implication

- Ten districts compared to the current nineteen districts.
- The smallest region will comprise 920,000 inhabitants, the biggest 3,104,000.
- The new district courts will employ between 500 and 1040 full time equivalents (FTE). Eleven of the current courts employ less than 400 FTE, the smallest 150 FTE.
- The number of courts of appeal will be reduced to four instead of five.
- The new courts of appeal will employ between 230 and 330 FTE. The smallest court of appeal now employs approximately 110 FTE.

### 2.1. Norway

### Status

- a) Number of court districts: 66
- b) Size of the court districts measured in square meters: From 454 to 25.519 km2
- c) Number of inhabitant pr. court district: From 13.500 to 590.000
- d) Number of judges: 540 judges and 160 deputy judges

The structure of the district courts has in the last decade been reduced from 91 to 66 courts. Even if it might be possible to find the ideal size of a district court, the distances in Norway make it necessary to maintain a number of very small courts (see below 2.2. Norway).

2.1. Poland

### Status

The Ministry of Justice can swiftly shape geographical arrangement of courts in a way accessible for people and can quickly respond to changes in needs in this scope (e.g. in the case of an important change in volume of cases of a given category, submitted to the court). Possible problems related to the size of court districts and regions (which translate into the volume of submitted cases) may stem from the actually undertaken activities of a competent body.

The number of courts of common law in Poland are as follows: 11 courts of appeal, 45 regional and 320 district courts.

### Initiative

Within the district courts there used to be 175 magistrate divisions, including 28 non-local divisions and 44 magistrate civil divisions (2), criminal divisions (3) and land and mortgage divisions (39). Magistrate divisions were abolished by 1 January 2010. Parts of them were transformed into civil and criminal departments. The Council criticised the intention to abolish magistrate divisions. The Council underlined the importance of the distance between the court with relevant jurisdiction and the place of residence of citizens. In extreme cases it will cause unfavourable public transport connections.

The Council also criticised the project of transferring certain regional courts from the Warsaw appeal jurisdiction to the adjacent appeal jurisdictions (Łódź and Białystok ones). This shift in jurisdiction was aimed at facilitation of Warsaw appeal jurisdiction efficiency, recording year after year very high inflow of cases and – in general – has unfavourable statistical indicators at the national level. Despite criticism the Minister of Justice changed the jurisdiction of courts of appeal as of 1 August 2010. The results of the described changes are not known, as for now. Statistical information for the year 2010 is still to be prepared.

### 2.1. Portugal

### Status

The judicial courts of first instance are normally the District Courts. There are more than 200.

### Initiative

Since 2009 a big reform has been gradually implemented by the Ministry of Justice. Some district courts were condensed in three bigger ones with specialized competences.

### Objective and impact

One of the objectives of this reform is to rationalize physical and financial means. The main obstacle to develop this reform (which will carry on next September) is the financial one.

### 2.1. Romania

### Status

The number and territorial jurisdiction of first instance courts (district courts) is established through Government Decision and the Superior Council of Magistracy is consulted on such legislation before adoption. Some of the relevant criteria taken into consideration are: Number of the population in the region and size of the territorial district (geographically speaking). At present, 179 district courts are functioning out of the 188 district court set up by Government Decision. The territorial jurisdiction of the district courts is to cover at least one town and other inferior territorial units (commune) that are composed of one or more villages. Small district courts are identified as courts with a low workload. In the first semester of 2009 there were 17 district courts and their workload was of less than 1000 cases. Of course the low workload is most of the times - but not always related to the number of judges allocated to the district courts. Thus, at the beginning of 2010, the number of district courts with less than 10 judges effectively working there is of approximately 103 district courts out of which not all have a low workload. Also, regarding the courts with the smallest number of judges, for instance at the beginning of January 2010, at 4 district courts only one judge was working at each of these courts, while the number of district courts with 2 judges working there at the same period of reference was of approximately 11). Several attempts have been made to reduce the number of district courts with a low workload and for the future the number of district courts will be reconsidered.

### 2.1. Scotland

#### Status

Scotland is divided into six sheriffdoms which are in turn divided into sheriff court districts. The sheriffdoms are diverse. For example, the sheriffdom of Glasgow and Strathkelvin is almost entire-

32

ly urban in character and is served from one sheriff court in Glasgow. On the other hand, the sheriffdom of Grampian, Highland and Islands spans the whole of the north of Scotland include the Western Isles, Shetland, Orkney and the sparsely populated and mountainous highlands as well as taking in the conurbations of Inverness and Aberdeen. Issues of weather, transport infrastructure and reliability and low populations all hinder access to justice in such areas.

### Initiative

Access to justice in remote areas is maintained through an extensive network of local sheriff courts, some of which are staffed only occasionally. Local appeals are heard in the court where the case arises, thus minimising travelling for litigants. Following a Civil Courts Review in 2007-09, consideration is being given to how access to justice may be improved through technological developments such as holding hearings remotely.

### 2.1. Slovakia

### Status

Generally speaking, district courts are courts of the first instance (the exceptions determined by law). There are 55 district courts. The smallest District Court has 7 judges and the biggest one has 48 judges. The smallest of the regional courts has 30 judges and biggest of the regional courts has 102 judges. The Supreme Court has 97 judges. Courts are located throughout the country, and their location determines the availability of court for the citizens in terms of distance as well as the population density in the country, so as to ensure access to court for all participants.

In 2007 several "small courts" were established with around 7 judges, on the ground to ensure easier access for residents to the court, just in those areas where the access to court was difficult or where the unreasonable distance had to be overcome by the citizen. In 2009, the military courts were abolished. Military judges were not busy enough and were transferred to the existing structure of courts in the Slovak courts.

### 2.1. Spain

### Status

There are a large number of court districts throughout the whole country. In the whole of Spain there are 431 judicial districts, and in each judicial district there is at least one court with first in-

stance jurisdiction in civil and criminal matters (First Instance and Investigating Court), served by one single professional judge. The smallest judicial district in the country comprises ca. 30.000 inhabitants. Besides, there is one office of the Justice of the Peace with very narrow jurisdiction in civil and criminal matters and served by a lay judge in every municipality of the country (7.680 in total).

The district for the adjudication of serious criminal cases, for commercial, administrative and labour cases, as well as for civil cases and less serious criminal cases at the appellate level, is the province. There are 50 provinces in the country, and in the capital of each province there is at least one Criminal Court, one Youth Court, one Penitentiary Surveillance Court, one Labour Court, one Administrative Court and one Provincial Court (with jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases).

### Initiative

Given the high number of judicial districts in the whole country (431) there are some proposals by the Ministry of Justice in order to reduce the number by merging some of the less populated districts within the same province. However, the proposal is subject to discussion and has not been articulated in specific measures.

### 2.1. Sweden

### Status

Sweden is, as our neighbours Finland and Norway, a sparsely populated big country. The challenge is to find a balance between a reasonable distance for the citizen to the courts without running the risk of a vulnerable size and organization of the courts. Furthermore, the population density varies evidently from the regions in the south to the regions in the north. The south of Sweden is populated more like the continental part of Europe. There are 71 courts of first instance, of which 23 are administrative courts. After the 15 of February 2010 there will be 60 courts of first instance due to a reform within the administrative courts. There are 10 courts of appeal, which of 4 are administrative courts of appeal. The aim is to have courts situated where the population lives, in other words, in the larger cities.

### Initiative

Both courts of first instance and courts of appeal have to travel. Some courts of first instance have also an office in other cities within the court district. The offices of police, prosecutor, courts and the correctional system try to coordinate the resources to the same cities in order to make the activities more efficient.

### 2.2. Number of permanent or temporary court locations within the district

### 2.2. Austria

### Status

In addition to the courts named above (2.1. Austria) there are temporary court locations in 79 locations which were open on 2329 days in 2009, namely in the provinces Lower Austria, Upper Austria and Styria (because of the merging of district courts mainly in these 3 - of 9 - provinces of the Federal State of Austria in the past 10 years).

### 2.2. Belgium

*Status* Court locations are permanent.

### 2.2. Czech Republic

All the locations within the district are prermanent.

### 2.2. Denmark

### Status

The number of court districts is 24 (see above 2.1. Denmark). After the court reform only nine of the district courts covering a relatively great geographical area do have a branch office with a court room. Not all of these branch offices are permanently manned and not all types of cases are handled there. The two high courts do have court rooms in some of the local districts.

### 2.2. England and Wales

### Status

There are both courts and the tribunals which respond to social needs located in most centres of population. Magistrates' courts exist in most towns and where closures are proposed there is a wide

consultation and needs assessment. The trend has been to concentrate on the creation of combined court centres to house county courts and crown courts. Tribunals are housed in dedicated premises but also arrange temporary sittings in facilities available in more remote areas where there is a low demand.

### Initiative

Her Majesty's Court Service and Tribunal Service are now working to explore the potential for sharing their estates and thus the costs. Tribunals increasingly make use of court premises where extra sessions are required.

### 2.2. Finland

### Status

There are 27 District Courts (1st level) and about 30 secondary offices, 6 of which are manned to be able to handle almost all kind of district court cases. There also are 6 Courts of Appeal and the Supreme Court. Finally there are some special courts. The administrative court system is separate from the general courts. On secondary courts, court travels and electronic networks see above 2.1. Finland.

### 2.2. Germany

### Status

The court locations in the ordinary jurisdiction are in general permanent.

#### 2.2. Hungary

#### Status

There are 19 county courts and municipal courts (having the same jurisdiction as the county courts), 5 appellate courts and one Supreme Court. The number of judges in the county courts ranges from 1 to 83. Some county courts are significantly smaller and some local courts only have two or three judges working. In the last years the government wanted to close these courts due to financial reasons. The National Council of Justice managed to avoid this by proving that the workload of the judges at those small courts does not differ from the national average. The Council also argued that having regard to the Hungarian public transport conditions it would place important burden on citizens if they should be obliged to travel longer distances in order to manage their court actions.

#### 2.2. Latvia

#### Status

There are 35 district courts including the administrative courts, 6 regional courts including the regional administrative courts, and the Supreme Court. There are no plans on increasing the number of courts and all court locations are permanent.

#### 2.2. Lithuania

#### Status

There are district courts almost in all municipalities. Temporary courts cannot be established in Lithuania. However, if necessary, the court may take particular procedural actions not in the premises of the court.

#### 2.2. The Netherlands

# Status

There are currently 19 district courts, 41 subsidiary court locations and 5 courts of appeal.

#### Initiative

On 20 November 2009, the government approved plans for a new judicial map. According to these plans, the Judiciary will be organized into 11 larger regional units with one board each instead of

the 19 current districts. Each region will be constituted of one head location and eventual subsidiary court locations (see above 2.1. The Netherlands).

#### 2.2. Norway

#### Status

With only 12.5 persons/km2 in Norway it is a challenge to have courts not to far away from every citizen. The most extreme example is one court in Finnmark which serves an area of 25.519 km2 (85 percent of Belgium's total area) but only has 0.53 person / km2. It is a challenge to balance between a not to vulnerable professional environment and the distance for the citizens.

#### Initiative

In order to meet this challenge Norway has maintained some very small courts with only one ordinary judge and one judge trainee and two officers. Even then, a citizen can have more than 300 km to their district court.

#### 2.2. Poland

#### Initiative

Within the project "Facilitating access to the judiciary", co-financed by the European Union with funds of the European Social Funds, a chain of customer service points is created and developed at courts of common law. The aim of their creation is to enable professional and efficient service of court's customers. In the opinion of July 2010, the Council stated that also the intent to introduce the obligation of creation customer service offices, which actually are present in a part of them for years, deserves approbation, which is also the case as regards the obligation to design court buildings in such a way so that these offices be situated in traffic channels separated from the traffic channels within which court secretariats and judges' room are placed.

The said regulations have not come into force so far, however the chain of customer service points is developing. Obstacles in this scope stem first of all from financial capabilities of the judiciary.

#### 2.2. Romania

#### Status

The number of functioning court in Romania is as follows:

• 179 first instance courts (district courts)

- 41 tribunals (county courts)
- 4 specialized tribunals: (1 Family and Minors Tribunal and 3 Commercial Tribunals)
- 15 courts of appeal.

All these courts have permanent locations.

The courts of appeal cover, from a geographical pint of view the 15 regions of the country. Each county has a tribunal, located in the town, capital of that county. Of the 263 towns in Romania there is a first instance court in 179.

#### 2.2. Scotland

# Status

Court locations are permanent. Secondary legislation is required to alter jurisdictional boundaries etc.

#### Initiative

Consideration is being given to rationalisation of court locations within the heavily populated central belt of Scotland.

# 2.2. Spain

# Status

Court locations are normally permanent and not temporary, but in some provinces with big cities apart from the capital, the Criminal Court (with jurisdiction to adjudicate not serious criminal offences), the Labour Court, the Administrative Court and the Provincial Court may also have a permanent seat in some of these big cities. In the provinces which comprise more than one island (Balearic and Canary Islands) the Criminal Court and the Criminal Division of the Provincial Court may have a temporary seat in some of the minor islands of the province, which means that the judges of the court eventually have to travel to the minor islands in order to hear trials.

2.2. Sweden

# Status

Usually the general courts and the administrative courts reside in different court buildings. However, there are examples where they share buildings. 14 of 48 district courts visit another location on permanent basis. The county administrative courts use temporary court locations when travelling.

# 2.3. Facilitating transportation

#### 2.3. Czech Republic, Croatia, Denmark, Italy, Norway and Portugal

#### Status

Every party and witness is in many countries entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses (In Norway only in criminal cases, but expenses of transportation of witnesses or expert witnesses may be included in the costs of the case to be borne by one of the litigants depending on the court's decision).

## 2.3. Germany

#### Status

Transport to court buildings is not facilitated, with the exception of detained suspects in criminal cases. In Germany there is a well-functioning transport infrastructure, so transport can be arranged relatively easily by litigants themselves. Witnesses and experts as well as acquitted persons in criminal cases are entitled to the reimbursement of their travel expenses. In certain circumstances it is possible to obtain the compensation in advance. In civil cases these travel expenses are included in the costs of the case to be borne by one of the litigants depending on the court's decision.

# <u>2.3. Latvia</u>

Status

Parties are entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses in criminal and administrative procedures. In civil procedures the winning party are entitled to have all court costs, inter alia travel expenses, paid by the loosing party. Transportation to court buildings is not facilitated with the exception of suspects in criminal cases. Transportation can however with the infrastructure in Latvia be easily arranged by the parties themselves.

# 2.3. Lithuania

# Status

Witnesses, victims, experts, specialists and interpreters are entitled to reimbursement of the travel expenses to go to the place and back.

# 2.3. The Netherlands

#### Status

Transportation to court buildings is not facilitated, with the exception of suspects in criminal cases. As the Netherlands is a small country with a well-functioning transportation infrastructure, transportation is not expensive and can be arranged relatively easily by litigants themselves.

#### 2.3. Scotland

# Status

Witnesses, jurors and experts are entitled to reimbursement of expenses at set rates.

#### 2.3. Slovakia

#### Status

Transportation to the court is not provided with the exception of persons who – within the criminal proceedings are in prison or in custody, respectively.

#### 2.3. Sweden

#### Status

Only in exceptional cases the litigants can get reimbursement of travel expenses in the administrative courts or in civil cases. Witnesses and experts as well as acquitted persons in criminal cases are entitled to reimbursement of travel expenses. In certain circumstances it is possible to obtain the compensation in advance.

# 2.4. Video conferences

2.4. Austria, Croatia, England and Wales, Finland, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden

# Status

Many countries have in recent years taken initiative to employ videoconferencing.

The use of video conferences facilitates the geographical access to court not only for the parties but also for witnesses, experts, interpreters etc. Another aspect is that in many cases the court session can be held earlier when parties etc. are offered the possibility of video conference as an alternative to finding time to turn up in court. As a result, substantial time and cost saving arise because of the substantially shorter journey and the judges get a direct impression of the person. By avoiding legal assistance from other courts the duration of proceedings is shortened as well. Reduce costs and duration of proceedings.

In Spain, the examination of defendants in criminal trials by videoconference is however not allowed by the procedural rules.

In England and Wales video links in tribunals are also used in child support cases where there is some fear of aggression or violence if the estranged parents have to be in the same hearing room. Video links is also used in England and Wales to facilitate the giving of evidence by a child or vulnerable person.

In criminal courts video links are used in England and Wales, Finland and Norway to f.i. avoid having to physically remove the defendant from a remand prison. In Spain videoconference equipment is also available in all prisons of the country.

# 2.4. Belgium

# Initiative

Video conferences between a court of appeal and another location in the area of that court of appeal are tested and evaluated.

# 2.4. Czech Republic

# Status:

Nowadays, active use of the videoconference at the Ministry of Justice in cross-boarder cases.

# Initiative:

The use of videoconferencing will be promoted und supported according to the technical possibilities.

# 2.4. Denmark

# Initiative

In 2007-2008 the Danish Court Administration in four district courts carried out a pilot project with video conference in criminal cases and also on a voluntary basis in other type of cases when appropriate. The pilot project included other interested parties such as the prosecution, the police, the prison service, lawyers and defence lawyers. After positive evaluation, in November 2009 legislation came into force where after the judge in the specific case can decide on using video conference with or without consent from one or more parties.

Video conferences can also be used in Greenland although practical issues make the use limited.

#### Objective and impact

The use of video conferences may facilitate the geographical access to court not only for the parties but also for witnesses, experts, interpreters etc. Another aspect is the fact that in many cases the court session can be held earlier when parties etc. are offered the possibility of video conference as an alternative to finding time to turn up in court.

#### Organisational implication

Currently, the Danish Court Administration is working on purchasing technical equipment for the district courts in order to make video conferences a possibility in all district courts.

# Financial implication

It is estimated that a total technological upgrade of the courtrooms including video conference equipment, a/v technology and equipment for phonetic recording will cost DKK 127.5 mill (approximately 17 mill.  $\in$ ).

# 2.4. Germany

# Status

With the parties' agreement, the court may agree to one party being in a different place during the hearing in civil cases. The hearing is transmitted simultaneously visually and audibly in both directions. In criminal proceedings, too, image and sound transmission technology may be used when hearing witnesses under certain circumstances. A current bill provides for the extension of the use of video conferencing technology. For example, interpreters, experts or defendants are to be able to take part in the hearing by means of image and sound transmission.

# 2.4. Latvia

# <u>Status</u>

According to present legislation the use of the video conference facilities is possible only in the frames of the criminal proceedings.

# Initiative

To modernize the trial process parts of the courts in Latvia are already in 2011 being equipped with video conferences. The use of video conferences facilitates the geographical access and in many cases the court session can be held earlier. Another benefit is to avoid having to physically remove the defendant from detention. Currently the Court Administration is doing a survey on court rooms and detention places to improve telecommunications infrastructure and to prepare them to be equipped with videoconferencing equipment and sound recording equipment. In some proceedings judges already assign videoconferences. It is planned to set-up videoconference equipment in courts and prisons; (planned to equip all courts with sound recording systems (295 court rooms); equip and

install 81 videoconference equipment (58 stationary videoconference equipment for court, 16 stationary videoconference equipment for prisons, 7 mobile videoconference equipment).

# 2.4. Lithuania

# Status

Video conferences are not available during the hearing of the cases in courts. At the moment hearing of the cases by using the video conference equipment is only possible in the premises of the National Court Administration.

# 2.4. Romania

# Status

According to the provisions in force, witnesses can be heard through video conferences, securing data on their voice and image. This possibility exists for now, only in criminal cases and only in order to protect the identity of witnesses.

#### 2.4. Scotland

#### Status

These are not an established part of the civil litigation process in Scotland. It is possible for an accused in criminal proceedings to participate in procedural hearings by video link, thereby removing the need for travel from prison.

#### Initiative

As mentioned above as an initiative in 2.1. Scotland, this is being examined following a civil courts review.

#### 2.4. Slovakia

# Status

In Slovakia, videoconferencing can be used and is used in cases e.g. with protected witnesses in order to ensure there safety or if a person in custody or serving a sentence needs to be interogated. In general, an oral expression and immediacy of the hearing is preferred, and therefore the presence of persons at the hearing.

# 2.5. Telephone conferences

# 2.5. Austria, Czech Republic, Germany, Italy, Latvia, Scotland and Slovakia Status

Telephone conferences are neither available in Austria, Czech Republic, Germany, Italy, Latvia, Scotland nor Slovakia. In Scotland it is however being examined following a civil courts review, see above 2.1. Scotland. In Latvia the judge may however decide on using telephones for contacting said person while court seat if that is needed and important for the specific trial.

# 2.5. Denmark, Finland, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden

# Status

In many countries telephone conference can be used in the courts in civil cases as an alternative to short court sessions in the preparation phase. In Portugal it is however unusual and in Spain it is only possible in criminal cases.

In Finland, Norway and Sweden, it is permissible in criminal cases as well as in civil cases to have witnesses at the trial giving their testimony by telephone. It is not unusual that the hearings are held by telephone with persons who are not present at the meeting. This possibility is mostly used when the witness is to be heard a about a certain detail or technical facts. More "important" witnesses usually have to appear in person before the court.

Sweden has established a special authority that handless issues of international legal cooperation, known as the Central Authority. When the Swedish courts under Swedish law are allowed to hold telephone hearings they may by Swedish rules do so even when the person is abroad, if the other state permits it. It is therefore important to find out the other state's position. The Central Authority has for this purpose a website where courts can find information about which countries who allow this kind of hearings. If there is no information about a certain country the Central Authority can assist the courts to produce such information.

Concerning a foreign request for telephone hearing in Sweden, the Swedish position has long been that this is allowed and can not be regarded as a foreign practice of authority in this country. There-

fore, a foreign authority is allowed to hear a witness by telephone with someone in Sweden without any formalities and without interference by Swedish authorities, if the person agrees to be heard.

# 2.5. England and Wales

# Status

When a court/tribunal is engaged in dispute resolution it is usual to approach the parties (individually) by telephone.

# 2.6. Written testimonies

2.6. Denmark, England and Wales, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Scotland and Slovakia

# Status

It many countries it is possible to give a written testimony only by permission from the court. The court decides – upon hearing the other party – whether to allow written testimonies and it is up to the court to assess the probative value of such evidence.

# 2.6. Austria

# Status

Not available and no initiatives planned.

# 2.6. Czech Republic

# Status

Only oral testimonies in front of judicial bodies.

# 2.6. Germany

# Status

In civil cases, the court may order a witness to answer questions on the evidential issue in writing if that appears to be sufficient. It remains possible to question witnesses later at the hearing.

In criminal proceedings, written statements by witnesses may only be read out under strict conditions.

#### 2.6. Latvia

#### Status

Persons summoned to court must provide explanations and testimony orally in a court session. In criminal cases an accused may however submit his/her testimony in writing.

#### 2.6. Lithuania

#### Status

1. The testimony of the accused, a victim or a witness that was already given to the investigating judge or to the court may be read by voice. The testimony of the accused, a victim or a witness that was already given to the investigating officer or public prosecutor may be read by voice to verify evidences of the case.

If the questioning in court may shock or make any other serious consequences for the witness
under the age of eighteen years old, the witness should not be required to participate in the hearing
and the court can read out by voice the testimony of the witness given to the pre-trial judge before.
 In individual cases where the witness is subjected to the anonymity and the appearance of such
witness in court would pose a significant risk to witness, his/her family members or close relatives,
the witness may not be required to participate in the hearing and the court can read out by voice the
testimony of the witness given to the pre-trial judge before.

#### 2.6. Spain

#### Status

In principle, no written testimonies by witnesses or experts witnesses are allowed in civil or criminal proceedings, since evidence must be given orally before the adjudicating court or judge, so that all parties can cross-examine the witness or expert witness. However, the Codes of Civil and Criminal Procedure allow written evidence by expert witnesses when all the parties have waived their right to cross-examine the expert witness at trial. The Code of Civil Procedure currently in force also envisages oral testimony of witnesses given in their abode, if the witness cannot travel to the courthouse on the basis of his/her age, state or health or other personal circumstances and the court agrees to hear the testimony outside the courtroom. In criminal proceedings oral testimony of witnesses at trial can be replaced by the minutes of the examination of the witness in the pre-trial phase when this evidence has been preserved by the investigating judge with the participation of all involved parties, who are entitled to cross-examine the witness in the examination conducted in the pre-trial phase. This procedure is only admissible if there is a serious and consistent risk that the witness cannot attend the trial because of his/her elderly age, state of health, residence outside the country or other similar circumstances (cfr.8.3).

# 2.6. Sweden

#### Status

A statement made in writing by a person by reason of a pending or contemplated proceeding, or a record of statement that, by reason of such a proceeding, a person has rendered to a prosecutor or a police authority or else outside court, may be admitted as a proof only:

- If it is specifically authorized by law
- If an examination of the person who made the statement cannot be held at, or outside, the main hearing or otherwise before the court, or
- If there are special reasons with regard to the costs or inconvenience that an examination at, or outside, the main hearing can be assumed to imply, and also to what can be assumed to imply, and also to what can bee assumed to be attained by such an examination, the importance of the statement, and other circumstances.

Even in cases other than those mentioned may, however, in civil cases such written report or record of a story that referred to where the invoked as evidence in the proceeding, if the parties accept it, and it is not manifestly inappropriate.

# 3. Physical hindrances

# **3.1.** Location of courts (public transport, parking facilities, etc.)

# 3.1. Belgium, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Germany, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Scotland, Slovakia and Sweden

# Status

Court buildings are in most cases situated in the city centre and easily reached by public transportation. It can create parking problems, but in some cases it has been resolved by reserving parking places for the court users.

# 3.1. Denmark

# Status

Before the court reform almost all the courts were centrally located in the cities. Because of the court reform it has been necessary to find other and larger buildings for many of the courts. The major part of the courts is located in the city centres while others are located in the outskirts and in some cities in industrial areas where they can easily be reached by public transportation or highways.

# 3.1. Spain

# Status

Traditionally courthouses tend to be located in the centre of cities and towns, which means that there are normally public means of transportation and public parking facilities available.

# Initiative

In the last years a number of big judicial compounds or campuses (with several courthouses in order to host all the courts of the district) have been built in most of the major cities of the country. Normally, these big judicial compounds are located in the outskirts of the cities (and not in the city centres), but linked by public means of transportation and equipped with public parking facilities.

# **Objective and Impact**

The objective of building big judicial compounds or judicial campuses hosting all judicial facilities of the district is to increase the accessibility to courthouses, particularly by legal professionals or public in general, who would otherwise be forced to move among the different courthouses located in the same city. Accessibility to courthouses has increased as a result of this policy and the new judicial buildings and offices are fully furnished with IT equipment and modern facilities.

#### **3.2.** Opening days and hours in the courts

# 3.2. Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Slovakia

The courts are usually open during office hours on Monday to Friday. Office hours vary from 8.00 – 16.30, in that some open at 9.00 and some close at 15.00. In Latvia opening hours vary from 8.00 – 18.00. Opening hours mostly reflects the opening hours of other public institutions.

## 3.2. Austria

#### Status

In cases, where the engagement of an attorney is not obligatory, anyone can address the district courts of their residence or abidance for filing applications and making statements orally; for this purpose one half day of the week is reserved, usually each Tuesday from 8.00-12.00.

The office hours are generally assessed from 7.30-15.30 Monday to Friday. They can be limited by order of the judicial head of the district court to definite hours, at least 4 hours per day. Beyond these definite hours only the inspection of files, legalisations or applications in urgent cases can be undertaken.

#### Initiative

No concrete initiatives are planned. Nevertheless due to a serious incident end of last year in a district court in the course of which a civil servant was shot down and killed a reduction of the office hours is seriously discussed. By reason of lacking financial resources only in courts of a certain dimension security measures take place at the entry of the court's building: there is a check similar

51

# 3.2. Belgium

# Status

- The opening days and hours of the registries of all courts are fixed by one Royal Decree.

- The internal organisation of all courts (number of chambers, competence of these chambers, days and hours of the sessions) are for each court individually determined by royal decree.

#### 3.2. Croatia

# Status

Courts are open from Monday to Friday from 8.00 to 16.00. In family cases, domestic valance etc. particular judges are in duty 24 hours.

# 3.2. Lithuania

# Status

The opening hours of the courts are the same as the opening hours of the state institutions: Monday to Friday the courts are open from 8.00 to 17.00. Only judges on duty work weekends or after 17.00. These judges take just urgent procedural actions such as approval of conducting a search, arrest, etc. In some administrative courts, the work hours of the department accepting judicial documents are from 7.30 to 17.00 without breaks for working people could be able to arrive to the Court before work or during their break.

# 3.2. Norway

# Status

Until 2005 the courts in Norway had no equal practice in opening hours. Some court's opening hours were just a few hours in the middle of the day.

# Initiative

In 2005 the National Courts Administration decided that all courts shall be available to their users as a minimum from 8.30 until 15.00 from Monday to Friday.

#### 3.2. Poland

#### <u>Status</u>

Court secretariats serve customers at least during 6 hours in court operating hours and on Monday, until 6.00 p.m.

#### 3.2. Romania

#### Status

Working hours are usually between 8.00 - 16.00 from Monday to Friday (8 hours a day). The Registration Office and Archive Department of each court must be opened to the public for at minimum 4 hours a day. Court hearings start at 8.30 in the morning. They can – if imperative – be scheduled also in the afternoon. Public are allowed access to the court room 30 minutes before the opening of the hearings.

#### 3.2. Scotland

#### Status

Court opening hours and sitting times are tailored to meet demand. Some courts are open only on occasional days. Generally the courts in Scotland are open during normal business hours Monday to Friday, with sitting tending to take place between 10 am and 4 pm. Arrangements are in place for the disposal of emergency business outside these hours.

#### 3.2. Spain

#### Status

All courts are open five days a week (from Monday to Friday) during the morning and early afternoon (from 9.00. to 14.30). Additionally all courts are open 3 hours on Saturday (from 10.00 to 13.00), although no session is usually held on Saturdays. Criminal courts on duty are also open during the afternoon on weekdays (from 17.00 to 20.00), and during the whole morning (i.e. from 9.00 to 14.30) on Saturdays and Sundays. Furthermore, the investigating judge and prosecutor on duty in each judicial district can be reached at any time, in case some urgent investigative actions or measures have to be taken. Most courts of the civil, labour and administrative branches of the jurisdiction are not open in August, since it is the court holiday. However, criminal courts on duty remain open according to the general schedule during August.

#### Initiative

In order to grant security during opening hours of the courts in all major courthouses, permanent protection during opening hours has been established in the last years. Permanent protection is granted through police officers or private guards, and the cost is covered by the Ministry of Justice or the autonomous regions with competences in the field of justice. However, there is no permanent protection during opening hours in small courthouses located in towns and less populated judicial districts.

# **Objective and Impact**

The establishment of permanent protection in major courthouses during opening hours aimed at increasing the security of judicial facilities during opening hours and has allowed the enhancement of opening hours, particularly during the afternoon in criminal courts. No major incidents concerning security inside courthouses have been reported since permanent protection was established.

#### 3.2. Sweden

# Status

Courts are usually open Monday to Friday from 8.30 to 16.30. The opening hour may vary from 8.00-9.00. During summertime the Courts may close at 16.00.

#### Initiative

The Swedish court administration will during this spring start a discussion with the courts of longer opening hours and opening time during "lunch-time" in order to give citizens a better level of service.

#### 3.3. Access for disabled persons

3.3. Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, England and Wales, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Slovakia and Sweden

Status

Due to building regulations and demands placed upon public building to grant easy access to disabled persons courts are in all countries required to be barrier free and adapted for the disabled,

which in some countries create problems in regard to the older buildings. Initiatives have been taken to modernise the old buildings.

In England and Wales Tribunals often arrange hearings for people with disabilities in suitable premises which are close to them and even in their own homes.

# 3.3. Cyprus

#### Status

All court building are equipped with ramps and lifts.

#### 3.3. Czech Republic

# Status

The situation is continuously improving, due to the technical status of the buildings. The Judicial Guard is always helpful.

#### 3.3. Latvia

#### Status

At present not all of Latvian court buildings are arranged to ensure easy access for disabled persons and easy movement inside. According to the available data from the 47 court buildings (some courts are located in more than one building) in 29 buildings the persons with physical disabilities are not given the opportunity to enter the building and to move within without the assistance of others. In two courts the availability of infrastructure is ensured partly (there is an option to enter the building for the persons with physical disabilities; however there are no elevators or lifts to get to all of the floors of the building).

# Initiative

The problem is that most of the courts (40 courts) are located in rented buildings. To ensure effective access to the court buildings for disabled persons and to do the necessary rebuilding negotiations with the owners of the buildings are in process. Also other initiatives are taken to modernise the buildings.

# 3.3. Scotland

# Status

This depends on the age and condition of the court house concerned. But there is a need to comply with all relevant health and safety and disability discrimination legislation.

# Initiative

Parliament House, the home of the Supreme Courts of Scotland, is currently the subject of a substantial refurbishment programme which will include major improvements to access for disabled persons.

# 3.4. Hearing aid in court rooms

# 3.4. England and Wales, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Scotland, Spain and Sweden *Status*

Most court systems deal with disability issues and make particular provision hearing loops to which the wearers of hearing aids can "tune-in" to. When necessary, the court can also appoint signinterpreters in order to assist hearing impaired parties or witnesses during court proceedings. In Germany only the latter is possible.

# 3.4. Croatia

# Initiative

At the beginning of this year special aid for witnesses has been established in larger courts. The system is at the moment working as a pilot program but it is anticipated that the system will be established in all Croatian courts. Large media campaign is now in progress.

# 3.4. Czech Republic

# Status

All hearings are being recorded. People with specific disabilities are entitled to use an interpreter.

#### 3.4. Latvia

# Status

It is in all courts possible to use dictaphones and one court hall is equipped with audio devices with headphones for providing translations etc.

# Initiative

In the frames of the Latvian-Swiss co-operation program project "Court modernization in Latvia" Court Administrations implement setting-up audio recording equipment in all court rooms.

# 3.4. Lithuania

# Status

Hearing aid is not available in the premises of the court.

# Initiative

The draft law is being prepared according to which audio records in computer media will replace written protocols of court hearings in courts.

# 3.4. Norway

# Initiative

Speakers in court rooms and hearing loop systems are the goal for all courts.

# 3.4. Slovakia

Status

For deaf people a slide projector is used, which allows full participation of the deaf in the hearing.

# 4. Technological Hindrances

# 4.1. Electronic in- and outgoing communication (fax, e-mail, electronic signature)

# 4.1. Croatia, Hungary and Portugal

# Status

All means of communication is possible but communication by f.i. e-mail is not regarded as official and thus has to be followed by hard copy or fax.

# 4.1. Austria

# Status

The electronic data filing (or electronic legal communication) is an electronic communication between courts and lawyers and is compulsory for most type of civil claims where the cause of action is an amount of money. Electronic legal communication with the courts as an instrument of communication with the parties of proceedings, on the same level as paper, was already introduced in 1990. It appears that no other country is known to have introduced electronic communication earlier. Electronic communication in legal relations allows electronic transmission of applications or submissions and the automatic transfer of procedural data to the Automation of Court Procedures. Since 1999 the "oncoming lane" on the "data highway of the administration of justice" has been opened: electronic service of court documents is also possible now by the so-called "return traffic stream".

# Initiative

Implementation of a cross-border legal communication between Austria and Germany (a project granted by the European Union).

#### 4.1. Belgium

# Status

Modern means of communication (fax, e-mail, etc) are available in all courts.

#### Initiative

A huge project ("Phoenix") to digitize communication within and between courts and with their environment was stopped in 2007. Smaller projects were set up.

#### 4.1. Cyprus

# Status

All papers need to be physically presented at the Registrar at the court in order to be filed.

#### 4.1. Czech Republic

#### Status

All of these remedies are frequently used in some preparatory stages of trials.

# 4.1. Denmark

# Status

It is today possible to communicate using secure and non-secure e-mails with the courts but official legal material and documents also have to be supplied in signed paper versions.

# Initiatives

The Danish Administration of Justice Act has been amended to prepare the way for the use of digital communication in general and e-mail in particular in court proceedings. The new rules have not yet entered into force.

In 2009 the land register was centralized and fully digitalized and automated to a certain extend. All users, professionals as well as non professionals, handle registration of property digitally via an online portal or a system-to-system interface. The handling of a wide range of regular cases is fully automated enabling a substantial reduction in case processing times.

# Objective and impact

Using digital communication will make communication with the courts easier and faster for professionals as well as non professionals. However, it is important that the digital communication takes place in a secure way and that the courts are able to handle the digital documents adequately.

# Financial implication

As the digital communication will become a part of a general modernisation of the courts' case handling systems it is not possible to estimate the costs.

#### 4.1. England and Wales

#### Status

Money claims can be initiated by individuals in the county courts on-line and with payments by credit card. The application may be launched from Her Majesty's Court Service's website which also provides access for monitoring the progress of the case. Only some tribunals, e.g. employment, are accessible in this way and there does not have to be an arrangement for payment of fees. The problem with others is that rules require the appeal to be lodged with the respondent and the practical involvement of the tribunal does not begin until it is passed across.

# Initiative

Both groups have achieved savings of cost and improvements in efficiency by the operating case management systems and electronically generated forms, messaging and electronic access to sources of information. Very recently the technology installed in the newly opened Supreme Court has been hailed as a success. Incompatibility between different systems is an obstacle to the integration of estates and administrative services between courts and tribunals. Although affordability is a potential obstacle the Ministry of Justice has shown willingness to find extra money where the expenditure is likely to produce long-term savings and improvements in efficiency. The Ministry of Justice's current "IT Transformation Programme" is joining up three separate departments and looking forward to joining up with the rest of the criminal justice system

#### 4.1. Finland

#### Status

All courts are equipped with modern fax- and e-mail connections. There are also computers at the court rooms and the case handling (protocols, judgments) is made by the computer. From the March 2010 the lawyers giving legal aid shall be obliged to send their applications for the legal aid to a legal aid authority as well as their bills to a court via the protected electronic service in the internet. It is also possible to send the application for a summons as well as the further documents to a court by e-mail. During 2010 also a totally electronic summary procedure for undisputed debt collection cases used via internet (and paid by credit card) should be introduced.

60

#### Initiative

There is a Bill in the parliament for an Act on Judicial Authorities' Nation Wide Data System, which gives a legal framework for further information services for parties, debt collection agencies and the media. So far it is not possible for a litigant or media to follow a specific case electronically and it still takes some years before the technique is on tap.

#### 4.1. Germany

#### Status

For some time, documents submitted to the court by telefax have been recognised as having been received by the deadline. Under the Code of Civil Procedure it is also possible to submit documents electronically. In this case, documents which content a certain request are required to bear a qualified electronic signature. Transcripts and copies of the judgement may also be sent as electronic documents. They are to bear a qualified electronic signature of the clerk of the court. The original of the judgement still has to be available as a hard copy.

Criminal courts are also equipped with modern communications technology. Documents may be transmitted using modern communications and such documents are legally binding.

#### 4.1. Italy

#### Status

General information on the judicial system, on the judiciary's self-government system, on the main regulatory sources and on the judgments passed by the European Court of human rights can be obtained from the following websites: www.giustizia.it and <u>www.csm.it</u>.

# Initiative A

By Presidential Decree of 2001 the basis for the start of online trials (e-justice) in Italy was laid. It includes provisions on lawyers' email addresses, on use of telematic notifications and on procedures for certifying digital signatures. E-justice proceedings in fact entail the signing, transmission and receipt of electronic documents. It has further by law been established that notifications, within the scope of civil proceedings, be as a rule undertaken electronically to the email addresses indicated pursuant to the aforementioned decree. Where the telematic process has already been implemented, various forms of access to the electronic file are provided for, with the necessary security guarantee.

# **Objective and impact**

The positive effect of telematic notification appears twofold: On the one hand, the bureaucratic red tape associated with the completion of notifications that burdens Court registries and prosecutor's office secretariats are eliminated; on the other, the overall duration of proceedings is reduced, given that in practice it is notification errors that prevent prompt determination of the proceedings, oblig-ing the judge to order time-consuming deferrals of the disposal of the case.

# Initiative B

A notable development is expected in e-trials for 2009. The Minister of Justice expects 14 Italian courts to use the software expressly developed for paperless proceedings for the first quarter of the current year, and to facilitate the conversion of paper documents into digital formats. The Ministry plans to develop the Information management system for individual and insolvency proceedings enforcement (Siecic) making procedural documents available online and making electronic registration of documents possible as well as notification via certified email.

The Parties may request a copy of the documents and minutes in electronic format, as opposed to paper format.

#### 4.1. Latvia

#### Status

Modern means of communication (fax, e-mail, electronic signatures) are available in all courts.

#### Initiative

It is planned to strengthen the capacity of judiciary and improve the quality of it by introducing new technologies in court proceedings and court management.

In the aspect of access to the judiciary the following improvements are planned:

- Option for visitors of the court to use information booth to gain information on court proceedings. In general 60 information booth and modern unified information boards will be installed in the courts;
- 2. Availability of court electronic services for persons;

62

3. It is also planned to develop electronic forms for claims and documents for court proceedings. Generally it is foreseen to post around 40 forms for claims and documents for court proceedings in the official court web-page.

Introducing new technologies in court proceedings will simplify the way persons can communicate with courts. Using new technologies in court management will also increase efficiency of court personnel, improve effectiveness of court procedures and access to the judiciary.

# 4.1. Lithuania

# Status

Internet, fax and telephones are available in all courts.

# Initiative

At present, there have been amendments to the Code of Civil Procedure and the Law on Administrative Procedure according to which trivial claims shall be submitted to the Court and settles in courts by means of electronic technologies. Furthermore, persons, lawyers and State institutions shall be able to subject documents to the Court by electronic means in other cases, too. It shall be possible to send documents to the Parties of a process by electronic means upon the consent of such Parties to receive documents this way. This will reduce the need to arrive to the Court personally.

# 4.1. The Netherlands

# Status

Although contracts signed electronically are considered legally effective, it is not yet possible to submit procedural documents to the court with an electronic signature. The Judiciary is currently working on the removal of obstacles to enable parties to submit procedural documents digitally in the future.

# Initiative

In 2010, the following initiatives are planned with a view to improving electronic ingoing and outgoing communication:

- Digital delivery of undisputed money claims.
- The development of the central intake of aliens' cases (the delivery of new cases by lawyers is now done digitally).

#### 4.1. Norway

#### Status

Fax and e-mail are used, however not for court case documents. Electronic public services and electronic documents will be developed in the dialogue with user organisations. Digitalisation needs to include eSignatur by introduction of electronic consideration.

#### 4.1. Poland

#### Initiative

For a couple of years, the so-called New Land and Mortgage Register programme has been consistently implemented. New registers are created in electronic form, and the old ones (in paper form) are subjected to the process of migration and transformation into the electronic form. Since June 2010 it has been possible to review the registers on-line with a browser available at the webpage of the Ministry of Justice and at the National Court Register.

In July 2010 new regulation made it possible to draft the minutes of court sessions by registration of with the use of sound or sound and image recording device. If due to technical reasons recording of the session by way of the a/m device is impossible, the minutes are drafted in writing only. It is assumed, that – provided that financial conditions will be realised – the project shall be implemented by the end of 2012. In the majority of courts the traditional paper minutes are thus still used.

#### 4.1. Romania

#### Initiative

The provisions of the draft Codes for Civil and Criminal Procedure introduce measures to increase the efficiency of the citation procedure and communication of all procedural acts and documents and therefore for the elimination of these kind of hindrances to the access of justice. Thus, both in civil and in criminal matters, the citation and communication of the procedural acts can be done through modern means of communication (telefax, email, etc.) if this kind of information is available to the courts and confirmation of receipt can be produced by the receiver. Furthermore, in civil cases, if parties are assisted by lawyers, their requests and other documents can be circulated among the lawyers directly, which facilitates the speedy progress of judicial proceedings.

# Organisational impact

From an organizational point of view, the new provisions introduced are more flexible, lifting some heavy burdens from the court clerks and contributing to reducing the costs for communication and citation procedures.

# 4.1. Scotland

# Status

Formal court filing is, with one exception, still required to be in paper form. That exception is a system of enrolling court motions by e-mail which exists in Scotland's supreme civil court. All courts have modern communication technology and so informal communications may occur by e-mail, fax or telephone as appropriate.

#### Initiative

Increased use of electronic communications is being examined following Scotland's recent civil courts review.

## 4.1. Slovakia

# Status

Modern methods of communication are used (fax, emails are available at all courts). Following the introduction of electronic communication via e-mail this becomes more widespread. Its use is left to the initiatives of participants. In specific areas such as Register of Companies and related proceed-ings the participants use an electronic signature and the state encourages the parties to its use through the 50% discount on legal fees.

#### 4.1. Spain

# Status

All courts in the country (with the sole exception of some minor offices of the Justice of the Peace) are furnished with IT equipment and electronic means of communications such as e-mail, fax and telephone. All professional judges in the country have been furnished with electronic signature, although most of them are not completely familiar with this instrument and do not tend to make use of it.

#### Initiative

In some of the courts of the country (for instance, the National Court with seat in Madrid) pilot programmes of electronic court files (i.e. avoiding the use of paper files) and electronic service of documents to advocates and court representatives have been launched in the last years, although they are not fully operative in the whole country for the moment. Recently, the General Council of the Judiciary, together with the Ministry of Justice and other competent administrations, has launched the so-called "Judicial Neutral Network", a programme which secures interconnection between IT systems used by the judiciary and data bases of other administrations that can be useful for judicial purposes (Social Security, Public Registries, Bar Council and Court Representatives Associations, General Prosecutor's Office, Judicial Libraries, etc.), in order to grant access to the data and information by judicial authorities.

#### **Objective and Impact**

The objective of the establishment of the "Judicial Neutral Network" is to facilitate access to data and information necessary or useful in the context of ongoing judicial proceedings avoiding complex and cumbersome procedures to obtain the information. The programme has succeeded in as far as it has substantially facilitated and speeded up access to relevant on-line information by judicial authorities.

#### 4.1. Sweden

# Status

It is possible to communicate with the courts by using e-mails or fax. A document is regarded official if it is held by a public authority and, according to special rules, is considered to have been received or drawn up there. Certain legal documents have to be supplied in original signed paper versions. An application for a summons must be signed in the applicant's own hand. If it is not - for example, if it has been sent by fax or email - the court will ask for an original signed document to confirm it. If no confirmation is received, the application will be rejected. Today it is not possible to use electronic signature in the communication with the courts.

#### Initiative

To strengthen the development of eGovernment and create good opportunities for interagency coordination, a delegation for eGovernment has been established. The Delegation will coordinate the central government administration's IT standardization work on eGovernment. The Delegation's purpose is to ensure that method and expert support on IT standardization issues is provided in central government administration, even with regard to concept standards. Coordination of IT standardization efforts is to promote the use of open standards. An important task for the Delegation is to facilitate the use of electronic signature. The eGovernment Delegation has recently submitted proposals for a strategy for the government agencies work on eGovernment. In this context it is also important to mention the "RIF-project". RIF is collaboration between the judicial authorities launched a decade ago. The cooperation aims to develop electronic information between authorities. The idea is to standardize common concepts and develop IT-based business support that can exchange information electronically. This enables the reuse of information throughout the process, and facilitates tracing of actions related to a specific case. The goal is to create an electronic flow of information leading to a more efficient administration of criminal offences, from the notification to the enforcement of a judgment.

# **Objective** and impact

Public services must be continually developed to meet new needs and expectations. Using digital communication will make communication with the courts easier and faster. Furthermore, an electronic flow of information allows existing resources to be used in a more efficient way.

#### **4.2.** Access to information – (internet, pamphlets)

# 4.2. Austria

# Status

On the website of the Austrian Justice <u>www.justiz.gv.at</u> there is a drop down menu "Recht zum Bürger" ("Bringing the law to the citizens") which provides interactive information on legal subjects of general interest in a visual and acoustic format. Phone numbers and addresses of the courts are listed in the court database on the website of the Austrian Justice <u>www.justiz.gv.at</u>.

The Website of the Austrian Justice provides forms to fill in directly or to print and then to fill out, e.g. application form for legal aid, form for payment claims, application form for enforcement.

# 4.2. Belgium

# Status

Many courts have their own websites. Basic information to the public is available on the website of the ministry of justice (<u>www.just.fgov.be</u>) or in booklet form: 8 to 12 pages (ex. What to do if you are a victim? How to get access to legal assistance? Etc.).

# 4.2. Croatia

# Status

Courts in Croatia have their own web sites with all relevant information for court users.

# 4.2. Czech Republic

#### Status

The Ministry of justice runs the web portals InfoSoud and InfoJednání, where can any participant of a court proceeding find relevant information after entering the name of the court and the reference number of his case.

# 4.2. Denmark

# Status

Each court has a web page containing general information and guidance. The Danish Courts as such also has a web page (<u>www.domstol.dk</u>) which contains information on the judicial system in general and a wide range of information texts on specific types of cases. These texts are named "How to Do it".

# 4.2. England and Wales

#### Status

The Ministry of Justice, Her Majesty's Court Service and the Tribunal Service each have websites which provide information and guidance. The main website address is: <u>www.hmcourts-</u><u>service.gov.uk</u>

# 4.2. Finland

Status

Many courts have their own websites. Basic information to the public is available on the website www.oikeus.fi. Legislation, case-law, international treaties and the government bills are available (also in English) on the website <u>www.finlex.fi</u>.

#### 4.2. Germany

# Status

Many courts have their own websites. Basic information to the public is available on the Ministry of Justice website (<u>www.bmj.de</u>), on the websites of the ministries of the *Länder*, or on the justice portal of the Federation and the *Länder* (www.justiz.de).

#### 4.2. Hungary

#### Status

The National Council of Justice developed years ago the website <u>www.birosag.hu</u>, where the most important information can be read in English and German. Many of the courts also have their own website. The final decision of the Supreme Court or the appellate courts is available in anonymous form.

#### 4.2. Latvia

#### Status

All courts of general jurisdictions have common official webpage <u>www.tiesas.lv</u>. Here the users will find information on courts (location, working hours), judges (contacts), judiciary (links to all related web-pages etc), information about self-governed institutions (Judicial Ethics Commission, Latvian Association of Judges), ongoing projects and statistical information, as well as information concerning legal proceedings and legal aid, published case law, current events in the judiciary and other options. Supreme Court and Constitutional Court have their own web-pages. The webpage of Court Administration as well as the website of the Ministry of Justice also provide detailed information on different aspects of Latvian judicial and legal system. Pamphlets and leaflets on important aspects of the judicial system of the country are normally available in all courthouses of the country.

# Initiative

As part of the plan to strengthen the capacity of judiciary and improve the quality of it by introducing new technologies in court proceedings and court management (see above 4.1. Latvia) it is also planned to make it possible for visitors of the court to use information booth to gain information on court proceedings. In general 60 information booth and modern unified information boards will be installed in the courts. It is also planned to make court services available electronically.

# 4.2. Lithuania

# Status

There is access to information about courts on the website of the Judicial Council or the websites of the bigger courts (www.lat.lt, www.lvat.lt, www.apeliacinis.lt, www.vaateismas.lt, www.kaat.lt, www.kaat.lt, www.kaat.lt, www.saat.lt, www.vaateismas.lt, www.pat.lt, www.vaateismas.lt, www.vaateismas.lt, www.vaateismas.lt, www.vilniaus1.teismas.lt, www.vilniaus2.teismas.lt, www.vilniaus3.teismas.lt, www.svencioniuteismas.is.lt). Websites of separate courts also give information about the courts schedules and the litigants can find out the results of the cases which have already been heard. Impersonal decisions reached by the Supreme Court of Lithuania and courts of the appellate instance are announced on the internet.

#### 4.2. The Netherlands

# Status

A number of brochures have been developed for the general public containing general information on the judiciary system and various topics such as the complaints procedure, different case procedures, court fees and the option of mediation in different types of cases. The Judiciary's website <u>www.rechtspraak.nl</u> also contains information on these topics.

#### Initiative

Recently, the following initiatives were successfully developed to improve digital access:

- The development of a digital commercial case calendar for law firms (via the internet, employees of law firms can now consult the updated commercial case calendar at any time they wish, free of charge).
- The development of the central insolvency register (which enables each citizen to check whether a bankruptcy or suspension of payments has been pronounced on companies or individuals).

• The development of a website specifically aimed at litigants without professional representation (<u>http://www.naardekantonrechter.nl</u>), which takes the information needs of both plaintiffs and defendants as its point of departure and offers information on issues such as 'how to prepare for trial', 'how to conduct written defence' and 'where to find legal aid' and also offers writing help for drafting a letter to the judge.

In 2010, the following initiatives are planned with a view to improve digital access:

- Consolidation and extension of the digital family law case calendar.
- Consolidation and digital access to the custody register (the information on custody is now stored at each court in the so-called custody register of minors and may be requested on the basis of a written request).
- Joint opening up of insolvency registers (in 2010, the European e-Justice portal will be
  opened up and the cross-border opening of insolvency registers will be implemented in the
  event of sufficient participation of the Member States. For the Netherlands, this means that
  some technical adjustments should be made to the current insolvency register and a web service in the national register should be achieved).

# 4.2. Norway

# Status

The website of the National Court Administration, <u>www.domstol.no</u>. (also some information in English), gives general information about the courts, legal information and schemes. On the site are also links to different national and international information about judicial decisions. Most courts have their own local website with links to domstol.no.

4.2. Portugal

# Status

All courts have own local website with links to www.domstol.no

Main courts have their websites with access to judicial decisions, information about their schedules and parties can find out the result of their cases.Besides that, there are several websites with all kind of information:

http://www.citius.mj.pt (courts online) http://www.dgsi.pt (legal and documentary databases) http://www.dre.pt (legal)

# 4.2. Romania

# Initiative A

A project was launched by the Superior council of Magistracy in cooperation with the Vrancea Tribunal in order to publish on the website <u>www.jurisprudenta.org</u> the full texts of all judicial decisions rendered by the Romanian courts. The project is expected completed by the end of 2010.

# Objective and impact:

- to increase the transparency of the judicial system and ensure free and full access
- to increase the responsibility of the judiciary, unification of jurisprudence and predictability of court decisions

# Organizational impact

A team was made of relevant personnel within the Superior Council of Magistracy. The selection of judicial decisions, extraction of copies from the data base, elimination of personal data and publishing is done automatically. The Superior Council of Magistracy provides the budget for the project, the legislative framework, the hardware and software infrastructures, the development and exploitation of the website and the promotion and visibility of the project. The Vrancea Tribunal provides the development, exploitation and multiplication of the software application to ensure the anonymity of the personal data.

### Initiative B

Starting with the year 2000, the Ministry of Justice and the courts have developed the *courts' portal* – <u>http://portal.just.ro/</u> which grants access to information regarding the status of all cases at all courts (with the exception of the High Court of Cassation and Justice). On the internet page of every court, there is a section for *Cases' Records* through which online access is granted to all cases on the docket of the court.

Searching a case by its number will reveal the names and quality of the parties, date of registration, object of the case (divorce), subject matter of the case (family and minors case) procedural stage (first instance, appeal, second appeal, etc.), progress in the case - number and dates of court sessions, minutes of each court session, verdict of the court. More general information on the calendar of court sessions, list of cases for a certain session, relevant jurisprudence of the courts of appeal on various types of cases is also available on the website of all courts, including district courts.

#### 4.2. Scotland

### Status

All court forms, the court rules and an array of guidance is available on a dedicated website provided by the Scottish Court Service (www.scotcourts.gov.uk). Information about the judiciary is available on a separate website (www.scotland-judiciary.org.uk).

#### 4.2. Spain

#### Status

The official web sites of the General Council for the Judiciary – <u>www.poderjudicial.es</u> – the General Prosecutor's Office, the Constitutional Court, the Ministry of Justice and the autonomous regions with competences in the field of justice, provide detailed information on different aspects of the Spanish judicial and legal system, including case law of the Supreme and Constitutional Courts and other appellate courts of the country, the Spanish judicial organization and the addresses or contact details of all the courts in the country. However, no information regarding particular pending cases or proceedings is available in those web sites. Paper pamphlets and leaflets on some of the most important aspects of the judicial system of the country (such as legal aid schemes, protection of victims of crime, protection of victims of domestic or gender violence, etc.) are normally available in all courthouses of the country.

### 4.2. Slovakia

### Status

Access to information is ensured also through publicly accessible websites, where anyone interested can find the following information in civil proceedings: Date, time, courtroom, type of proceeding, department, file identification number and subject matter.

And the following in criminal proceedings: Date, time, courtroom, department, file identification number, judges, defendants, subject matter and type of hearing.

Through the publicly accessible websites anyone intrested can find out several data on the functioning of the courts, on court fees, on submitting complaints etc. The Ministry of Justice also prepared a portal for electronic submission of lawsuits. Directly from the portal one can download a structured form, which has a firm template, is standardized and is to be filled in. The form accurately navigates the applicant among the items to be completed. The completed form can be sent unsigned or signed by a qualified electronic signature using a qualified certificate. In case of sending the form without the qualified electronic signature the plaintiff is required to supplement the sent complaint in paper form.

#### 4.2. Sweden

## Status

The Swedish courts have a well-developed website (<u>www.domstol.se</u>) which contains information about the judicial system in general and specific information about many different types of cases. On the website there are links to guiding decisions from the superior courts in anonymous form. Anyone who wants can seek for cases in every subject he is interested in. Many of the courts also have their own website. Pamphlets and leaflets on the most important aspects of the judicial system of the country are normally available in all courthouses of the country. In order to facilitate transparency there is a so called media group. The media group is composed of judges, who are specifically committed to be available to media contacts.

# 5. Psychological Hindrances

(The impression of being heard and having justice rendered)

# 5.1. Attire and arranging of court rooms

## 5.1. Croatia

Status

Judges must act in accordance with the Procedural laws and Code of Ethic.

# 5.1. Czech Republic

## Status

Judges are obliged to wear the attire and the court rooms look uniformly.

# 5.1. Denmark

## Initiative

In 2009 new rules concerning the appearance of the judges in court sessions were enacted by the Danish Parliament. According to these rules the judges are not allowed to appear in the court sessions in a way that might be understood as an expression of religious or political affiliations. Furthermore not only the judges in the high courts and Supreme Court but also the judges in the district courts must wear a gown during the trial but not during other types of court sessions as for example preliminary hearings. The demand to wear gowns has not yet entered into force.

# 5.1. England and Wales

# Status

The formality of wearing wigs and gowns is not followed in the magistrates' courts and family courts and proceedings in the latter are often conducted with the participants remaining seated. The wearing of wigs ceased to be required in civil proceedings nearly 2 years ago and the judges wear a simple form of gown distinguishing rank by the colour of the collar facings. The practice of wearing wigs continues in criminal courts, not simply by tradition, but in recognition of the dignity it provides to the proceedings and the "uniform" tending to provide some degree of anonymity to the judges and advocates. Such items of dress are usually removed when dealing with children and vulnerable persons. Informality lies at the core of tribunal proceedings and this reduces the psychologi-

cal barriers as far as it may be possible to do so. The proceedings before tribunals are nevertheless "legal proceedings" and the judge will control the proceedings with a relatively light touch and maintain orderliness.

## 5.1. Germany

### Status

In general judges, public prosecutors, clerks and advocates wear gowns during proceedings. The appearance of courtrooms varies. Particularly in older courtrooms, the seats of the judges and public prosecutors are raised.

## 5.1. Latvia

### Status

The symbols of judicial power are amongst others the robes and the insignia of office. Judges are thus attired in robes and wear the insignia of the office. All courts have a seal bearing the Great State Coat of Arms and the name of the court.

### 5.1. Lithuania

## Status

All judges have special clothes (mantles) and signs.

Court hearing halls are similar in all courts: There is the State blazon and the banner in the hall, the judge table is slightly lifted up and there are desks for case parties. Halls of criminal case hearings are equipped with barriers for persons who committed violent crimes. Defendants under arrest are delivered to the court premises through a separate door, special rooms are installed for them. A part of courts have already got separate rooms for child interrogation installed. Generally, witnesses are questioned in the presence of parties involved in a particular case. In criminal cases witnesses are sometimes classified and procedure of concealing their identities is used. Before testimony, witnesses make an oath.

### 5.1. The Netherlands

Although the use of black gowns and white bands is mandatory for all legal professionals (i.e. judges, clerks, public prosecutors and professional lawyers) in all cases, and despite the fact that judge(s) nearly always sit(s) on an elevation, the attitude of judges during hearings is relatively informal. There is no contempt of court ruling. Of all procedures, the criminal procedure may be considered the most formal. The courtroom in criminal cases is arranged according to the inquisitorial model. From the perspective of the public, the public prosecutor stands to the left of the judge(s), slightly higher than the suspect and his eventual legal representative, but at the same level as the judge(s). The public prosecutor's desk is separated from that of the judges. In civil and administrative cases, the judge(s) sit(s) on a small elevation and parties sit next to each other at separate desks before the judge(s).

## 5.1. Norway

### Status

Judges in all courts are obliged to use a black judge gown during all main hearings.

### 5.1. Portugal

### Status

All the Judicial operators, when in the courtroom (judge, lawyer, bailiff) use specific attire. In courtrooms, sometimes the judge stays in a higher place.

### 5.1. Romania

#### Initiative

At the Braşov Family and Minors Tribunal, special rooms have been designed for hearing children. These are designed to be very attractive for children and to create a comfortable atmosphere when being heard by the judge. In divorce cases, or in cases related to custody, for instance, children of at least 10 years of age are heard by the judges, without the presence of the parents or their lawyers. That is why it is important for the child to be comfortable in the presence of the judge. For this purpose, special consideration was given to designing the hearing chambers for children more attractive to them.

# 5.1. Scotland

In the main, Scotland's judiciary continue to wear wigs and gowns for reasons of dignity, authority and anonymity. The exceptions are the tribunal judiciary and the lay magistracy. Wigs and gowns are usually dispensed with in proceedings involving children and vulnerable adults and in some commercial business. Courtrooms retain the traditional layout involving the judge sitting on the bench, though, again, this may be departed from in certain circumstances.

### 5.1. Slovakia

### Status

Judges try the hearing in the courtroom in gowns and are obliged to follow a code of judicial ethics.

### 5.1. Spain

### Status

Judges, prosecutors and advocates wear gowns, badges and medals indicating their ranks during hearings and trials (particularly in the civil and criminal branches of the jurisdiction). Judges and Prosecutors are expected to treat all court users in an independent, respectful and impartial manner. Under the Act on the Judiciary currently in force in public hearings, judges, public prosecutors, clerks of the court, advocates and procedural representatives shall all sit at the same height on the board or stand of the courtroom.

# 5.2. Information and assistance and explanation of outcome (court decision and others)

# 5.2. Austria

# Status

See also above 3.2. Austria (on "Amtstag"). So called "service centres" were set up at the regional courts in Linz (2004) and Leoben (January 2009) and at the district court in Hall in Tirol (November 2009). They help to make contacts to the courts easier for persons in search of judicial assistance. Objectives of service centres for Justice are:

- Short ways for the citizens (the court file is walking, not the citizens) as well as competent and rapid handling of their concerns
- Discharge of court registry and other officials from inquiries of parties or other persons involved in proceedings or from time-consuming additional activities that disrupt the flow of the main work
- To optimize and concentrate the service offering for individuals through a centralised handling by qualified personnel.
   Non-goals:
- No replacement of the "Amtstag"
- No place for complaints
- No legal advice

# Initiative

• Judicial Ombudsoffices ("Justiz-Ombudsstellen"):

On 1 November 2007 the Austrian Judiciary introduced Ombudsoffices to offer citizens an improved information and complaint service.

Anyone involved in court proceedings may turn to the Ombudsoffices if they have questions or complaints concerning the work of the courts. They are located at the courts of appeal and are headed by experienced judges. Ombudsoffices however must not interfere with pending proceedings nor do they constitute another type of appellate court.

• Introduction of a joint service centre at the regional criminal court in Vienna and the office of public prosecution in Vienna (expected opening end of this year, beginning of the next year)

5.2. Croatia

## Status

Parties in court proceedings can be represented in court proceeding by lawyers. If parties are not represented by lawyer the presiding judge is obligated to explain the party their fundamental rights and to advice them to engage a lawyer if particularities of the case requires so.

# 5.2. Czech Republic

## Status

Every participant of a case has the right to have a legal aid, he or she can ask a privat lawyer to assist him. Judge is obliged to instruct the participants of a case in their obligations during their visit at the court.

# 5.2. Denmark

# Initiative

In 2008 new proceeding rules concerning civil matters of amounts of a maximum of DKR 50.000 (small claims procedure) entered into force, introducing a simple and fast procedure for minor civil matters. In this procedure the courts assist the parties preparing the case and giving general legal advice. In these cases it is therefore not necessary to be represented by a lawyer (further see below 6.2. and 8.2. Denmark).

# 5.2. Germany

### Status

If the parties are not represented by a lawyer, the judge is under a particular obligation to give a detailed explanation of the substantial facts and matter in dispute and to instruct the parties to make a full statement of the facts and evidence relevant to the case in due time by appropriately drawing their attention to the importance of so doing. The judge must also give the parties the opportunity to make a statement on legal questions of relevance to the decision by drawing their attention to the importance of so doing.

### 5.2. Latvia

A judge is permitted to explain a judgement without changing its substance. Explanation is only permitted until the judgement has been executed or the time period for its compulsory execution has not yet expired. Within the civil and criminal proceedings the judge explains the participants their rights and duties and the consequences of performing or failing to perform procedural actions. In criminal proceedings an advocate is however also summoned to provide legal assistance to the accused.

## 5.2. Lithuania

### Status

The presiding judge explains the procedural rights to the participants of the proceeding, and the judge must clarify the decision for the parties if they do not understand it.

## 5.2. The Netherlands

## Status

Extracts of judgments in cases attracting particular interest are published in anonymised form on the Judiciary's website <u>www.rechtspraak.nl</u> . Furthermore, each court has one or more 'press judges', who are appointed as spokespersons to the press.

# Initiative

A project called PROMIS has been launched with the aim to provide a better explanation of the grounds for decisions on the evidence and sentence in criminal judgments in order to give the defendant, defence counsel, other stakeholders and society as a whole a better idea of the arguments of the court. The basic idea is to provide detailed reasons where necessary and otherwise keep the explanation brief and to the point, in short, 'customized reasoning'.

# 5.2. Norway

### Status

The expectations for services are growing in all areas of society. How the courts carry out their tasks is of great importance for the quality of these tasks and how the users experience of their meeting with the courts.

## Initiative

As an effort in making the courts think differently and in new ways the National Courts Administration arranges a 2-days seminar called "Service & Interaction". The purpose of this seminar is to make the courts be conscious of - and to give them skills in - the different situations where they meet their users. The entire staff in the court attends the seminar. Using the material from the work produced by the courts at these courses, the National Courts Administration will work out a "Guide to Good Service".

#### 5.2. Poland

### Status

The Ministry of Justice issues a number of publications and renders available information bulletins, such as e.g. citizen in civil law proceedings, citizen in criminal proceedings, citizen in administration court proceedings or "I'll be a witness in the court". The last one is designated for children who will give evidence at the court.

### 5.2. Portugal

## Status

Normally this kind of assistance is done by the lawyer.

### 5.2. Scotland

### Status

Except where prohibited by law court decisions are published on the Scottish Courts website. Anonymisation occurs in accordance with guidance issued by the senior judge. Some court decisions are accompanied by a summary or other statement designed to inform the media and public about their content. In addition, in high profile criminal cases the judge's oral sentencing statement is distributed in the same way.

#### 5.2. Slovakia

### Status

At the court the assistance is provided by lawyers. In the case of parties who are not represented by a lawyer the court will provide them assistance / instruction on procedural issues.

## 5.2. Spain

### Status

Parties to most civil, criminal, labour and administrative cases (with the sole exception of some minor cases) are normally assisted by legal counsel (advocate) and represented by a court representative (*procurador*), who normally inform their clients about the contents or outcome of proceedings and the particularities of each procedural action or hearing (cf. 6.1). Furthermore, in the pre-trial phase of criminal proceedings (which is conducted by an investigating judge) all victims are informed by the criminal police or the investigating judge in person of their right to appear in the proceedings as private prosecutors and/or to seek compensation for the damages arising from the criminal offence. Suspects are entitled to obtain information from the police or the investigating judge about the charges laid against them and their basic rights deriving from their capacity of suspects.

### 5.2. Sweden

#### Status

It is of great importance that the parties feel that they have had the opportunity to present their case during the trial. In this respect, the judges' attitude during the proceedings is an important factor (see below 6.7. Sweden). The judge distributes the word during the proceedings and has an obligation to make sure that nothing irrelevant is brought in to the case. In criminal cases the participants in the proceedings are normally asked questions by the prosecutor, the public defender, the aggrieved party counsel and sometimes by the court. In civil cases the participants are asked questions by the parties legal counsels and, sometimes, by the court.

### 5.3. Education and survey of judges

# 5.3. Czech Republic, Hungary, Lithuania, Portugal, Romania and Sweden

# Status

In most court systems judges and court staff receive training and in some cases with the contribution of a psychologist (Hungary) or with special attention to non-verbal communication (England and Wales), or which emphasis the hearing of minors, methods and techniques and communication techniques (Romania).

In Lithuania judges' qualifications are assessed once per 5 years in a special committee of judge

activity assessment under law.

### 5.3. Austria

### Status

The full personal and professional qualification – including the soft skills – is one of the requirements in Austria to become a judge or a public prosecutor (Public Service Law for Judges and Public Prosecutors). The Judicial Training starts with a 9 months court internship. Within this period all trainees have the possibility to take part at a selection process by written and oral examination, personal hearing and psychological aptitude test (standardised computer based tests, interview with a psychologist) to get the position as trainee judge. Then there is an initial training period for three years, that includes compulsory seminars to different topics like "psychological skills", "court room management", "ethics" and "hearing methods and techniques". The ongoing training programme for judges and public prosecutors offers regular different seminars to topics around "soft skills", "communications methods" and "hearing techniques". All judges and public prosecutors are subject to supervision in regular (planned) intervals.

### 5.3. Belgium

# Status

With a view toward allowing the High Council to support the judicial system as strongly as possible in achieving its objectives, the High Council developed professional auditing of the courts and the public prosecutor's offices since 2004.

The audits should

- deliver to the courts and the public prosecutor's offices reliable and valid findings, and stimulating recommendations that will motivate all magistrates and support personnel to take action and to actually manage their entities (improve the internal control process)
- recommend initiatives to external stakeholders that are competent with respect to the judiciary: this includes the removal of (legal) obstacles to this end and providing for suitable support services.

The evaluation of this auditing clearly indicates that this approach has made an impact on the managers of the audited courts and public prosecutor's offices. Correct findings and recommendations cannot be brushed aside without sound arguments. The mechanism built into the audit process of systematic follow-up of the actions that the audited party has taken with respect to the formulated recommendations, encourages systematic improvement of the internal management process.

## 5.3. Denmark

## Status

The Court Administration does not conduct organized surveys of judges. The judges are offered seminars in (amongst others) communication, conflict management and handling of court hearings. The Court Administration further contemplates to offer seminars in cultural understanding.

At intervals the Court Administration carries out national user surveys among for example plaintiffs, defendants, attorneys, prosecutors etc. testing the user satisfaction with the general services and quality standards found when contacting the courts. The surveys are used to concentrate the efforts on aspects where there is room for improvement.

### 5.3. England and Wales

## Status

The Lord Chief Justice has a statutory responsibility to make appropriate arrangements for the training of the judiciary. This responsibility is discharged through a judicial studies body. That body has a permanent staff and its own premises and is directed by a serving judicial office holder on a fulltime bases. Training is a mix of skills work and legal updates, delivered through courses, seminars and electronic means.

### 5.3. Germany

### Status

Judges and prosecutors receive transregional training on various law topics at the German Judicial Academy. Some courses take place with input from a psychologist or with special attention to non-verbal communication or emphasising the hearing of minors methods and techniques, or focus on communication techniques in general. Some courses also aim to give training on "soft skills".

### 5.3. Latvia

The Ministry of Justice ensures the training and further training of judges and court employees; however the Court Administration – as a subordinate institution to the Ministry of Justice – is responsible for organizational arrangements in order to ensure the performance of functions of the Ministry of Justice. In order to fully implement training and improvement of the judges and court staffs skills, Court Administration concluded collaboration agreement with Latvian Judicial Training Centre (LJTC) thus empowering LJTC to implement the trainings for the district (city) courts judges, regional courts judges, administrative courts judges, Land Registry Offices judges, for candidates for the office of a judge and for court personnel. LJTC was established with the general aim of providing continuing legal education and training, as well as improving the level of professional knowledge and ethics for all judges, court employees, bailiffs and other legal professionals in Latvia. One of the functions of the Ministry of Justice is further to ensure the training and further training of judges and court employees. In addition judges themselves constantly have to improve their professionalism, as well as follow up to the branch news, case law updates, etc.

# 5.3. The Netherlands

Status

- Once every four years, a so-called visitation committee consisting of people from inside and outside the judiciary visits the courts. The objective of the visitation is to assess the quality of all the courts individually and as a whole in a number of defined areas.
- With a view to improving the performance of individual judges, peer review (consultation between colleagues who do the same work, but who do not work together directly) is conducted on a voluntary basis within the courts. Peer review focuses on behavioural aspects and includes both the personal interaction with those taking part in the hearing as well as the judge's performance with his colleagues. One form of peer review involves colleagues watching and discussing a recording of a hearing.
- Several courses have been developed to strengthen the communication skills of judges and court staff. There is also a course on how to deal with aggression.

### 5.3. Norway

### Initiative

Judges receive some training about how to act towards parties and other participants in the court during the initial training. See also above 5.2. Norway.

### 5.3. Scotland

### Status

Scotland's senior judge has a statutory responsibility to make appropriate arrangements for the training of the judiciary. This responsibility is discharged through a judicial studies body. That body has a permanent staff and its own premises and is directed by a serving judicial office holder on a full-time bases. Training is a mix of skills work and legal updates, delivered through courses, seminars and electronic means.

### Initiative

A long term improvement plan is in place to significantly enhance the capability and focus of the judicial studies body. A professional education specialist is being recruited to support the preparation of court materials. Progress is dependent on funding.

### 5.3. Slovakia

## Status

Training of judges in the Slovak Republic is provided by the Judicial Academy where, in addition to judges, other court staff is trained as well.

### 5.3. Spain

## Status

In order to guarantee transparency, all judges in the country have a specific obligation to meet and have an interview with every court user or legal professional who applies for it, and to this effect judges should be accessible in their chambers four hours every working day. However, in some cases the judge may refuse to have an interview with the court user or legal professional if issues regarding sensitive information or deontological obligations of the judge towards all the parties in the case are affected. Judges receive initial training as to how to be polite with the public, user friendly and provide all information required within the framework of judicial proceedings and hearings, including information over the causes of postponements and delays.

## 5.4. Treatment of other users of the courts (witnesses)

### 5.4. Denmark, Germany, Hungary and Norway,

### Status

In most countries the court sees to it that witnesses get information about what they can expect during the questioning and that the witness is escorted to the court room. If necessary the court will make sure to oversee the witness' child (Hungary).

Witnesses are usually fully reimbursed of their travel expenses.

In Denmark general information for witnesses can be found on <u>www.domstol.dk</u> and in a pamphlet which is available in the courts.

## 5.4. Czech Republic

### Status

Normally, witness are obliged to come to the hearing, if they have been summoned in evidence. In some cases, especially in criminal matters, there are psychological barriers, some witness (victims of crime, violence) can't come or refuse to meet the offender and witness, therefore videoconference and use of an istitute of confidential witness would enable the court hearing.

## 5.4. Italy

## Status

As regards the presentation of evidence by minors, the law provides that the witnesses are examined by the Chairman of the Committee (and not by the Public Prosecutor or defenders), so as to avoid the stress caused by cross examination; in addition, the Chairman may avail himself during the examination of the assistance of a member of the minor's family or of an expert in child psychology. When dealing with sexual offences committed against minors, the examination of the victim is performed, if necessary, through the use of a one-way mirror glass and audio system, in such a way that the minor is able to give evidence without being seen directly by the accused.

# 5.4. Latvia

To ensure the protection of witnesses personal data and to avoid that their identity I revealed to the other participants special rooms are provided in the Supreme Court for examination of such witnesses. The room is equipped with audio device ensuring communication between the witness and the people in the court room. The audio device may also create acoustical noise which hides the identity of the voice.

# 5.4. The Netherlands

# Status

- The courts conduct a customer evaluation survey every four years. The 'customers' are litigants, members of the Bar, the Public Prosecution Service and other 'repeat players'.
- In order to make children feel more at ease in court buildings, a number of courts have created special child-friendly areas with toys.
- Witnesses are entitled to compensation for the loss of time and for travel expenses.
   Before the hearing, witnesses may ask the public prosecutor to request the judge to remove the suspect from the courtroom during the witnesses' interview. The witness may also request the judge to do this during the hearing. The judge may however refuse.

There is a special procedure for threatened witnesses, which may only be applied in serious criminal cases when the identity of the witness is unknown to the defendant. Under this special procedure, the identity of the witness and his defence counsel remain secret and the witness does not have to appear at the hearing. Such a request to remain anonymous must be submitted to the examining magistrate.

# 5.4. Portugal

# <u>Status</u>

Witnesses have a special protection, which includes measures such as secret identity and private security. They are exempted from court fees.

# 5.4. Romania

# Initiative

A non governmental organization specialized in the defence and promotion of human rights – Social Alternatives Association – in partnership with Romanian magistrates, researchers and psychologists and the National Institute of Ministry elaborated a guide for the hearing of children in judicial proceedings, in 2009. The guide approaches the phases for hearing minors from a psychological and legal point of view both in civil and criminal matters in order to ensure an adequate and effective protection of children's rights during all judicial proceedings.

## Organisational implication

The guide is distributed among the courts and prosecutors offices and is uses within the future professional training programmes on this subject.

# Financial implication

The guide has been financed by UNICEF.

### 5.4. Scotland

### Status

Efforts are made to ensure that witnesses are well looked after in court and are given the information they need for the purposes of attending and participating in the court process. Special provision is made for children and other vulnerable witnesses, including provision allowing evidence to be given from behind a screen, via video link from a special facility or in the presence of a supporter.

### 5.4. Slovakia

## Status

Witnesses are entitled by law to the reimbursement of costs that arose to them by providing testimony in proceedings.

### 5.4. Spain

# Status

Other court users, such as witnesses, expert witnesses, etc. are also entitled to be treated in a respectful, independent and impartial manner by judges and prosecutors. Failure to comply with this standard of treatment by judges may result in disciplinary liability, since the disciplinary offence consisting in "excess or abuse of authority" or "serious lack of consideration" also applies to citizens in general and not only to parties or court users in the narrow sense of the word. Witnesses are entitled to full recovery of travel expenses from the party bearing court costs or, where no decision on costs has been made by the court, by the Ministry of Justice or the autonomous regions with competences in the field of justice. However, in many cases there have been allegations of serious delays in the recovery of travel expenses by witnesses when the expenses are to be covered by the Ministry of Justice or the autonomous regions with competences in the field of justice.

### 5.4. Sweden

### Status

Almost 100.000 people give testimony at courts in Sweden every year. Witness support is available at most district courts and courts of appeal in Sweden. The witness support persons assist witnesses and victims of crime with humanitarian support and practical information concerning the trial. A witness support person works on a not-for-profit basis and he or she has sworn a moral promise of confidentiality.

### Initiative

The Crime Victim Compensation and Support Authority and The National Courts Administration have a government mandate to work together to achieve that witness support should be available at all district courts and courts of appeal. The Crime Victim Compensation and Support Agency, who has the overall responsibility for the witness support, is currently working with national guidelines in order to make witness support activities more uniform across the country.

# 6. Hindrances to Personal Appearance

### 6.1. Mandatory professional representation

# 6.1. Belgium, Denmark, Croatia, Cyprus, Finland, Lithuania, Norway and Slovakia,

# Status

In many court systems parties may appear in person before all the courts of the judicial order and present their own submissions and arguments. In Belgium and Lithuania although with the exception of proceedings in the Court of Cassation, in Lithuania with some exceptions in the appeal in-

stance and the Supreme Court of Lithuania, and in Slovakia with the exception of some administrative hearings and in some criminal proceedings with obligatory defence. But the court may forbid them to do so if it acknowledges that the excitement or inexperience of a party will prevent them from presenting their case with proper decorum or the necessary clarity.

In Cyprus corporations need to be presented by council and in Latvia the person must be capacitated and adult in age – if not the legitimate person may submit the case unless it is a criminal case. In criminal cases under aged accused must be represented by legal counsel as well as other litigants in specific matters.

# 6.1. Austria

# Status

In civil and commercial matters to be settled through the courts, complaints lodged with the district courts (which are normally responsible for disputes involving up to  $10.000 \in$ ) must be signed by a lawyer if the amount involved is more than  $5.000 \in$ . This obligation does not, however, apply if the complaint has to be lodged with the district courts regardless of the amount involved (f.i. disputes on family matters and disputes arising from rental contracts for residential and business premises). So where legal representation before the district courts is not compulsory, anyone can lodge a written complaint or application initiating proceedings with the court. In civil and commercial matters to be settled through the courts, complaints lodged with the regional courts must normally always be signed by a lawyer. The obligation to engage a lawyer does not apply to complaints that have to be settled in the labour- or social courts, i.e. in particular claims by employees against their employeer arising from their employment relationship.

# 6.1. Czech Republic

# Status

Citizens need to be represented by a lawyer in administrative court proceedings, before the Supreme and Constitutional court.

# 6.1. England and Wales

There is no bar to persons conducting litigation in person, but corporate bodies, including business organisations formed as companies, i.e. corporations, must appear through an advocate. Although without formal representation by lawyers placed on the court record there are various sources of help for those appearing before the courts depending on the matter of the case and the court in question. In any court or tribunal a party who is not represented may be assisted by another person, not acting as advocate. This person acting in this capacity is called a "Mackenzie friend" after a case of that name. Alternative dispute resolution or mediation, where available, can reduce reliance on representation, cost and delay.

### Initiative

The Tribunal's Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 authorises and prescribes mediation procedures to be adopted in cases before tribunals. Pilot schemes involving mediation by salaried tribunal judges on a voluntary basis are being run in some of the other tribunals.

### 6.1. Germany

## Status

The parties are required to be represented by a lawyer when appearing before regional courts and higher regional courts. The parties may represent themselves in cases before the local courts, which are responsible for dealing with cases involving an amount of up to  $\notin$  5,000  $\notin$ . In criminal proceedings, a defence counsel is appointed for defendants who do not yet have a defence counsel under certain circumstances (e.g. seriousness of the offence, complexity of the factual and legal situation), regardless of their income.

### 6.1. Italy

#### Status

The parties must be represented by a lawyer to be a party to proceedings. For trials before the Court of Cassation, one must be assisted by a suitably registered lawyer. Before a justice of the peace (non-professional judges), in cases of a value not exceeding 516,46 €, the parties may be personally party to proceedings. In criminal trials it is required to name a lawyer.

#### 6.1. The Netherlands

There is no need for legal representation in civil law cases at the sub-district level (cases under  $5.000 \in$  and in some specific civil cases such as labour and rent) and in administrative law cases. In these cases, simple procedures apply with practical possibilities for personal appearance. For all other civil cases in first instance, appeal and cassation, professional representation by a lawyer is required. In criminal proceedings, no professional representation is required.

# Initiative

As advised by the Judiciary, the Dutch legislator submitted legislation which broadens the scope of cases in which no mandatory professional representation applies. In all civil cases involving amounts up to  $25.000 \in$  and cases of consumer purchase and consumer credit there will be no mandatory representation. If adopted the law will be in force from 1 January 2011. At present, mandatory representation applies for cases involving a sum above  $5.000 \in$ .

## **Objective** and impact

- Increase access to the courts and to justice;
- increase freedom of choice for litigants to make use of legal aid (whether or not this is a formal lawyer or somebody else) for a larger number of cases and
- shorten the processing times for a large number of civil cases.

### 6.1. Portugal

## Status

Parties must be represented by lawyer.

### 6.1. Scotland

### Status

In general, an individual may represent him or herself or be represented by a professional lawyer with rights of audience in the court concerned and a non-natural person must be represented by a lawyer. In low value civil proceedings in the lower civil court, a person may be represented by an authorised lay representative (such as an in-court adviser or welfare officer). This is subject to the control of the court.

# Initiative

From February 2011 it will be possible for an authorised lay representative to represent an individual in any of the civil courts, in accordance with rules to be made by the courts.

### 6.1. Spain

### Status

In most cases heard by the courts of the four branches of the jurisdiction and by the Constitutional Court professional representation and assistance by a court representative (procurador) and an advocate are mandatory. However, there are some minor exceptions to this general rule in the criminal branch of jurisdiction (cases connected with misdemeanours or with not serious road traffic offences), the civil branch of the jurisdiction (cases where the amount of the claim is under 900 €, initial applications for fast track proceedings, proceedings on challenges before the competent court against the decision made by the relevant panel on whether to grant legal aid, and appearance of creditors in bankruptcy proceedings) and the labour branch of the jurisdiction (all proceedings adjudicated by labour courts), where the party or interested person can appear on his own before the court with no representation or assistance by legal professionals. Even in these cases the party or interested person may choose to appear before the court represented and assisted by legal professionals. This election is notified to the counterparty in order to guarantee equal footing to both parties, so that the counterparty may also decide to be represented and assisted by legal professionals. Proceedings in absentia are envisaged in all branches of the jurisdiction, but only in not serious criminal cases (proceedings for misdemeanours or for offences punishable with a custodial sentence under 2 years) is it possible to proceed in the absence of the defendant. In all cases where representation and/or assistance by legal professionals are mandatory the interested person normally addresses the court or judge through legal counsel, so that all applications or petitions are normally made by the legal professional and not by the interested party himself.

## 6.1. Sweden

### Status

Parties in *civil cases* can be represented by lawyers, but it is not mandatory. This applies both to cases that are amendable to out-of-courts settlement and to cases not amendable to out-of- courts settlements (for example family law cases). In *criminal cases* the court may arrange for a defence attorney (public defender) for those who are suspected of a crime. The court decides whether a pub-

lic defender is needed or not. For victims of certain crimes the court may appoint an aggrieved party counsel (please see below, 10.1. Sweden).

Administrative decisions are in most cases possible to appeal to an Administrative Court. Given the Court's obligation to investigate it is in most cases not considered necessary with assistance through a legal aid counsel, that is, a lawyer who helps the individual to pursue his or her claim. Legal aid is very rare in this type of process. After a matter has been presented or a verbal hearing has been held, the court will deliberate on the matter. The judgment is sometimes pronounced verbally immediately following the deliberations. In other cases, the judgment is pronounced later, on a date to be determined by the court. The court will always send the judgment by post to those affected.

## 6.2. Simple procedure cases (family cases, cases involving minor amounts and others)

### 6.2. Austria, England and Wales, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Spain and Sweden

Many countries have small claims procedures allowing summary proceedings which are considerably accelerated and simplified by use of blanks/standard written forms. Summary proceedings are accessible when the claim is below a set minimum. It is not necessary to make use of a lawyer in these proceedings.

Many also have special proceedings in family cases (the Netherlands and Spain).

# 6.2. Croatia

### Status

In simple cases (land register cases) parties have access to forms on court websites.

### 6.2. Czech Republic

### Status

In civil family cases where the alternative dispute resolution is possible, it is intended to settle the duty to contact a mediator. Some tasks can solve the higher court official or a notary in heritage cases. The accelerated procedure is possible in criminal matters; the payment order and petty dis-

putes up to  $80 \in$ . The time limitation is settled for the preliminary ruling for the civil cases and the custody decision for the penal cases.

## 6.2. Denmark

### Initiative

In 2008 new proceeding rules (small claims procedure) concerning civil matters of amounts of a maximum of DKK 50.000 (approx.  $6.700 \in$ ) entered into force, introducing a simple and fast procedure for minor civil matters. The requirements for the writ and for the reply are less comprehensive and it is possible to use blanks for the purpose. The courts assist the parties preparing the case and giving general legal advice. Further see below point 8.2. Denmark.

### *Objective and impact*

The objective was that small claims cases could more easily be handled by the party without costly legal representation, and that the case may be handled more swiftly.

### Organisational implication

In order to make proceedings in small claims procedure forms, guidelines and directions have been produced, some of them to be available to the public on the web-sites of the district courts, others to help the courts handling these new procedural rules.

### 6.2. Germany

#### Status

A claim to payment may be made in summary proceedings for non-payment regardless of the amount of money involved. Such summary proceedings are purely formal proceedings that are largely automatised. In cases involving an amount of up to  $\in$  600, the court can take a decision in simplified proceedings. A hearing is only required if a party submits an application to that effect. There is a separate code of procedure for family matters. For certain family matters, particularly those concerning financial compensation between spouses (e.g. maintenance, equalisation of accrued gains), this code of procedure declares the general code of procedure in civil proceedings to be largely applicable, *mutatis mutandis*. Insofar as it governs the actual proceedings, the code of procedure for family affairs sometimes makes less strict procedural demands then the general Code of Civil Procedure. It also regulates simplified proceedings concerning maintenance for minors.

## 6.2. Latvia

## Status

There are no special simple procedures provided in cases on civil matters.

## Initiative

It is planned to hand over divorce matters to sworn notaries (in 2011) of there are no controversies between the spouses regarding the divorce settlement.

# 6.2. Norway

## Status

Conciliation boards consisting of three lay persons solve a lot of civil conflicts in Norway. They are mediating cases and have a limited competence of giving judgements. Cases not solved are referred to the district courts. Procedures are simple and informal and usually without counsel.

## Initiative

From 2008 the new civil procedure act established the principle that the costs involved shall be reasonably proportionate to the importance of the case. Parties and judges are supposed to consider mediation as an alternative to traditional conflict resolution. Mediation in the courts is an alternative.

The new fast track procedure in cases involving small claims – claims lower than NOK 125.000 (about 17.300 Euro) – has been established. People are supposed to bring theses cases to the court without professional help. Normally the case should be concluded within 3 months. The possibility to get compensation from the other party for the costs is limited to 20% of the main claim, and never more than NOK 25.000 (about  $3.500 \in$ ).

There are special provisions for handling family cases with different possibilities to use professionals to mediate and to give professional advice of what's the best for the child.

### 6.2. Romania

### Initiative

The length of judicial proceedings in Romania has been debated by the European Court of Human Rights. The solution proposed entailed legislative amendments introducing simplified procedure. In criminal cases a simplified procedure is introduced in cases where the defendant pleas guilty.

### 6.3. Scotland

### Status

Scotland has two procedures for low value claims – one for those below £1,500 (a small claim) and one for those below £5,000 (a summary cause). The procedures are more straightforward and designed around greater judicial intervention that would normally be the case. In addition, there are special procedures for personal injury actions in both the higher and the lower civil court which are designed around the principle of "case flow management"; these impose strict timetables on the parties and minimise the demand on judicial resources.

### Initiative

The Scottish civil courts review has recommended improvements to Scotland's low value claim procedures.

## 6.2. Slovakia

## Status

The hearing is not necessary in order to decide the case, if it is not inconsistent with the requirement of public interest and, if it is possible to take the decision only on the basis of the documentary evidence submitted by the parties and the parties agree on the deciding the case without a hearing or they explicitly waived their right to the public hearing of the case. The hearing is not necessary even in small disputes. If during the proceedings the subject of the proceedings descends to the amount of 500 euros, from this moment it is regarded as the small dispute (the case involving minor amounts).

# 6.3. Practical possibilities for personal appearance

# 6.3. Denmark

# Status

In the fast track procedure mentioned in 6.2. Denmark the courts assist the parties preparing the case and give general legal advice. It is therefore not necessary to be represented by a lawyer. Further see below point 8.2. Denmark.

# 6.3. Germany

*Status* See above 6.1. Germany.

# 6.3. Hungary

# Status

These questions are regulated by the law of civil procedure. Administrative initiative has not been taken, but the National Council of Justice senses the necessity of the psychological supervision of the judges. See above 5.3. Hungary.

# 6.3. Latvia

# Status

It is not obligatory to be represented by lawyer – see above 6.1. Latvia and also 1.2. Latvia.

# 6.3. The Netherlands

Status

See above 6.1. The Netherlands.

# Initiative

- If parliament adopts the submitted law broadening the competence of the subdistrict sector to all civil cases involving amounts up to 25.000 € and to cases of consumer purchase and consumer credit, the number of cases in which professional legal representation is not mandatory will increase considerably.
- The Judiciary is working on a new website specifically aimed at litigants without professional representation (http://www.naardekantonrechter.nl), which takes the information needs of both plaintiffs and defendants as its point of departure and offers information on issues such as 'how to prepare for trial', 'how to conduct written defence' and 'where to find legal aid' and also offers writing help for drafting a letter to the judge.

# 6.3. Norway

Status See above 4.1. and 6.1 and below 6.6. Norway.

# 6.3. Portugal

*Status* See above 6.1. Portugal.

# 6.3. Scotland

# Status

Unrepresented litigants can be aided by supporters who may provide advice, assistance and moral support on an unpaid basis.

# 6.3. Slovakia

# Status

The party in the civil proceedings may be (in most cases) represented by himself/herself. Laws explicitly define the cases in which a party without a legal education must be legally represented.

### 6.3. Spain

*Status* See above 6.1. Spain.

## 6.3. Sweden

### Status

The courts have websites which e.g. are aimed at litigants without professional representation. The websites focuses on information which is needed both by the plaintiff and the defendant (as well as witnesses) and offers information on issues such as "how to prepare for trial", "how to conduct written defence", "where to find legal aid", "who is who in the court room" and "where to find the court by public transportation, car etc".

### Initiative

In 2008 a reform came into effect at the general courts and major changes took place in the Code of Judicial Procedure. The reform involves e.g. examinations in the district court being documented on video. Before the reform an examination of a person in court was always recorded on audio tape. Now, all examinations in the district court are also documented on videotape. If the case is appealed, a person who was examined in the district court will often not need to be re-examined as the video recording from the district court can be played back in the court of appeal.

## **Objective** and impact

One of the advantages with the reform is that the victim of the crime and witnesses often do not need to come to court more than once to give their account. This means less pressure on those who are to be examined and it could also reduce the parties' court costs. The recording of an examination from the district court in many cases gives a better reflection of the witness's actual observations than a re-examination, as a re-examination in the court of appeal often takes place a long time after the event in question. This means that the court of appeal does not need to conduct re-examinations to the same extent as previously. It will also be possible for more cases in the court of appeal to be decided without oral proceedings. In addition, there will be a reduction in the number of main hearings that need to be cancelled because the person to be examined fails to appear.

### 6.4. Oral or written opening and procedure

# 6.4. Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Czech Republic, Norway, Poland and Sweden

## Status

The opening of a civil process is in most court system generally done in written form whereas the trial proceedings are oral.

#### 6.4. Finland

#### Status

European Court of Human Rights has pronounced some sentences on Finland due the denial of oral hearing in the Court of Appeal. In Finland the Appeal is based on the principle of the Second First Instance that means that the Court of Appeal hears all evidence including witnesses once again if the decision depends on fact finding. According to law it is also possible to solve a case without an oral hearing, if the decision is not dependent on fact based on oral evidence. Because of lack of human resources and the tradition of written procedure in appeal, the Courts of Appeal have been reluctant to arrange oral hearings in the cases that they estimate correctly solved on the basis of the District Court's judgment and the letter of complaint.

### Initiative

To direct the resources according to needs of justice, the government has given a bill for the system of appeals permission in the Court of Appeal in minor criminal and civil cases. The defendant shall be given access to appeals permission in criminal case, if the punishment is not higher than 4 months imprisonment. The decisive factor is the District Court's judgment. The prosecutor and the injured party shall be given access to appeals permission if the punishment cannot exceed 2 years imprisonment according to law. In a civil case a leave is given if the difference of the outcome in the District Court and the demand in the court of appeal is not higher than 10.000  $\in$ . The act is to come into force during 2010.

## **Objective** and impact

The aim of this new Act is to direct the resources of justice system according to needs of justice. The system of appeals permission should make possible to avoid further procedure in the Court of Appeal in minor cases if the Court on the basis of the judgment and the letter of complaint undoubtedly can decide that the District Court has solved the case right. This should save resources of the Court of Appeal so the oral hearing is to be arranged in all cases it is provided according to law.

# 6.4. Germany

# Status

In civil cases, the claim is to be lodged with the court in writing. The court decides on the basis of a hearing prepared by the parties using documents. In cases involving an amount of up to  $\notin$  600, it is also possible to hold only written proceedings (see item 6.2 above).

In criminal proceedings, the court issues its decision concerning the opening of main proceedings in writing. The principle of orality applies at the trial.

# 6.4. Latvia

# Status

A civil procedure is generally opened by a written procedure whereas the trial proceedings are oral. In administrative cases the trial proceedings may be in written form.

# 6.4. Lithuania

# Status

When the party adduces all written evidences, the civil claim can be tried by the order of the documentary proceedings and the parties are not invited to participate in the hearing of the case. In the courts of the first instance and the courts of the appellate instance the cases are (with one or two notable exceptions) tried orally and the judges hear the parties in dispute. In the Supreme Court of Lithuania the proceedings in civil cases are usually in written form.

# 6.4. The Netherlands

# Status

- The procedure before the subdistrict sector judge is not necessarily oral.
- In civil cases at the appeal level, the procedure is mainly written, although parties have the right to put forward a request for an oral plea.

# Initiative

A new procedure has been introduced for civil cases. It is a 'post-defence hearing' and the purpose is to obtain further information for the parties, in order to assess whether a settlement is possible and arrange for the management of the case. Previously the personal appearance of the parties was an optional interlude between two stages of the written proceedings. The post-defence hearing is now the standard procedure. Once the court has obtained sufficient information from this hearing, it can give final judgment forthwith.

### 6.4. Scotland

### Status

Civil claims in Scotland must be instituted in writing and progressed (to a greater or lesser degree) by way of written pleadings. Uncontroversial procedural business may be disposed of without a hearing. Otherwise, contested issues are disposed of at (or following) an oral hearing appropriate to the resolution of the issues in dispute. Where facts are in dispute they are resolved by the hearing of evidence, but a dispute involving only legal questions will be resolved by the hearing of argument only. Increasingly parties are required to submit a written argument in advance of any oral hearing.

### Initiative

Scotland has recently introduced a requirement that criminal appeals against conviction will proceed on the basis of written submissions. A hearing still takes place, at which the appellant may be permitted to elaborate on his or her written submissions and the prosecution may respond.

### 6.4. Slovakia

### Status

The hearing is open at the oral hearing and is recorded in writing -.in the minutes of the hearing.

# 6.4. Spain

### Status

The opening of proceedings through a claim is done in a written form in the courts of the civil, labour and administrative branches of the jurisdiction. In the criminal branch of the jurisdiction, the trial phase opens with a written provisional indictment by the public prosecutor or the private prosecuting party in all cases, with the sole exception of trials on misdemeanours, where there is no provisional written indictment and the final indictment is presented orally at the end of the trial by the public prosecutor or the private prosecuting party. In many cases the pre-trial phase of criminal proceedings is initiated by the investigating judge on the basis of the information lodged by the victim of the offence before the police, the prosecution office or the investigating judge himself. The information can be lodged by the victim orally or in a written form.

Procedures in the trial phase are conducted orally in the courts of the civil, criminal and labour branches of the jurisdiction, but tend to be predominantly written in the administrative branch of the jurisdiction (unless the case is decided by a single administrative judge). Appeals in the four branches of the jurisdiction tend to be predominantly written, since they are always based on the written and grounded application of the appellant and normally disposed of by the competent court in chambers and with no public hearing. There are some exceptions (public hearings at an appellate level) in those rare cases where admissible evidence is to be presented to the appellate court or the appellate court (*ex officio* or granting the application by any of the parties) has agreed to decide the appeal after a public hearing.

# 6.5. Requirements to written applications and facilitating by use of blanks and the like

<u>6.5. Austria</u> *Status* See above 4.2. Austria.

6.5. Czech Republic Status Blanks are not used 6.5. Denmark

### Status

In the fast track procedure mentioned in 6.2. Denmark the requirements for the writ and for the reply are less comprehensive and it is possible to use blanks for the purpose. Further see below 8.2. Denmark. It is also possible to use blanks instead of writ and reply in ordinary civil cases. Furthermore blanks are used in the simplified procedure for the enforcement of small claims mentioned below in 9.2. Denmark.

## 6.5. Germany

# Status

The writ must meet certain formal requirements. Forms are not used. There are forms for applying for legal aid and for carrying out summary proceedings for recovery of debt or liquidated demand, and these should be used.

Forms are used for making applications in simplified proceedings concerning the maintenance of minors. In some cases, the parties involved are required to fill in certain forms in addition to the application (statutory equalisation of pensions upon dissolution of marriage, assistance for costs of proceedings).

## 6.5. Latvia

## Status

Official blanks for the procedural documents (e.g. claim statement) are usually not used. Procedural Laws (Civil Procedure Law, Administrative Procedure Law and Criminal Procedure Law) establish mandatory requirements for procedural documents. However, there are forms available on the website of the Latvian court portal (<u>www.tiesas.lv</u>) to ease the drafting of procedural documents (e.g. claim statement; ancillary complaint; appellate complaint; etc.) by the parties. Official blanks must be used for an application regarding a compulsory execution of obligation in accordance with warning procedure; for warning on compulsory execution of payment obligation; for a reply for the application regarding a compulsory execution in accordance with warning procedure.

### 6.5. Lithuania

There are special requirements to the procedural documents. The blanks for the procedural documents are seldom used.

#### 6.5. The Netherlands

## Status

There are no examples of procedural documents in which blanks are used. However, in drafting procedural documents, litigants will often receive help from the Judicial Counter, Legal Advice Centre or a professional lawyer.

#### 6.5. Norway

#### Status

Pleadings in civil cases shall state the name of the court, the names of the parties and their counsels and the exhibits enclosed. Pleadings shall serve to clarify the issues in the dispute and to explain the parties' views on the hearing of the case. The pleading shall be signed and made in a manner that ensures orderliness in the communication between the court and the parties. Parties, who are not represented by counsel, may submit the writ of summons, reply, notice of appeal orally by appearing in court in person. The court is obliged to put the procedural step into a pleading. A scheme for writ of summons in family/custody for children cases may be used.

### 6.5. Poland

#### Status

In electronic writ-of-payment proceedings (see below 8.2. Poland) the petition should be submitted on the electronic form. Also in other cases regulations provide for use of specific forms, fx. declaration of family status, assets, incomes and sources of means for living, enclosed to the application for exemption from court costs. Forms are obligatory also in registry proceedings (National Court Register, Register of Pledges), land and mortgage register proceedings, simplified proceedings as well as when the plaintiff who is a service provider or a vendor pursues claims stemming from certain, determined types of agreement. Is a pleading not submitted on the right form, the party will be summoned to correct the pleading within one week and the document submitted is sent to them. The party is advised about rejection and the shortages of the document will be laid out.

#### 6.5. Portugal

#### Status

Special forms exist for applications for a writ and also for bringing proceedings in Judges of Peace where, in the latter case, the applicant has chosen not to bring proceedings verbally.

#### 6.5. Slovakia

#### Status

Requirements for application to the courts or its conditions are precisely determined in the individual provisions of legislation. In these provisions the mandatory and optional requirements of the applications are determined aiming to closer and more precise identification of the parties or the matter. The official forms to be completed by the claimant exist in the proceedings concerning the Register of Companies. On the official websites the patterns of application can be found.

#### 6.5. Spain

#### Status

Since mandatory professional representation applies to most cases, written applications from the parties to the court must normally be signed by legal counsel and procedural representative. However, in cases adjudicated by the civil courts in connection with small claims or fast track claims where no mandatory professional representation applies, there are standard written forms of claims approved by the courts at the disposal of claimants, so that the application can be filled in by the interested person with no assistance by an advocate or lawyer. These standard forms are available with no cost in all civil courts of the country.

#### 6.5. Sweden

#### Status

It is possible to use forms when applying for summons. The forms are available on the website of the Swedish courts (<u>www.domstol.se</u>).

#### 6.6. Assistance and guidance by the judge

# 6.6. Austria, Croatia, Italy, Latvia, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Romania and Sweden *Status*

In most court systems judges are to some extent obliged to guide and instruct the parties which are not represented by a lawyer – taking care however to not infringe the principle of a fair trail

#### 6.6. Czech Republic

#### Status

In Czech Republic judges are only obliged to guide on the kind of information stipulated in the law. They do not assist nor guide the participants.

#### 6.6. Cyprus

#### Status

The judges are always helpful and very tolerant towards parties who are not represented by legal counsel. These parties are guided on the procedure and sometimes referred to the Registrar or other personnel for assistance on how to submit their claims properly.

#### 6.6. Germany

#### Status

In criminal proceedings, the chairman of the court takes charge of the hearing, questioning the defendant and taking evidence. The parties to the proceedings are to be officially informed of certain rights and duties.

#### 6.6. Scotland

#### Status

Within the constraints of judicial impartiality, Scotland's judiciary endeavours to ensure that unrepresented parties are not prejudiced in the presentation of their cases.

#### 6.6. Slovakia

Status

Within fulfilling their tasks, the courts provide the parties in the civil proceedings with guidance on their procedural rights and obligations.

The courts do not have an obligation to provide guidance on the procedural rights and obligations of the parties, if the party in the civil proceedings is represented by lawyer.

A judge in the proceeding shall instruct the witnesses on their particular rights and obligations as well as on the possibility to refuse the testimony and the consequences of an untruth testimony.

#### 6.6. Spain

#### Status

In principle, no assistance or guidance by the judge is expected in proceedings where the general principle of mandatory professional representation applies, since the party or court user is assisted by legal counsel in these cases. However, judges are expected to assist and guide court users in all cases where these do not enjoy professional representation and assistance (trials on misdemeanours, small claim civil proceedings or proceedings in connection with applications to the court in order to grant interim measures or provisions in family cases). In all these cases, assistance and guidance by the judge to the parties must be provided in an impartial and unbiased manner. As already explained (see above 5.2.) in the pre-trial phase of criminal proceedings (which are conducted by an investigating judge) all victims are informed by the investigating judge of their right to appear in the proceedings as private prosecutors and/or to seek compensation for the damages arising from the criminal offence. Suspects are entitled to obtain information from the investigating judge about the charges laid against them and their basic rights deriving from their capacity of suspects.

## 7. Social Hindrances

#### 7.1. Awareness of rights and use of professional language

#### 7.1. Czech Republic

#### Status

Usually, when the judge makes a sentence, he announces to the participants under which conditions thay can use the right to appeal. In some criminal cases, the participants are given the attorney exoffo, in majority cases participants of cases ask a privat attorney.

#### 7.1. Germany

#### Status

The parties to the criminal proceedings are to be officially informed of certain rights in a comprehensible language.

#### 7.1. The Netherlands

#### Status

In recent years, the relevance of understandable language has increasingly been recognized by the Netherlands' Judiciary.

#### Initiative

- On a national level, the Document Management project has been developed within the administrative law sector. This project is aimed at standardizing all outgoing correspondence within the administrative law sector. All letters within this sector have been examined and rewritten, with much attention paid to improving clarity and comprehension. The civil sector is currently also planning to standardize and redraft its correspondence.
- The District Court of Arnhem has recently reviewed all its outgoing correspondence and has redrafted many letters with special focus on clarity and intelligibility. It has also developed a manual 'Understandable letters' which has been distributed among the other courts. Some courts have adopted the method to review their own letters.
- 14 courts have developed training courses in the field of language and clarity.
- In May 2009, the Council for the Judiciary organized a theme day on 'Mastering the language'.

During this event, several speakers from inside and outside the Judiciary shared their views on the use of language by jurists and several workshops took place. More than 150 persons from the courts attended this event, mostly legal and administrative staff.

• A project called PROMIS has been launched which is aimed at providing a better explanation of the grounds for decisions on the evidence and sentence in criminal judgments. Although linguistic simplification is not the main aim of PROMIS it is expected that the increase of intelligibility in PROMIS-judgments will be an important positive side-effect of the project.

#### 7.1. Poland

#### Status

There is an obligation to give the participants of proceedings a number of advices, which can not however constitute "providing legal advice".

#### 7.1. Scotland

#### Status

Professional language continues to prevail, to a degree, in court proceedings, documents and rules in Scotland.

#### Initiative

Scotland's civil courts review has recommended the reformulation of the rules of court in plain language.

#### 7.1. Slovakia

#### Status

The use of technical language is part of the judicial system of the SR and it exists as a relatively closed circuit with a specific terminology, which is typical for each sector in our country.

#### 7.2. Linguistic hindrances and hindrances for minority groups, immigrants, and aliens

7.2. Austria

Status

The Slovenian speaking, the Croatian and the Hungarian speaking citizens in the south and east of Austria have the right to use their language in certain courts of the regions.

#### 7.2. Cyprus

#### Status

Participants who do not speak Greek are entitled to interpretation.

#### 7.2. Croatia

#### Status

Every minority has a right to hear proceedings in their language and to have it translated at court expenses and foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings.

#### 7.2. Czech Republic

#### Status

Parties of the proceedings who do not understand Czech language have a right to be assisted by the interpreter in front of the court.

#### 7.2. Denmark

#### Status

The court language is Danish but foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings. Greenland the court language is Danish and Greenlandic. According to the Greenlandic procedural regulation the essential documents in criminal proceedings (such as the indictment, the list of evidence and special declarations) must be translated in to a language that the defendant masters. On the Ferry Islands the court language is Ferry, but also Danish can be used on equal terms. There are not the same problems with finding qualified interpretation.

#### 7.2. England and Wales

#### Status

Foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings, and information on notice boards in courts and tribunals is even printed in a number of European and Asian languages and has a prominent direction to a telephone number via which help in other languages can be obtained. The training received by judges and staff about diversity further enables them to act with

sensitivity to cultural issues (see above 5.4.). The Ministry of Justice and Judicial Appointments Commission are committed to reflecting diversity in judicial appointments and there is a current consultation about achieving this aim. The Human Rights Act 1998 protects all persons who are present in the country regardless of nationality. The Act guarantees the Article 6 of the EHR convention (right to a fair trial of any charge and in deciding civil rights and obligations). Consistent with this interpreters are provided to translate in both court and tribunal proceedings.

In Wales all court and tribunal forms are available in the Welsh language and documents may be submitted in that language.

#### 7.2. Germany

#### Status

If persons who do not have a command of the German language are taking part in the hearing, an interpreter is to be involved. In addition, the court uses interpreters or translators for defendants or convicted persons who do not have a command of the German language, or who are hearing- or speech-impaired if this is necessary for them to make use of their rights in criminal proceedings. Moreover, in future, Germany will have to take into account the Directive of the European Parliament and the Council on the rights to interpretation and to translation in criminal proceedings.

#### 7.2. Hungary

#### Status

Foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings.

#### 7.2. Italy

#### Status

The code of criminal procedure provides that, before the judicial authorities having first instance or appeal jurisdiction over a territory in which a recognized language minority has its permanent abode, (the French minority of Val d'Aosta, the German and the Ladinos of Trentino Alto Adige and the Slovenian of the Province of Trieste are considered as recognized language minorities), Italian citizens belonging to that minority are questioned, at their request, in their mother language and the related minutes are drawn up also in such language. Foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings

#### 7.2. Latvia

#### Status

The court makes sure to provide for any need interpretation and the costs for interpretation are included in the procedural expenditures.

#### 7.2. Lithuania

#### Status

Foreigners, minority groups and immigrants are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings.

#### 7.2. The Netherlands

#### Status

- Interpretation during hearings is provided when necessary.
- Several courses have been developed for judges and their staff in order to improve their knowledge and understanding of minority groups and to strengthen their skills in dealing with cultural differences.
- Several brochures on proceedings are available in Arabic, Turkish and various other languages.
- In the province of Friesland, procedural documents can be submitted in the Friesian language. Litigants may also express themselves in Friesian during hearings.

#### Initiative

Following the entry into force of a new law on sworn interpreters and translators, a central register

of interpreters and translators has been set up with the aim of improving the quality of interpretation/translation. Only sworn interpreters/translators meeting specific quality criteria may be admitted into this register.

#### 7.2. Norway

#### Status

Everybody has the right to get interpretation paid by the state with some exceptions, but there are no procedural exceptions for minority groups, immigrants and aliens. There is some training for judges to enable them to meet different cultural issues.

#### Initiative

In order to ease the problem for the courts to find suitable interpreters, the courts case management system includes a register of interpreters that includes information on the interpreters' qualifications. There is also a direct link from the courts case management system to The National Register of Interpreters.

#### 7.2. Poland

#### Status

If the defendant does not speak Polish he/she has the right of free translation support. Court documents, including the ruling subject to appeal or finishing proceedings, must also be delivered together with a translation. A person who does not have sufficient command of Polish also has the right to speak before the court in a language known to them and take advantage of a free interpreter's support in the courts of common law. The previous systemic act of 1985 contained a similar regulation, namely that: "a person who does not have command of Polish has the right speak before the court in their native language and use free support of a translator".

#### 7.2. Portugal

#### Status

The court is responsible for the translation services when needed. Everyone has the right to understand and be understood.

#### 7.2. Romania

#### Status

Foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings and there are special procedural provisions regarding cases involving foreigners. Cases such as extradition, award of citizenship, approval of permanent or temporary residence for foreigners, undesirability and others are regulated by special law having special procedural provisions which answer to the needs of this special category of persons.

#### 7.2. Scotland

#### Status

Interpreters are provided in criminal cases. In civil cases, interpreters are a matter for the parties. The use of Gaelic is authorised in certain courts.

#### 7.2. Slovakia

#### Status

This right is fully respected in the Slovak Republic and is stipulated also in the Constitution as followed: A person who claims not to know the language used in the proceedings shall have the right to an interpreter.

Parties in the civil proceedings have the same position. They have the right to act before the court in its mother tongue or in a language they understand. The Court is obliged to provide them equal opportunities to exercise their rights.

#### 7.2. Spain

#### Status

Foreigners are entitled to an interpreter free of charge in criminal proceedings. Immigrants and aliens who have insufficient means to litigate are entitled to full legal aid in all proceedings before the courts of the administrative branch of the jurisdiction which deal with the granting of asylum or with proceedings which may result in the expulsion of the immigrant or alien from the Spanish territory.

Under the Act on the Judiciary, the Spanish language is the official language of the State and shall be used in all judicial activities by Judges, Senior Judges, Public Prosecutors, Clerks of the Court

and other officers of the courts. There are, however, three co-official languages in some of the autonomous communities of the country (Catalan, Galician and Basque), which may also be used before the courts of these autonomous communities. The parties, their representatives and legal council, as well as witnesses and expert witnesses, may use the official language of the Autonomous Community in whose territory the court action takes place, both in oral and written statements. This means that judicial actions and documents submitted in the official language of an Autonomous Community shall be deemed fully valid and effective without any need for translation into Spanish. They shall be officially translated when they are required to have effect outside the jurisdiction of the judicial bodies in the Autonomous Community, except in the case of Autonomous Communities with their own coinciding official language. They shall also be translated when the laws so require, or at the instigation of a party alleging lack of proper defence. In oral proceedings, the Judge or Court may authorise any person knowing that co-official language as an interpreter, having previously been sworn in or taken oath.

#### Initiative A

In the last years some initiatives aimed at increasing the use of the co-official languages in court proceedings have been launched. So, in order to encourage the use of co-official languages, judges who practice in Autonomous Communities where Basque, Catalan or Galician is spoken are offered courses of these languages by the Administrations of the Autonomous Regions. On the other hand judges who prove sufficient knowledge of any of the co-official languages have some preference in order to be transferred to the courts of the Autonomous Community where the co-official language is spoken. To this effect the General Council for the Judiciary officially recognises the fluency and knowledge of the co-official language by the judges and applies the preference criteria in the competition for transfers.

#### Initiative B

In order to facilitate access to justice by minority groups and vulnerable people the General Council for the Judiciary has actively participated in the drafting of the so-called "Brasilia Regulations Regarding Access to Justice for Vulnerable People", a document produced by a working group with the support of the Eurosocial Justice Project which was approved by the XIV Ibero-American Judicial Summit, held in Brasilia on March 4th to 6th, 2008. The Regulations set the bases for reflection on the problems that vulnerable people face when accessing justice, and also include recommenda-

119

tions for public bodies and for those who provide their services within the judicial system. The Regulations not only refer to the promotion of public policies that guarantee access to justice for these people, but also to the everyday work of all professionals and operators of the judicial system and those who contribute to the functioning of the system in one way or another. The document also urges all public powers and bodies, within their respective scope of competency, to promote legislative reforms and to adopt measures that make effective the contents of these Regulations. Likewise, International Organisations and Cooperation Agencies are actively urged to take into account the Regulations in the course of their activities, incorporating them in the different programmes and projects to modernise the judicial system in which they take part. The full text of the "Brasilia Regulations Regarding Access to Justice for Vulnerable People", which will be endorsed by the General Council for the Judiciary of Spain in the near future, is available in the web site of the Ibero-American Judicial Summit (www.cumbrejudicial.org).

#### 7.2. Sweden

#### Status

In Sweden the court language is Swedish. An application for a summons must therefore be written in Swedish. If a document has been filed in another language, the court may order a party to have it translated. In exceptional cases the court may itself translate the document. Negotiations for Swedish courts are held in Swedish. The court uses an interpreter if necessary when the parties, witnesses or others involved in the court proceedings do not speak the Swedish language. In some cases, there is an opportunity for Swedish courts to hire an interpreter for translation or interpretation. In the general courts, the court may, if necessary, arrange a translation of documents received by the court, or sent out from the court. To determine whether if it is necessary, the Court should find out what other opportunities the party has to have the document translated. Only if the party can not get the document translated in any other way, should it be made by the court. The court may appoint an interpreter to assist at oral hearings or at other contacts between the party and the court. In the administrative courts, the court may use an interpreter if necessary, both in written and oral examination. In all cases, it must be assessed whether there is a real need for oral or written interpretation in the case. For the translation of documents filed in a foreign language, the Court must consider the objective nature of the case, the extent and nature of the material and the cost of translation seen in relation to the importance to the party to get documents translated.

120

There is a right to, under certain circumstances, use the Sami language, Finnish and Meänkieli (Tornedalen Finnish). A law from 2009 concerning national minorities and minority languages governs the right to use the Sami language, Finnish and Meänkieli before the courts. These languages can be used in courts whose jurisdiction includes certain areas of Sweden. The use of these languages also requires that the case or matter is related to the specific areas in Sweden. The right to use the Sami language, Finnish and Meänkieli includes the right to submit documents and written evidence in these languages, the right to obtain documents relating to the case translated into these languages and the right to speak the languages in a hearing or meeting before the court. The courts have an obligation to translate all documents filed unless it is clearly unnecessary.

## 8. Time Hindrances

#### 8.1. Delays

#### 8.1. Belgium

#### Status

Delays can be very important in certain districts and create backlogs. When the case is ready to go to trial, the parties ask for a hearing date. The timing for this will depend on the court's case-load and the time needed for the case. Given that there can be procedural in certain cases (expert witnesses, parties to be questioned, witnesses to be heard etc.), the precise duration of the proceeding cannot be predicted. Proceedings may have to be adjourned or even abandoned.

At the end of the hearing the judge reserves judgment which must generally be given within one month under the Judicial Code.

#### 8.1. Croatia

#### Status

Unfortunately judiciary is still facing problems of delays.

#### Initiative

Procedural laws have been amended in 2009 in order to enable courts to avoid delays and to concentrate the examination of evidence before first instance courts. Introducing new evidence is not allowed in appeal procedure.

#### 8.1. Cyprus

#### Status

There are delays in civil proceedings and fast track procedures are not contemplated in the Cypriot Civil Court Procedures.

#### 8.1. Czech Republic

#### Status

Delays are always problem, discomfortable for all participants. Courts with higher case load ( in big cities) have longer delays and backlogs than courts with appropriate case load.

#### 8.1. Denmark

#### Status

Average processing times in the district courts have increased in the years after the court reforms in 2007 and 2008 due to organisational changes, relocations and new substantive law etc. The Courts and the Court Administration are aware of the situation and in 2009 and 2010 improvement of the processing times has been brought into focus. The problem is considered to be temporarily and the courts follow the processing times closely with statistic information used for transparency and benchmarking followed up at intervals.

For the district courts the average processing times for civil cases in 2009 were 6,4 months and for criminal cases 2,9 months. For the high courts the average processing times for civil cases were 8,1 months and for criminal cases 4,4 months. For the Supreme Court the average processing times for civil cases was 20,7 months and for criminal cases 6,3 months.

As regards the high courts the reform – which made the district courts as a general rule the court of first instance in all cases – lead to steep improvements of the processing times. The processing time in the Supreme Court has been improved due to the reform.

#### 8.1. England and Wales

#### Status

All proceedings before both courts and tribunals operate within strict time limits although they can be waived or extended in most civil cases. (In civil court cases the party who is prejudiced may be compensated by a wasted cost order). Timetables are set for proceedings in criminal courts at all levels. Timescales similarly apply to appeals before tribunals. The judiciary has opposed some appeals having to be made to a respondent body and not directly to the tribunal concerned. The only concession given was that when made in this way appeals must be referred to the tribunal as soon as it is reasonably practicable. Experience suggests that there are inordinate delays in some cases. However the tribunal's jurisdiction runs from the date of creation of the appeal and judges are willing to make stringent directions to a respondent if representations are received from or on behalf of an Appellant.

#### 8.1. Finland

#### Status

From the Finnish point of view the main obstacle to access to justice are delays in criminal proceedings. European Court of Human Rights has pronounced more than 30 sentences on Finland because of delays in criminal proceedings. There also are more than 30 appeals pending in the ECHR at the moment. Although the average handling times are reasonable in Finland – accordingly 3 months in criminal cases in the Courts of First Instance and 7-8 months in the Courts of Appeal – the handling times are too long in the white-collar crimes and other types of severe economic crimes, like aggravated tax fraud, aggravated fraud, false accounting and different types of debtor's crimes. The average handling time in these crimes vary from 3 years 6 months. The average total handling time from the first investigation until the final verdict of the Supreme Court is 4 years 5 months. In many cases the procedure from the first investigation until the final verdict takes 7 or even more years.

#### Initiative

In the beginning of 2010 a new law "The Act of Compensation of the Delay of Court Proceedings" came into force. According to this new act everybody is entitled to a reasonable compensation from the state's funds, if the delay of court proceedings infringes one's right to a fair hearing within reasonable time. The concepts of the act refer to the European Convention on Human Rights. The

compensation shall be  $1.500 \notin$  for every year the delay is the state's authorities' fault. The maximum compensation is  $10.000 \notin$ . If the punishment has already been deleted or degraded because of the delay, the compensation is not to be paid. The one has to demand the compensation in the court that hears the case. The demand for compensation shall be decided at the same time with the case.

#### **Objective** and impact

The objective of the act is to ensure that everybody is able to benefit the guarantees of Fair Trial provided in the European Convention on Human Rights as well as in the Constitution of Finland. According to article 21 of the Constitution of Finland everybody is entitled to have their case heard without undue delay in the competent court or authority.

#### 8.1. Germany

#### Status

The judiciary in Germany works quickly in the overwhelming majority of cases. Statistics on proceedings document that the length of court proceedings is within the limits of what may be called fast handling. Nevertheless, in individual cases, lengthy proceedings cannot always be avoided.

There is no special legal remedy under applicable law in the case of violations of the right to a reasonable length of court proceedings. In serious cases, legal practice does allow legal remedies, some of which have been developed by judicial interpretation – specifically using an exceptional appeal. However, practice in this area is heterogeneous.

#### Initiative

A new right to claim compensation from the state is to be introduced in Germany for excessively long court proceedings. A bill to this effect has been decided upon by the government and is going through the legislative process. The central prerequisite for making a compensation claim is that court proceedings are "excessively" long. The circumstances of the individual case are decisive in judging whether the length of proceedings is reasonable, in particular the conduct of the parties involved, the difficulty of the case and its significance, both for the person concerned and also for the general public. It should not be possible to counter an aggrieved party by saying that the proceedings were delayed on account of structural problems at a court, since the responsibility for the court's organisation and infrastructure lies with the state. Another prerequisite for making a claim is that "a complaint of delay" has been filed by the person who is of the opinion that he has been affected by excessively long court proceedings. According to the government bill, he must first make clear in the proceedings that he considers to be excessively long that he does not agree with the length of these proceedings. If a complaint of delay appears to be justified, the court will ensure that remedial action is taken and will assist the proceedings.

The envisaged right is to cover compensation for both pecuniary and non-pecuniary losses. Monetary compensation for non-economic losses can only be demanded, however, if another form of compensation does not appear to be sufficient in an individual case. The main instance of this is when the indemnification court explicitly states that the proceedings have been excessively long. Another special feature is to apply to excessively long criminal proceedings: a claim to compensation is only possible if the excessive length of proceedings cannot be compensated for in the length of the sentence imposed.

Claims to compensation are not filed with the court where the excessively lengthy proceedings took place, but with the indemnification courts that are competent to deal with them. The claim can already be made while the excessively long proceedings are still continuing.

#### 8.1. Hungary

#### Status

The National Council of Justice examines twice a year the long pending proceedings and they order the cases resolved and that the proceedings in the case be examined. In order to accelerate the legal procedure the National Council of Justice guarantees procedural opportunities: the parties can requisite pre-litigation expertise from courts or notaries.

#### 8.1. Italy

#### Initiative

Parliament is considering a draft legislation to deal with the problem through identifying standard determination times for specific stages of the proceedings. The C.S.M. has recently approved a Circular on the organisation of courts in which the problem of the efficiency of the judicial system is stated as a priority. With particular regard to the civil proceeding, please note that the judicial sys-

tem foresees measures of summary and precautionary safeguard, which are resorted in case of urgency. The proceeding finishes with a provisional executive order, which represents just title for mortgage registration.

#### 8.1. Latvia

#### Status

Overload of cases and backlogs is mostly found within the administrative courts and in the Riga regional court in civil cases. As a result, cases are designated by a relatively long time, and processing times are also long.

#### Initiative

One of the targets set while developing Court system development guidelines for 2009 to 2015, was to reduce and equalize courts overload. To achieve this objective, the strategy and tasks were defined.

As one substantial mean the Ministry of Justice has developed and the government has adopted the concept of "Introduction of mediation in civil disputes", which provides gradual introduction of mediation models, including all of the mediation models (pure mediation, court derived mediation, court mediation and integrated mediation). To ensure the implementation of the concept the action plan is developed. To import the mediation in all legal disciplines in the future it is also planned to develop a Mediation Law which would define the terms, determine the quality and ensure confidentiality of mediation.

Another significant mean is to <u>assign separate court competences to other institutions and persons</u> <u>belonging to the court system</u>. It is decided to transfer non-actionable divorce cases to the sworn notaries. It is also being considered to assign certain categories of cases to judges of the Land Registry Offices as according to the law On Judicial Power the judicial status of judges of the Land Registry Offices is equivalent to that of district (city) judges.

Further in December 2006 significant amendments in the Administrative procedure law came into force. The purpose of those amendments was to make the administrative court procedure simpler

and more effective. F.i., now the court can adopt decisions and judgments in a simplified way by using written procedures without having an oral proceeding.

#### 8.1. Lithuania

#### Status

Criminal cases of district courts take in average 84 days. Civil cases of district courts take in average 46 days. Criminal cases of regional courts take in average 177 days. Civil cases of regional courts take in average 124 days. In the regional courts as appeal instance the criminal cases take in average 35 days and the civil cases in average 96 days. The criminal cases of the Court of Appeal take in average 103 days and the civil cases take in average 65 days. The criminal cases of the Supreme Court of Lithuania take in average 116 days and the civil cases take in average 46 days. In the regional administrative courts a trial takes in average 124 days. In the first instance cases of the Supreme Administrative Court a trial takes in average 158 days. In the appeal instance a trial takes in average 325 days. The average of the trial of the complaints (petitions) is 43 days.

#### 8.1. The Netherlands

#### Status

In the previous customer evaluation survey, many customers indicated that they were not satisfied with the length of proceedings, especially in appeal.

To give an indication of the average processing times at the district court level:

- commercial case with defence civil sector > 61 weeks;
- divorce case > 16 weeks;
- full bench criminal case > 15 weeks.

Indication of average processing times at appeal level:

- commercial case with defence > 72 weeks;
- criminal case (including full bench) > 33 weeks.

#### Initiative

Norms for processing times per type of case have been agreed upon and should be met by the courts in 2010.

#### Objective and impact

The aim of the norms for processing times is to manage the expectations of litigants and society in general. In some cases, the norms for processing times may also result in the speeding up of proceedings.

#### 8.1. Norway

#### Status

The possibility of having a court case processed within reasonable time is a major factor affecting how quality and access to justice are perceived. In Norway, the Parliament has set case processing time standards for some case categories. The average case processing times for most case categories are reduced during the last years, but still not all standards are met. Examples of average processing times in 2010:

#### District courts

- Civil disputes: 5,0 months (standard: 6 months)
- Criminal cases, single-judge cases: 0,5 months (standard: 1 month)
- Criminal cases, cases with lay judges: 2,7 months (standard: 3 months),

#### Courts of Appeal

- Appeals in Civil cases: 5,9 months (standard: 6 months)
- Criminal cases, sentence appeals 4,3 months (standard: 3 months)
- Criminal cases, conviction appeals 5,6 months (standard: 3 months)

The National Court Administration monitors court activities on the number of incoming cases, number of resolved cases, average processing time and the number of pending cases. Courts with a worrying development in their case processing statistics will be followed closely, and measures will be taken.

#### Initiative

The type of measure depends on the cause of the development in each court however one common measure is to initialise special projects involving extra resources for a limited period of time. These resources are dedicated to reducing the number of pending cases. In the future, the number of court employees may be reduced in order to balance an increasingly tight court budget. It is expected that this will lead to longer case processing times. The case processing time standards are currently un-

der revision. This process may lead to a different formulation of the standards. It is not intended that the revision shall lead to major changes in the case processing times.

#### 8.1. Poland

#### Status

A significant problem of the Judiciary of Poland is lengthiness of proceedings. Despite the fact that year after year the judicial efficiency of judges and referendaries increases in most types of cases their inflow is not controlled. In other words, there are more cases inflowing to the courts than cases considered. It results in accumulation of backlogs.

For example in 2007 10,679,427 cases were submitted to courts of common law, in 2008 11,209,552 cases, while in 2009 as much as 11,894,511. Since 1996, the inflow growth totalled 141%. In 2008 11,155,182 cases were settled in total which is 470,000 more than in 2007. In 2009 12,079,514 cases were settled in total. This was lightly more than submitted, but the result was influenced in good settlement rate in land and mortgage register cases and quite a good one in criminal and offence cases. In other types of cases (civil, labour, social insurance, economic and family and minor ones) less cases was settled than submitted. Only in social insurance and land and mortgage register cases the total number decreased.

By the end of 2009, nearly 300 thousand criminal and offence cases remained to be settled by courts, more than 435 thousand civil cases, more than 33 thousand labour cases, almost 66 thousand social insurance cases, nearly 77 thousand economic cases and nearly 449 thousand land and mort-gage register cases, and also 220 thousand family and minor cases.

The proceedings duration rate in 2009 in comparison to 2008:

- decreased in criminal cases (from 1.9 to 1.3), civil cases (from 2.0 to 1.6) and land and mortgage register cases (from 1.9 to 1.6)
- slightly increased in the labour law cases (from 3.2 to 3.3), social insurance (from 4.2 to 4,4) and economic cases (from 0.9 to 1.0)
- in family and minor cases, it remained at the same level (1.7).

#### Initiative

By act of 2004 one could make a claim due to breach of a party's right to examine the case within a preparatory proceedings without undue delay. The act makes it possible to give a party certain pecuniary amount in cases of lengthy proceedings. At first, the act was applicable only to the court proceedings. By May 2009 it was also made applicable in the scope of preparatory proceedings conducted or supervised by the prosecutor. It resulted in an increase of complaints and largest amount constituted of complaints due to the lengthy proceedings in civil cases (2095). In the end of 2009 there where 67 complaints registered in the courts of appeal and 310 in the regional courts.

#### 8.1. Portugal

#### Status

It is a problem in our system, mainly in bigger courts of first instance, due to structural, social and political causes (among many others). The law changes too much; courts are overloaded with small actions and people are getting more litigant. The cases are usually tried in the first instance courts:

- Civil disputes: 1 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> to 2 years
- Criminal cases (with or without defendants): 6 months or 1 year
- 2<sup>nd</sup> instance and Supreme Court of Justice: 6 months

#### Initiative

The new PADT (Action Plan to Ease the Courts' Workload) was launched in 2007 with the aim to withdraw from the courts the cases that could be solved, or even avoided, by other alternative means, therefore easing the procedural pressure on the judicial courts.

Some of the measures that were taken were the following:

- a) Setting up a temporary and special regime promoting the end of the procedure at the judicial instance: encourages the extra-judicial dispute resolution mainly through transactions and arbitral agreement between the parties.
- b) Establishment of arbitration centres with jurisdiction in civil enforcement matters. These institutionalised arbitration centres shall not only be be able to ensure dispute resolution and adopt decisions but also be competent to carry out enforcement material acts;
- c) Taking the inventory procedure out of the courts. The inventory judicial procedures are particularly very slow. They may last in average 32 months and as such may affect peoples' life

substantially. Their processing by other entities, such as notaries and registry offices will allow a much faster resolution.

- d) Increasing the number of peace courts
- e) Creating CITIUS which is a computer application with the purpose of replying to the demands of the judges' workload (it is also addressed to the other judicial operators, such as public prosecutors, court personnel and legal agents). This application allows "inter alia" the judges to:
  - Deliver sentences, orders and judicial decisions directly in the computer application, with no need to resort to the paper procedure;
  - Sign sentences, orders and judicial decisions with an electronic signature, through a card, such as a smartcard associated to a PIN code, without having to sign those acts on paper;
  - Receive and refer electronically the cases to the secretariat, without the paper procedure having to circulate itself;
  - Know immediately all the cases that are allocated to them as well as the procedural phase they are in;
  - Organize and manage electronically the cases, through the establishment of personal files;
  - Digitally (re)view the case, its history and the most relevant procedural parts;

During the first phase (April 2007) the CITIUS-application has been available in 15 courts, in four judicial districts, and has involved 127 judges. The second phase has initiated on June 2007, in the county courts of the metropolitan areas of Lisbon and Oporto, and has covered 80 courts and has involved 539 judges. From September onwards, it will be extended to all the remaining courts.

#### 8.1. Romania

#### Status:

In civil matters the time hindrances is reduced through the administration of evidence by the lawyers, in agreement with the court. There is an improvement of the access of justice as physical presence of the parties and their lawyers for the administration of evidence is no longer necessary. All evidence – witnesses, declarations, expert reports and documents - can be administered by the lawyers in any appropriate location outside court premises.

#### 8.1. Scotland

#### Status

In criminal cases there are statutory limits on the period of time between an accused person appearing in court on petition and the start of his trial. Different time limits are set depending on whether the accused person is at liberty or in custody before his trial:

	At liberty	In custody
From petition to the first preliminary hearing:	11 months	110 days
From petition to start of trial:	12 months	140 days

These limits can be extended only with the permission of the court. Because of difficulties which the prosecution service faces in preparing cases and the need for the defence to respond to the prosecutor's disclosure of his evidence with their own enquiries, it is not uncommon for the court to have to extend those time limits. When an accused person is not in custody, an extension causes no real harm. It is more serious when the 140 day limit has to be extended as the accused person remains in custody. In 2009/2010 the court granted such an extension in 31% of High Court cases.

In civil cases, a variety of measures are in place to combat delays. These include measures of case management and case flow management in certain classes of proceedings. There are nevertheless still issues of delay in civil proceedings.

#### Initiative

In response to criticism from the European Court of Human Rights in *Anderson v United Kingdom* that the Court of Session should not leave it to the parties to determine progress but should take steps to avoid unnecessary delay, the court has put in place measures to identify cases which parties have failed to progress. Action is also being taken to develop performance indicators which will assist with the management of the business of the courts.

#### 8.1. Slovakia

#### Status

The right to have the case tried without undue delay is one of the fundamental rights guaranteed by the Constitution of the Slovak Republic. Regarding the complaints on processing time, one can make it through:

- Court President
- Public Defender of Rights (Ombudsman)
- If one makes complaints through higher authorities of court administration and management (superior court, Minister of Justice), these authorities forward the complaint to the respective court president
- It is also the Constitutional Court who decides on undue delays within the court proceedings as well as on means of redress under the condition of qualified legal representation and supposing that the claimer had used the option to make complaint at the respective court.

Delays in proceedings mean a big hindrance in the Slovak judiciary. For the past four years we have managed to reduce the number of pending matters more than by a third. In terms of the workload of the courts it is necessary to at least preserve this level of handling the pending matters and gradually to get the judiciary in the state where only the new matters would be handled.

#### 8.1. Spain

#### Status

According to last statistics published by the General Council for the Judiciary (2008), the average handling time of civil cases in the first instance ranges from 6,9 to 8,1 months, depending on the type of case. At an appellate level the average handling of civil cases is 5,4 months for ordinary appeals and 19,4 months for cassation appeals. In the criminal branch of the jurisdiction the average handling time of cases in the first instance range from 7,1 to 2,7 months, depending on the type of case. At an appellate level the average handling of criminal cases is 2,2 months for ordinary appeals and 6,3 months for cassation appeals. In some busy courts in big cities there can be delays in the proceedings in the first and second instance in the courts of the four branches of the jurisdiction, since most of these courts are overloaded. There have also been allegations of delays due to overloading in the Civil and Administrative Divisions of the Supreme Court and in the Constitutional

Court. However, delays are more infrequent in courts of small towns and provinces, where the backlog of cases is not so big. All criminal cases where the suspect is kept in pre-trial custody are to be dealt speedily by the investigating judge or trial court, which means that delays of proceedings which imply pre-trial custody are rare.

#### Initiative

In the last years and in order to reduce delays in the most overburdened courts of first instance and at an appellate level the General Council for the Judiciary, together with the Ministry of Justice and the Autonomous Communities with competences in the field of justice, have launched some programmes appointing part time judges, who cooperate with the judges of the court in the adjudication of pending cases, thus reducing the backlog of the respective court. These part time judges are normally recruited among judges who sit in not overloaded courts and are paid by the Ministry of Justice (or the Autonomous Communities with competences in the field of justice) on the basis of the number of adjudicated cases.

#### Objective and impact

The programme launched by the General Council for the Judiciary together with the Ministry of Justice and the Autonomous Communities with competences in the field of justice aims at reducing backlogs in the most overburdened courts of the country without substantially increasing the number of full time judges who sit in these courts. The programme has helped reduce the backlog and the average duration of cases in overburdened courts.

#### 8.1. Sweden

#### Status

Minimizing delays is currently a prioritized subject in Sweden. There is an ongoing debate whether Sweden manage to fulfil the obligations set out in the European Convention of Human Rights, in particular in some cases categories within the administrative courts. Commissioned by the Government the National Courts Administration (NCA) has together with the courts set out processing time standards. Examples from District Courts in 2008:

- Civil disputes: 8,6 months (standard: 7 months)
- Criminal cases: 5,5 months (standard: 5 months)
- County Administrative courts: 8,7 months (standard: 6 months)

#### Initiative

The National Courts Administration monitors different figures concerning, among other things, the number of incoming cases, number of resolved cases, average processing time and the number of pending cases. There are special projects involving extra resources for a limited period of time. These resources are dedicated to reducing the number of pending cases. Furthermore there is a unit within the NCA working with the subject of court organization. The aim is to develop, on the basis of a courts unique structure and conditions, efficient models of organization. In the 1 of January 2010 a new act of preference explanation was adopted by the parliament. If the hearing of a case or matter has been unduly delayed, the court shall, upon written request from a private party to explain the case or matter shall be dealt with as a priority in court.

#### 8.2. Fast track procedures

#### 8.2. Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Norway, Spain and Sweden

Many countries have employed simplified small claims procedure (fast tracks) which enables a speedy process (see above 6.2.). The limit of the small claims ranges from  $80 \notin$  (Czech Republic), to  $14.963,94 \notin$  (Sweden), to  $17.300 \notin$  (Norway) and to  $75.000 \notin$  (Austria).

These proceedings facilitate access to courts in more ways. The process form makes it easier and less expensive for e.g. ordinary people and small enterprises and businesses to proceed minor claims. The fees for legal assistance may exceed the amount claimed and legal formalities and the time involved in preparing an ordinary legal action and carrying through the case may be a serious barrier to many. The rules can also be seen as an instance of impairing Financial Hindrances, Time Hindrances and Social Hindrances.

#### 8.2. Cyprus

#### Status

No fast track procedures are contemplated in the Cypriot Civil Procedure Rules.

## 8.2. Denmark

Initiative

In 2008 new proceeding rules in civil cases regarding amounts of a maximum of DKR 50.000 (approx.  $6.500 \in$ ) entered into force, introducing a simple and fast procedure for these cases. The requirements for the writ and for the reply are less comprehensive and it is possible to use blanks for the purpose. The courts assist the parties preparing the case and giving general legal advice. It is therefore not necessary to be represented by a lawyer.

The legislation is a part of the Danish court reform in 2007-2008. The role of the Danish Court Administration has mainly been to prepare the district courts for using the proceeding rules and to produce adequate information to citizens, companies, relevant organisations, lawyers etc. The preparation part has included information and courses for the judges and other employees in the court system and preparing the IT systems of the courts for handling the cases. The information part has included an introduction to the rules on the web page and news letters to the district courts with inspiration to disseminate information in the local area. Furthermore the Court Administration has drawn up blanks to be filled out instead of writ and reply.

#### Objective and impact

These new proceedings facilitate access to court in more ways. The process form makes it easier and less expensive for e.g. ordinary people and small enterprises and businesses to proceed minor claims. The fees for legal assistance may exceed the amount claimed and legal formalities and the time involved in preparing an ordinary legal action and carrying through the case may be a serious barrier to many. The rules can also be seen as an instance of impairing Financial Hindrances, Time Hindrances and Social Hindrances.

#### Financial implication

The rules were a part of the Danish court reform and it is therefore not possible to estimate the financial implication for these initiatives.

#### 8.2. England and Wales

#### Status

There are arrangements for emergency applications for relief to be made at short notice and in some cases out of working hours and by contact with a judge at his home by telephone. Where these steps

have been taken the parties are also given an early hearing to enable review or discharge of a disputed order.

#### 8.2. Germany

#### Status

Under certain conditions, a decision can be taken in expedited proceedings in criminal cases.

#### 8.2. Latvia

#### Status

According to the Administrative Procedure Law a court may adjudge a matter without a court sitting if the documents in the matter are sufficient and the participants in the administrative proceeding have consented thereto in writing. If a participant in an administrative proceeding has consented to the adjudicating of the matter by way of written procedure, it shall be considered that they have also consented to written procedure in the higher instance. Consent to written procedure does not prevent a participant in an administrative proceeding from requesting that the matter be adjudicated by way of oral procedure in the next court instance.

According to the Civil Procedure Law in certain cases prescribed by Civil Procedure Law or European Union laws court applications, complaints and issues are examined in the written procedures without a hearing the case. Criminal Procedure Law also allows that the decision may be taken upon a written procedure – but only in appellate and cassation instances.

Civil Procedure Law currently provides simplified procedure regarding certain types of civil cases. Procedure of compulsory execution of obligations in accordance with warning procedures is permitted in payment obligations, which are justified by a document and for which the term for execution is due, as well as payment obligations regarding the payment of compensation according to a contract regarding supply of goods, purchase of goods or provision of services.

#### 8.2. Lithuania

#### Status

Not complicated criminal and administrative cases are tried expeditiously.

#### 8.2. The Netherlands

#### Status

In certain simple criminal cases (violence (against persons with a public function), vandalism and arson), so-called 'superfast law' is applicable: in these cases, suspects are tried within the period of custody (i.e. within 3 days). Given the short period between the arrest and the treatment in court, this procedure is limited to relatively simple cases from an evidence point of view. Alongside superfast law, it is also possible to apply 'plain fast law' in criminal cases. In these cases, the suspect on remand in custody must appear before the police judge within 14 days.

#### 8.2. Poland

#### Status

Group proceedings require that one type of claims are pursued by at least 10 persons and are based on a single or on the same factual basis (mostly in cases for consumer protection).

The Polish civil procedure provides for the possibility to proceed without summoning the parties to the session or the trial. It applies to payment-order and writ-of-payment proceedings. The write-of-payment proceedings concern cases in which the plaintiff seeks pecuniary benefit, and other cases, if detailed legislature stipulates so. The payment-order proceedings is conducted only upon written application of the plaintiff announced in the petition (and thus never *ex-officio*) and only when the case concerns a pecuniary claim or provision of other exchangeable items, and the justifying circumstances pursued upon the application are evidenced with the official, payment bill accepted by the debtor, payment demand issued to the debtor with written declaration of the debtor on accepting the debt, bill-of-exchange or other, exigible documents defined in detail in regulations, enclosed to the petition. Within such proceedings, the payment injunction is issued to the defendant, who may appeal against it within a determined mode, which results in setting the trial, whose date is notified to the parties. The court may issue a judgement by default (*in absentia*), if the defendant was duly notified about the date of the trial but did not show or did not participate in the trial.

#### Initiative

Electronic writ-of-payment proceedings were introduced in January 2010. They are conducted essentially in electronic form. Only the writ's of payment copy is delivered to the defendant in an "ordinary" way. The defendant may submit documents in ordinary way until they submit the first document electronically. The writ of payments are issued within these proceedings for the whole country by the district court – irrespectively of the value of the subject of dispute.

Regulations on mediation where introduced in the civil procedure in 2005.

#### 8.2. Portugal

#### Status

Status is the same as described in the introductory section that gives a collected description of several member states

#### Initiative

Some amendments to the regime in force have been introduced, improving it and opening the way to the dematerialization of the order for payment procedure, using electronic means. The extension of the time limit is 20 days, the maximum number of witnesses is five and it is possible to request a recording of the hearing, if the actions have a value higher than the threshold set for the first instance courts, today set at  $3.740,98 \in$ . It has been tried, to find a compromising solution between maintaining the proceedings simplified and the need to confer, to the parties, special procedural guarantees in reason of the value of the action.

#### 8.2. Romania

#### Initiative

In criminal matters, a simplified procedure will be introduced in cases where the defendant introduces a *guilty plea*, after which the administering of evidence phase before the judge is eliminated, thus the length or proceedings being significantly reduced. Furthermore, in order to decide on the cases that can stand trial, the *preliminary chamber procedure* was introduced in the draft Criminal Procedure Code. Thus, when the file is received by the criminal court, it will go first to the preliminary chamber judge who will issue a decision of the legality of the indictment, legality of the evidence administered and acts issued by the criminal investigation bodies. In such cases, if the preliminary chamber judge decides the above requirements are met, the file will be referred to trial; meanwhile the files that cannot stand trial will be redirected towards the prosecutor's offices. In this way, the courts are to start proceedings only on cases that can stand trial, instead of having to deal with all criminal cases that are sent to the courts.

#### 8.2. Scotland

#### Status

It is possible to expedite the hearing of business in appropriate circumstances.

#### 8.2. Slovakia

#### Status

There exist more kinds of summary proceedings, e.g. in the civil proceeding: Interim measures, Payment Order, European Payment Order, Bill Payment Order, Cheque Payment Order, etc. In criminal proceeding there are ways of proceedings that seeks to shorten the processing time, like: criminal warrant, agreement on guilt and punishment, conditional suspension of prosecution, conciliation, etc.

#### 8.3. Pre-trial evidence

# 8.3. Austria, Czech Republic, Denmark, Italy, the Netherlands, Norway, Slovakia and Spain *Status*

Preserving evidence is foreseen in cases where the evidence might no more be available during the procedure or the current status of the evidence should be determined. It is possible in civil cases to obtain evidence such as examination of a witness or an expert survey previous to legal proceedings. In f.i. the Netherlands a litigant can ask the district court for a provisional examinination of a witness and/or a provisional expert opinion in order to assess whether there is enough evidence is normally preserved with the participation of all involved parties who are entitled to cross-examine the witness or expert witness in the pre-trial phase, and the minutes of the examination are to be read in open court at the trial stage in order to be assessed by the adjudicating court.

8.3. Germany Status If there is the concern that evidence could be lost or its use could be hampered, independent proceedings for the taking of evidence may be held in civil cases during or outside a lawsuit. Independent proceedings for the taking of evidence have equal status with the taking of evidence in any later lawsuit.

In criminal proceedings, testimonies and evidence on the basis of which the trial of the defendant is taking place following the filing of a public lawsuit are secured by the prosecution *ex officio* in investigation proceedings. To this end, witnesses, experts co-defendants and defendants, among others, may be questioned, specialist public authorities and experts may be commissioned to prepare expert reports, for example on the defendant's blood alcohol level, physical examinations of defendants or witnesses may be carried out and objects that are significant as evidence may be secured.

#### 8.3. Latvia

#### Status

An application for the securing of evidence shall be adjudicated in a court sitting within ten days from the day it is received. The minutes of the court sitting and the material collected in the course of securing evidence shall be kept until required by the court that adjudicates the matter.

#### 8.3. Lithuania

#### Status

In criminal cases, many law evaluation methods such as expertise, scene inspections, personal examinations and etc. are employed during the inquest.

#### 8.4. Interim provisions

## 8.4. Czech Republic, England and Wales, Lithuania, the Netherlands. Norway, Scotland, Slovakia, Spain and Sweden

#### Status

In the civil and administrative proceedings the parties can in most countries apply for interim provisions to prevent e.g. particular acts or disposal of property or to make sure that arrest of property and funds remain valid till the judgment is adopted. The interim provisions must be granted by the competent court when the procedural prerequisites envisaged by the law are met.

In f.i. Sweden it is possible in the administrative branch of the jurisdiction to decide a temporary stay of execution of a decision by an authority.

### 8.4. Germany

*Status* See below 8.5. Germany.

#### 8.4. Latvia

#### Status

In administrative cases the court may pursuant to a reasoned request of a party, decide on a provisional regulation. A request may be submitted at any stage of the matter. Provisional regulation may also be decided in family matters (in regard to children) until dissolution/annulment of marriage is finally decided.

#### 8.5. Injunction

## 8.5. Austria, Croatia, Italy, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Scotland and Spain

#### Status

Many judicial systems provides for forms of injunctions, which are adopted by way of urgency. In Croatia injunctions in misdemeanour and petty crime cases are obligatory and in Lithuania not complicated civil cases are tried after the court issues the injunction. In Czech Republic injunction is often used, f.i. in cases of domestic violence.

In the Netherlands a party can refer the matter to an interim relief judge within two months, and the parties will receive a judgment within two weeks. In cases where speed is essential, judgment can be obtained even faster. It is also possible to apply for an interim injunction in administrative law cases.

8.5. Germany Status In interlocutory relief proceedings, it is possible to secure civil-law claims provisionally if there is the concern that they would no longer be enforceable upon conclusion of the main proceedings without safeguard provisions.

In administrative court proceedings, too, the court may issue provisional injunctions in order to reach an intermediary arrangement that applies until the final court decision is taken if there would otherwise be the danger that one might be confronted with a *fait accompli* which was irreversible or could only be reversed with difficulty. Also, in certain cases, the court can order that a decision by a public authority may not be carried out for the time being.

#### 8.5. Sweden

#### Status

The general rule is that no enforcement measure with regard to a civil law claim can take place until a court has judged the case. The provisions concerning injunction are an exception to this rule. Injunctions generally aim to ensure that the losing party performs what is required of him or her following a future court decision. The most common precautionary measure is sequestration, which means that an applicant can have any property that the other party holds taken possession of, or have the opposite party's right of disposition withdrawn in some other way.

In the Code of Judicial Procedure there is a general provision concerning the court's right to prescribe a suitable measure to safeguard the applicant's right. This provision is, for instance, applied in actions for injunctions. Decisions on precautionary measures are granted by the court where the court action is pending. If the court action is not pending, the same provisions concerning the court of competent jurisdiction apply as for civil cases in general. The court cannot raise the question of precautionary measures of its own accord. It is therefore a requirement that the party wishing such a decision submits a motion for this.

## 9. Hindrances to Enforcement

#### 9.1. Enforcement by bailiffs within the judiciary or by private executors

#### 9.1. Austria

#### Status

In Austria, the enforcement of judgments is done by the courts upon application of the creditor. The enforcement rules provide for various types of enforcement, a distinction being made on the one hand as to whether the executory title is directed at a pecuniary claim or at a claim for specific performance and, on the other hand, against which assets enforcement is to be levied. Judges and registrars have jurisdiction to make decisions in enforcement proceedings. Numerous functions are transferred, in enforcement matters, to registrars, who are federal officials with special training for this purpose. These functions include, in particular, enforcement upon the debtor's moveable assets. Other functions (for example enforcement on immoveable assets) are however reserved for decision by judges. Enforcement actions are conducted by special enforcement officials, the court bailiffs. They are responsible for actually carrying out the enforcement, e.g. seizing moveable physical items, evictions, drawing up a list of the debtor's assets, etc. Bailiffs are executives of the court and must comply with its orders and instructions. They are ordered to pursue enforcement measures until the order is complied with or it is apparent that it cannot be complied with. Organizational performance:

- Establishing of "Planning- and Controlling-units" at each Court of Appeal ("FEX Planungsund Leitungseinheiten")
- Simplification of the system of enforcement fees to reduce bureaucracy as part of a clear legal framework introducing a system of flat rated fees
- To achieve a steering-effect to avoid uneconomic enforcement-practises through reasonable and foreseeable enforcement fees
- Adequate payment of the enforcement agents (bailiffs) depending on workload
- Introducing quality criteria rising the quality of enforcement
- Decouple of the enforcement as a financial service from the judiciary in the narrower sense

- Concentration of executing and managing the enforcement-personnel at the Courts of Appeal
- Special support and training of the enforcement agents' (bailiffs')' qualifications and professionalism
- Controlling of key-data and personnel management

# 9.1. Croatia

# Status

The enforcement procedure is part of the first instance courts.

# Initiative

The Ministry of Justice is preparing a new Law on Enforcement which aims at transferring execution from courts to private executors and to simplify enforcement procedures.

# 9.1. Cyprus

# Status

Enforcement of judgements are carried out by court bailifs

# 9.1. Czech Republic

# Status

Enforcement by bailiffs as well as by private executors is possible.

# 9.1. Denmark

# Status

Enforcement is only possible through the enforcement courts which are a part of the district courts.

# 9.1. England and Wales

# Status

The most sensitive area here is in relation to possession proceedings and eviction from dwellings. All enforcement is carried out by enforcement agents and the person affected has the right to apply to the judge of the court, with leave, at any time to seek suspension of the order. The Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007, recently in force, gives greater judicial control over enforcement procedures and enforcement agents are only authorised by a certificate issued by a judge.

## 9.1. Germany

# Status

Law enforcement in Germany is carried out by the judiciary. The proceedings require the creditor to submit an application beforehand. The enforcement of judgements on outstanding debt by means of seizing corporeal movables is carried out by bailiffs. Bailiffs are also responsible for releasing objects from a bankrupt's estate and removing them, and for enforcing the surrender of movables and immovables.

If, on account of financial claims against the debtor, financial claims of the debtor against third parties or other rights of the debtor vis-à-vis third parties are enforced, it is the law enforcement court that carries out the enforcement. As a rule, the law enforcement court acts through so called *Rechtspfleger*. They are responsible for issuing distress and transfer warrants with which the creditor can gain access to the debtor's rights to the assets of third parties. *Rechtspfleger* are courtofficials to whom certain tasks formerly carried out by judges have been transferred by law for them to process and decide on autonomously. They have completed law studies at a university of applied sciences and can take decisions just as autonomously as a judge. If a creditor wish to turn to account a piece of land belonging to a debtor, the local enforcement court in the district where the piece of land is located is responsible. Courts are also responsible for enforcing other actions, tolerations or forbearances. In such cases, enforcement is carried out by judges.

## 9.1. Hungary

## Status

The Hungarian system of judicial enforcement regulates differently the enforcement of amounts payable to a public institution and those payable to individuals. The former are enforced by bailiffs of the courts, whereas the enforcement of expenses due to individuals is ensured by a separate, individual body of bailiffs.

# <u>9.1. Italy</u>

Status

Specific rules apply for proceedings regarding compulsory enforcement of judicial decisions and the enforcement of other orders (e.g.: bills of exchange). A victorious creditor having obtained an enforcement order at the outcome of a preliminary investigation, or a creditor having obtained a promissory note, in case of a debtor's continued failure to comply, must turn once again to the law-yer and push for the enforcement phase of the debt before the executive judge.

# 9.1. The Netherlands

# Status

- The judiciary has no role as concerns the execution of judgments in civil cases. Once the judge has issued a judgment in a civil case, it is up to the party against whom judgement is given to carry out the decision as soon as possible. If he does not carry out the measures stated in the judgment, the winning party may call in a bailiff. The party against whom the judgement is given has to pay the execution costs.
- The Public Prosecution Service is responsible for the execution of decisions in criminal cases.

# 9.1. Norway

# <u>Status</u>

Norway has bailiffs within the judiciary. The Enforcement Procedure in Norway was changed some years ago with the intention to give the parties an opportunity to achieve a simple, swift and cheap resolution of the case through conciliation or judgment

# 9.1. Lithuania

# Status

In 2003 the system of private court executors was implemented in Lithuania (following the example of France).

# 9.1. Poland

# Status

Court enforcement proceedings lies first of all within the court debt collectors, but also within the courts (e.g. as regard the enforcement from real property). Courts also consider complaints against actions of debt collectors or idleness thereof.

# 9.1. Portugal

## Status

Except if the law determines otherwise, there is an enforcement agent (solicitor), acting under the supervision of the judge appointed by the applicant or by the court.

# 9.1. Scotland

## Status

Enforcement is carried out by officers of the court, whose fees are set by the court. Officers are subject to professional discipline and may be removed from office by the relevant court. An array of measures exists to enforce court orders. These have been enhanced and made subject to greater judicial control by the Bankruptcy and Diligence etc. (Scotland) Act 2007.

#### Initiative

Steps are being taken to enhance the regulation of enforcement officers. Following the commencement of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 they will soon be required to be members of a professional association and to comply with a code of practice promulgated by that body.

## 9.1. Slovakia

## Status

The execution of decisions is carried out by persons authorized by the state - the bailiffs, who implement the law execution under the existing enforcement orders, and on a proposal of the competent persons except if it is a decision on education of minor children. In this case, the decision is executed directly by the court.

#### 9.1. Spain

# Status

Under the Spanish Constitution "the exercise of jurisdictional power in any type of processes passing judgments and having judgments executed belongs exclusively to the Courts and Tribunals as determined by the laws, according to the norms on the competence and procedure which they establish". This means that the enforcement of decisions issued by the courts of the four branches of the jurisdiction is a task that belongs to the judiciary and that cannot be accomplished by private executors but by public bailiffs within the judicial system. In fact the process of enforcement of a judicial decision is regarded as a stage of the judicial proceedings, the responsibility of which lies in the hands of the Clerk of the court which issued the judgment or decision in the first instance under the supervision of the judge or judges of the court. Since the process of enforcement is regarded as one of the stages of the judicial proceedings, all the already explained rules regarding mandatory assistance and/or representation by legal professionals (see above 6.1) and legal aid (see above 1.2) also apply to his phase of the proceedings. Consequently, the basic procedural rights of both creditors (claimant) and debtor (defendant) are guaranteed as in the prior stages of the proceedings. The competent court for the enforcement of the judgment or decision (i.e. the judge or court which adjudicated the case in the first instance) controls the process of enforcement and decides all the questions that have to be settled in order to have the judgment enforced. In the administrative branch of the jurisdiction the enforcement of judgments against administrative bodies or organs is also a task which lays in the hands of the Clerk of the respective court (under the supervision of the court itself), but all the necessary measures in order to have the decision of the court enforced are adopted by the administrative body or organ following the requests or orders of the court.

## 9.1. Sweden

## Status

There is enforcement where an executive authority compels compliance with an obligation that has been tested by a court of law or under some specific arrangement. For enforcement to take place there must be a judgment or other enforceable title that imposes a liability to perform an obligation.

The types of obligation most commonly enforced are liability for payment and the obligation to quit a dwelling. A liability for payment is enforced by means of distraint. This allows the debtor's property to be taken in satisfaction of payment. An obligation to quit a dwelling will be enforced by means of eviction. Enforcement may also be sought for decisions on the custody of children, children's living conditions, and contact with children. In these cases enforcement takes place through the district courts.

Enforcement is carried out by a State authority, the Enforcement Office. Overall legal responsibility for enforcement rests with a bailiff officer, while the enforcement itself is normally carried out by enforcement officers. There is a fee to be paid for the State's costs in enforcement cases. In the case of a civil-law claim, the basic fee is generally 1 000 Swedish crowns. If enforcement takes place,

149

the costs are as a rule to be recovered from the person against whom enforcement is sought, if that is possible.

# 9.2. Direct enforcement

<u>9.2. Austria</u> *Status* Not available.

# 9.2. Belgium

# Status

For enforcement an enforceable title is required. This may be a judicial decision (judgment, order for payment according etc), an authentic instrument (e.g. act of notary), a writ of execution from the tax authorities, a foreign judgment with exequatur, etc. For further details see: <a href="http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/enforce\_judgement/enforce\_judgement\_bel\_en.htm#2.2">http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/enforce\_judgement/enforce\_judgement\_bel\_en.htm#2.2</a>.

# 9.2. Czech Republic

# Status

Court has to decide on the enforceability of the judgement.

# 9.2. Denmark

# Initiative

Since 2005 it has been possible to enforce claims of amounts of a maximum of DKR 50,000 without achieving a judgement through legal action when the claim is not denied by the debtor. Creditor fills out a blank addressed to the bailiff within the district court and if no written objections are expressed by the debtor the claim will be enforced directly.

# 9.2. Germany

# Status

Direct enforcement is not possible without an enforceable instrument. Direct enforcement may take place on the basis of judgments or other enforceable instruments, such as writs of execution, settlement packages, certain certificates and European Payment Orders.

## 9.2. Latvia

## Status

Court judgments and decisions are executable after they come into lawful effect, except in cases where pursuant to law or a court judgment they are to be executed without delay. The indication that the judgment and decision shall be executed without delay must be contained in the writ of execution itself.

Execution documents are:

1) writs of execution which are issued on the basis of court judgments or decisions by a court or a judge in civil matters and in matters which arise out of legal administrative relations and criminal matters, court decisions regarding approval of settlements, arbitration court awards, decisions by a labour disputes commission and adjudications of foreign courts and foreign arbitration courts, decisions taken in accordance with the Article 256 of the Treaty Establishing the European Community;

2) decisions by institutions and officials in administrative violations matters;

3) execution orders issued the basis of administrative acts;

4) decisions by a judge regarding the carrying out of uncontested compulsory execution of obligations, compulsory execution of obligations in accordance with warning procedures or the voluntary sale at auction of immovable property through the court;

5) court decisions regarding application of procedural sanctions - imposition of a fine; and

6) invoices issued by notaries, advocates and bailiffs;

7) decisions taken by the competent foreign institutions in accordance with the EU regulations.

## 9.2. Lithuania

## Status

The law does not provide direct enforcement (without the decision reached by the court or any other authorized institution). In administrative cases it has been established that the court, adopting a de-

cision, shall notify the institution on its execution in good will within 15 days. In case the institution fails to execute the decision in good will, the forced execution shall be initiated.

#### 9.2. The Netherlands

## Status

The judicial decision in civil cases provides an enforceable order for the bailiff. It is possible for a party in a civil procedure to request the judge to declare the judgment to have immediate effect as far as possible despite the circumstance that the main action or appeal procedure has not yet been finalised.

#### 9.2. Norway

#### Status

Motions for execution proceedings include that the creditor can use an invoice as a legal basis for enforcement. These motions are filed to the bailiffs. If the debtor has objections to the claim, he can ask for the claim to be handed over to a Conciliation Board, which is a small claims tribunal. The decision from the Conciliation Board can be a judgment, but the case can also be dismissed from the board. If so, the creditor will have to submit a writ of summons to the first instance court and get an enforceable title from this court before he can file a new motion for enforcement.

#### 9.2. Slovakia

# Status

There is no direct way of enforcement – the enforcement is made on a proposal from an eligible person to a bailiff, who then asked the court to issue credentials for execution.

#### 9.2. Spain

# Status

In the civil branch of the jurisdiction proceedings for direct enforcement or execution of pecuniary debts based on non judicial documents (such as decisions of arbitrators, notarial instruments, commercial contracts signed in the presence of a broker, etc.) are specifically envisaged in the code of civil procedure. In these proceedings the alleged debtor (defendant) can object the enforcement or execution on the basis of the grounds provided for in the rules of the code, and the decision on

whether to continue the enforcement or execution is made by the competent judge or court after hearing all the interested parties.

## 9.2. Sweden

## Status

For a claim to be enforced it must be settled either by the court in a judgment or by the Enforcement Authority ("Kronofogdemyndigheten"). According to the Execution Code it is possible to enforce claims without achieving a judgement through legal action when the claim is not denied by the debtor. Creditor fills out a blank addressed to the Enforcement Authority and if no written objections are expressed by the debtor the claim will be enforced directly through an injunction to pay (i.e. a summary process).

# 9.3. Execution, eviction etc. on basis of documents or other simple means of proof

## 9.3. Austria

# Status

The existence of an executory title which is confirmed to be enforceable (this confirmation is granted by the relevant authority in the procedure which establishes the right) is a precondition for the approval of enforcement. Generally (with the exception of certain simplified procedures), the title has to be attached to the application.

## 9.3. Belgium

*Status* See 9.2. Belgium.

## 9.3. Czech Republic

# Status

Execution and eviction must be baseed on document Execution Title, issued by the court which decided by judgement, decision on payment order, notary record, executor's record.

9.3. Germany Status Claims must be the subject of an instrument permitting their enforcement, which also has to have been declared to be enforceable. This instrument has to be presented upon making an application. Direct enforcement may take place on the basis of judgments or other enforceable instruments, such as writs of execution, settlement packages, certain certificates and European Payment Orders. If the debtor does not object, a writ of execution issued by the court in simplified court proceedings without a hearing upon the submission of the creditor is an enforceable instrument.

## 9.3. Latvia

## Status

Eviction may only be executed pursuant to a decision of the court. See also above 9.1. Latvia.

#### 9.3. Lithuania

#### Status

Eviction may only be executed pursuant to the decision of the court.

## 9.3. The Netherlands

## Status

A judicial decision will usually be necessary for purposes of enforcement and eviction. However, a notarial deed may sometimes have the same effect if parties have specifically agreed to this. In the case of an arbitral decision, an exequatur from the president of the court is necessary for the purpose of enforcement.

## 9.3. Norway

## Status

Motions for enforcement by means of foreclosure sales of real property or apartments must be filed to the first instance court. The sales are normally handed over to real estate agencies, which will be responsible for the sale procedure and only involve the court when it comes to seek approval for the price. Also motions for evictions without an agreement between the landlord and the tenant to use a simplified procedure must be filed to the courts. If the enforcement title is a decision from a foreign court or other documents that are enforceable according to international conventions or agreements; the motions for enforcement must be filed to the first instance court. The court must approve the motion before it is sent to the bailiffs for further implementation. The debtor or the creditor can appeal the decision of the First Instance Courts to the Second Instance Court and in some cases also to the Supreme Court.

#### 9.3. Poland

## Status

In principle there is no "throwing out onto the street" in Poland. In accordance with current legal status the debt collector, when exercising the obligation of vacating the premises serving the purpose of the fulfilment of residential needs of the debtor, should withhold the exercise of action until the commune indicate a temporary premises or the debtor finds another place to live. One exception is the obligation of vacation of premises rented under so-called occasional premises lease agreement. In principle the evicted is thus entitled at least to temporary premises – and these are scarce.

# Initiative

The occasional lease agreements were introduced in 2010. According to these the lessee is enclosed a declaration in the form of a notary deed, where the lessee subjects himself to enforcement proceedings and undertakes to vacate the premises. There are currently legislative works underway aimed at introducing a possibility to evict without ensuring any other residential premises.

In March 2009 new regulation on consumer insolvency was introduced.

#### 9.3. Scotland

#### Status

This is possible in Scotland in relation to certain documents, such as specially registered leases and debts due to government. It is possible to seek suspension of enforcement by applying to the court.

## 9.3. Slovakia

# Status

If the basis of execution is enforcement, which imposes an obligation to pay a sum of money, the execution can be done by:

a) deductions from wages and other income,

b) a garnishee order,

c) the sale of chattels,

d) the sale of securities

e) sale of property,

f) sale of the enterprise,

# g) order to withhold the driving license

If the basis of execution is enforcement, which imposes an obligation other than payment of money, the execution can be done (according to the nature of the imposed obligation) by:

- a) eviction
- b) the removal or destruction of property at the expense of the mandatory,
- c) division of the common things
- d) performing the work and performance.

# 9.3. Spain

## Status

As already explained (see above 9.2. Spain) execution or eviction on the basis of documents or other simple means of proof are envisaged in the code of civil procedure currently in force.

## 9.3. Sweden

## Status

In order to be granted an execution or an eviction the creditors claim must be formally established through some kind of enforceable title.

In order to execute a claim the claim must be settled either by the court in a judgment or by the Enforcement Authority ("Kronofogdemyndigheten") in a formal decision. According to the Execution Code it is possible to enforce claims without achieving a judgement through legal action when the claim is not denied by the debtor. The debtor will be informed by the claim through service of process and is given a stipulated last day to dispute the claim. If the debtor disputes the claim the case is handed over to the district court. Otherwise, the claim will be enforced through an injunction to pay issued by the Enforcement Authority. By applying to the Enforcement Authority for an eviction creditor can be granted an eviction and the claim is formally established (i.e. a summary process). It is also possible to get a claim formally established by the general courts or the Rent and Tenancy Tribunal.

# 9.4. Fees, legal aid, time involved and debtors' rights

#### 9.4. Italy, Lithuania and Norway

## Status

In some countries debtors who are welfare recipients may be granted legal aid for free by the state even in execution proceedings, but legal aid is in Norway rare to be given in enforcement cases.

## 9.4. Austria

# Status

The value of the claim which is to be enforced is taken as a basis for the calculation of the court fees incurring for the application for enforcement. The general rules concerning legal aid apply to enforcement proceedings, too. If legal aid is granted in the main proceeding, the same also applies to the enforcement proceedings. It is not necessary to be represented by a lawyer in order to make an application for enforcement. Approval for enforcement (for purposes of satisfaction) is granted for an unlimited period. The court bailiffs must halt or suspend the enforcement if the claim is satisfied or deferred or if continuation of enforcement is waived, if this is asserted by the creditor or if the debtor is able to prove it by a public document or a publicly certified document. Additionally, the debtor or a third party with a prima facie interest in postponement can request that enforcement be postponed. The act contains a limitative list of the grounds for postponement, including in particular enforcement proceedings and appeal proceedings. If it can be assumed that the postponement of enforcement would endanger the satisfaction of the enforcing creditor's claim, postponement may be approved only if the applicant for the postponement provides appropriate security.

There is the right of appeal, which is an ascending and non-postponing legal remedy, against the approval of enforcement. The parties to the enforcement procedure are authorized to bring the appeal. Appealing against the approval of the enforcement constitutes a ground for the postponement of enforcement.

## 9.4. Croatia

## Status

The current Enforcement Act is putting debtor in much better position than the creditor and numerous legal remedies are possible which often leads to misuse of procedural rights and possibilities.

9.4. Czech Republic Status Stipulated by law – see: http://www.ekcr.cz/admin/priloha/121\_2000Sb-1.doc and http://www.ekcr.cz/admin/priloha/418-

# <u>2001.doc</u>

## 9.4. Denmark

## Status

The rules of enforcement contain a provision that protects debtor from being summoned by numerous creditors to the enforcement court if debtor before the enforcement court has declared his insolvency. In that case other creditors as a general rule must respect this declaration during the following six months and during this period the enforcement court will only handle new enforcement proceedings against debtor if there is a special reason.

## 9.4. Germany

## Status

Enforcement law upholds debtors' rights by means of provisions for the protection of debtors, which determine, among other things, unseizable goods of the debtor and minimum amounts of income from employment. Debtors can assert that there has been a violation of the provisions for the protection of debtors by means of a reminder, a legal remedy, or court action. As well as the submissions on the main issue, the debtor may also claim expedited relief if the statutory requirements are fulfilled. Issuing offices at the courts provide assistance for creditors or debtors who are not represented by lawyers to make formally correct and appropriate applications.

Different fees are charged for each of the activities carried out in the context of enforcement, for which the creditor is liable. He may demand that these costs be reimbursed by the debtor, however, and claim them at the same time as the debt to be executed.

#### Initiative

The reform of the law on the seizure of bank accounts to pay for debts led to the introduction of an account protected against distress in Germany. This account affords the debtor protection from seizure. Any attempts by creditors to seize assets from the debtor's account are ineffectual as long as a certain amount of credit is not exceeded. The reform intended to make enforcement proceedings for seizures of bank accounts less bureaucratic. The debtor no longer needs to obtain a court decision on immunity from seizure if the amount credited to his account does not exceed the monthly limit. The amount in the account is protected, regardless of its source.

#### 9.4. Latvia

#### Status

Legal aid is not provided in enforcement cases. Expenses must be paid by the debtor. The debtor may complain to the court about the enforcement procedure.

#### 9.4. Romania

## Status

Enforcement of judicial decisions, especially in civil cases entails a heavy and difficult procedure. Debtors are entitled to ask for the suspension of the enforcement procedure when they have lodged complaints in court against an enforcement act or measure (freezing of assets) or they have requested clarifications regarding the interpretation or application of the enforcement title (enforcement title is in most cases a final judicial decision). Thus, until the complaints are dealt with by the court, it can also order the suspension of the enforcement procedure against the debtors. Although, according to the law, the complaints against the enforcement procedure and measures are to be considered urgent and are to be solved with priority, these kind of complaints are judged according to the procedure for first instance case which tends to prolong the length of proceedings.

#### Initiative

Provisions on enforcement are introduced in the draft Civil Procedure Code and they will probably make the procedure less formal, but it remains to be seen whether the length of enforcement procedures will be reduced.

#### 9.4. Slovakia

## Status

Fees are dependent on the amount and type of claims. For the performance of enforcement activities the executor is under the act entitled to remuneration, reimbursement of expenses and compensation for the time loss. If the executor is a VAT payer under the special law, his remuneration shall be increased by the value added tax. The obligated party (debtor) shall cover the above mentioned costs. The executor may require from the entitled party (creditor) a reasonable advance payment of remuneration and compensation of the expenses. If the execution refers to the enforcement of alimony, the payer of the advance payment is the court.

#### 9.4. Spain

#### Status

Since the process of enforcement is regarded as one of the stages of the judicial proceedings and is conducted by the clerk of the court under the supervision on the court itself, all general rules regarding mandatory assistance and/or representation by legal professionals (see above 6.1. Spain), court fees (see above 1.1. Spain) and legal aid (see above 1.2. Spain) also apply to his phase of the proceedings. Consequently, the basic procedural rights of both creditors (claimant) and debtor (defendant) are guaranteed by the court as in the previous stages of the proceedings. There are no official statistics regarding time involved in the enforcement of court decisions. However, there have been allegations of delays in the enforcement of some court decisions (particularly in the civil and administrative branches of the jurisdiction), since the procedure for enforcement is relatively complex and cumbersome.

#### 9.4. Sweden

#### Status

When applying to the Enforcement Authority ("Kronofogdemyndigheten") for an execution or an eviction one must pay an initial fee of  $60 \in$ . If the enforcement process continues more than one year there will often be an additional fee. The fees are supposed to be paid by the debtor. If the debtor can't pay, the creditor has to. No legal aid is given in enforcement cases. Executions are at the moment being preformed within one year form the day for the creditor's application. Evictions – according to law – has to be preformed within four weeks. If a debtor disputes the injunction to pay within a stipulated limit of time, the case will be handed over to the district court to be dealt with as a regular civil case in which there e.g. is a possibility to apply for and receive legal aid. In case of an eviction the Enforcement Authority is obliged to inform the social authorities about the forthcoming eviction so that the authorities can advise and support the debtor.

# 10. Treatment of Victims of Crime

## 10.1. Advice, support and assistance

## 10.1. Austria

## Status

According to the Austrian Criminal Code of Procedure the Ministry of Justice assigns and funds victims support organisations in order to provide certain victims of crime psycho-social and judicial assistance. Victims of crime are victims of among others violent acts, dangerous threat or a sexual offence as well as the spouse, life companion, close relatives of a person, whose death could have been caused by a criminal offence, or who were witnesses of the criminal offence. Assistance is provided free of charge during the court proceedings under the condition that this is necessary for reasons of protecting the procedural rights of victims, under maximum consideration for their personal concernment. Psycho-social assistance during court proceedings comprises the preparation of the affected person for the proceedings and for the emotional burden related to it, as well as accompanying the person to the hearings during investigative proceedings and the main trail, legal assistance during the court proceedings, legal advice and representation by an attorney.

## 10.1. Belgium

#### Status

In Belgium, the policy in favour of victims involves a number of different groups. The police services provide what is called police assistance to victims, especially by procuring the necessary information. Legal assistants, members of the staff of the Legal Advice Centres Department assist competent magistrates in guiding individuals involved in legal proceedings. Victim support services provide psychological and individual social support to victims and their relatives. These associations may also assist victims before the commission for financial assistance to victims. The addresses of these services can be obtained from various institutions/services or by reading the brochure "Your rights as a victim of offences".

## 10.1. Croatia

## Status

In Croatia in recent years lot of attention is paid to the victims of the crimes. In latest amendments to the Criminal Procedural Law they have special position and they have special protection bay the all players in the procedure. In the largest County Courts special units are formed for the help and protection of victims. In those units trained professionals with special skills are preparing victims for the trial making them familiar with procedural rules. That is especially important in war crime trails.

## 10.1. Czech Republic

## Status

If a victim is interested to meet the offender to discuss material damage or compensation as well as rectifying the moral harm in the presence of an impartial professional, he/her can contact the Probation and Mediation Service center. Mediation provides the victim a safe and open environment to voice his/her needs with respect to the harm he/she suffered. The "Crime Victim's Guide" brochure is accessible.

## 10.1. Denmark

## Status

The police are obliged to give information to the victim and to send an application to the court for an appointed lawyer on behalf of the victim. When the lawyer is appointed by the court the lawyer gives guidance and information to the victim, assists the victim during investigation and trial and raises a possibly claim for damages. The salary of the appointed lawyer is paid by the state.

## 10.1. England and Wales

## Status

The police refer victims to an organisation called "Victim Support" and they approach the victims either by telephone, letter or both to offer counselling and advice. The latter being guidance as to what will happen both the case and compensation issues. As victims whether witness or not, the Crown Prosecution Service have their own principles to promote the interests of victims and this includes in consulting victims on decisions taken during a case and informing the victims or the progress of the proceedings. There is a Victim Support Unit at most courts assisting witnesses and victims.

# 10.1. Germany

# Status

# A wide range of assistance and support are available to victims.

# 10.1. Hungary

## Status

The Hungarian Criminal Procedural Code determines the natural person or legal entity offended in a crime as injured party, and refrains from using the more widely interpreted motion of victim.

The injured party in this respect can be considered as a witness to a crime, who enjoys a wider range of rights. Such rights include the notification on the procedural measures, may get acquainted with the documentation, may be present at certain investigation measures, may submit applications and request measures.

The injured party has the right to ask remedy against certain decisions and may seek compensation for the losses and damages suffered as a result of the crime. At certain procedural measures may be represented by a lawyer, personal participation is not always required.

Those who enforce the law, in the present legal context – among them the judges – do a lot to help the injured parties. Should the situation or the nature of the case so require, judges may spend more time and efforts on the hearing of the injured party and of the relatives of the injured. Judges may help the injured party by clearly articulating the rights under criminal procedure and other rights provided by law. These additional rights are articulated in two pieces of legislation.

One of them deals with legal assistance to injured parties. The first version of this law was adopted in 2003, now there is an amended version is in force in Hungary.

The other law provides for the legal assistance to the victims and for the legal remedies for the injury. Both pieces of legislation are harmonized with the EU standards. They are in force for some years now, the approach represented in them is rather new for our colleagues.

# 10.1. Italy

## Status

In order to provide proper protection to the victims of sexual offences and relieve them from the legal costs, a recent legislative reform provides that sexually offended persons are eligible for legal aid, also in derogation to the income limit generally provided for by law. In order to facilitate the formalization of the request, the law expressly provides that the petition be drawn up on unstamped paper. The competent judge shall have jurisdiction on the request.

## 10.1. Latvia

## Status

A victim may implement the rights of him or herself, or with the intermediation of a representative. In order to ensure the actualisation of rights, a victim or the representative thereof is entitled to receive legal assistance from a defence council provided by the state. If a psychologist indicates that the psyche of a person of less than 14 years, the psyche of a minor who has been recognised as a victim of violence committed by a person upon whom the victim is materially dependent or otherwise dependent, or the psyche of a minor who has been recognised as a victim of sexual abuse, may be harmed by repeated direct examination, such direct examination shall be performed only with the permission of the investigating judge. Psychological support and support during criminal proceedings for victims who have suffered a sexual offence or human trafficking is granted by the Ministry of Welfare and non-governmental organizations.

# 10.1. Lithuania

Status

The victim has a right to obtain Primary and Secondary legal aid free of charge.

## 10.1. The Netherlands

Status

- Victims of crime have the right to be kept informed on the progress of their case by the Public Prosecution Service (i.e. the suspect's arrest, the willingness to pay for the damages, the date of the session). In the event that the Public Prosecution Service decides not to press charges, it will inform the victim of this decision and will point out the possibility of filing a complaint against this decision at the competent Court of Appeal.
- Victim Support Netherlands (*Slachtofferhulp Nederland*) provides legal and practical advice as well as emotional support to victims of criminal acts and traffic accidents. It also acts as a spokesperson for victims in public debate.

## Initiative

So-called Victim Counters (*Slachtofferloketten*) have recently been opened in three different cities in order to support and assist victims of crime in a more efficient and effective way. The Victim Counters are the result of collaboration between the Public Prosecution Service, the police and Victim Support Netherlands.

## 10.1. Norway

## Status

The prosecutor is obliged to give information and advice to the victims. In serious crimes of violence and crimes of sexual offence the victim is entitled to counsel appointed by the court and paid by the state. The court may under certain conditions appoint a counsel in other serious cases. The counsel is appointed in connection with the investigation as well for the court hearings.

In 14 cities there are Regional offices of the Service for Victims of Crime (RKK), <u>www.kriminalitetsofre.no</u>, which represent a free, low-threshold service to individuals who have experienced crime. Everyone who experiences problems related to criminal activity, including family members or others who are close to a victim, may contact these offices for support and advice. The services are funded by the government.

# 10.1. Poland

## Status

Victims of certain crimes who at the moment of hearing are under the age of 15 the regulation provides for a one-off hearing during the session and not the trial. The participation of expert psychologist is mandatory and hearing must take place in a friendly hearing room, compliant with certain standards.

#### Initiative

At the Ministry of Justice, there is a number of actions aimed at helping victims of crimes. In 2009 the Council for Cases of Aggrieved in relation to Crime was appointed by the Minister of Justice. Also, informational webpage was launched, <u>www.pokrzywdzeni.gov.pl</u>. Aside from informational activities, *inter alia* social campaigns, there are also legislative works under way aimed at the improvement of situation of crime victims.

There are also works underway introducing regulations on stalker crimes. At the moment persecution of obstinate harassment is possible only on the basis of regulations on offences (so-called "malicious disturbances"), and therefore only when the stalker meets features of another criminal offence at the same time, e.g. punishable threats or causing a detriment to the health.

## 10.1. Portugal

#### Status

Portugal does not yet present an articulated and comprehensive policy. Thus a policy which in the structures of police forces, criminal justice, health, social security, and education systems, recognises the victims status as such and promotes an efficient articulation among the different entities establishing a contact and making sure that the victim receives information and adequate support, and which include rationalization of the social and financial costs generated by the victimization process.

The organizations for the support to victims come out from civil society as a response to a collective problem. In Portugal, the Portuguese Association for Victim Support - APAV (<u>www.apav.pt</u>) – is a social solidarity private institution, a legal entity for public use, whose statutory aim is to promote and contribute to inform, protect and support citizens who have been victims of penal offences. It is a non-profit organization for volunteering, which supports, in an individualized, qualified and humanized way, victims of crime, through the rendering of free and confidential services. 10.1. Romania

#### Status

Annually, the report on justice elaborated by the Superior Council of Magistracy presents the statistics regarding victims of crime for the most relevant categories of crimes: rape, personal injuries, crimes against property, crimes against social relations, family crimes – abandonment, etc. A distinction is always made between adult victims and victims of crimes under18 years of age. The purpose is to draw attention on vulnerable social categories and to analyze issues related to factors favoring and disfavoring crime.

#### 10.1. Scotland

#### Status

Victims of crime are supported in giving evidence by a Victims and Witnesses Service provided by the prosecution authorities.

## 10.1. Spain

## Status

Under the Spanish code of criminal procedure all victims of criminal offences are fully entitled to appear as private prosecutors in criminal proceedings from the very institution of the proceedings by the investigating judge. This basic right applies to all phases of the proceedings (i.e. pre-trial phase, trial phase including appeals and enforcement phase) and must be exercised through mandatory professional representation (advocate and legal representative *–procurador-*) according to the general rules which apply to criminal proceedings. The only exception to mandatory professional representation refers to cases of misdemeanours, where the victim of the offence can appear in person before the court with jurisdiction to decide the case (cf. 6.1 and 6.3).

Before the commencement of the court proceedings or the granting of the right to legal aid, victims of crime may seek initial legal advice and representation, which is granted through the provisional appointment of an advocate and a court representative by the competent Bar Council and Court Representatives Associations. However, if the applicant is finally not entitled to have (full or partial) legal aid, he/she will have to pay the fees of those legal professionals. On the other hand, at the commencement of the pre-trial investigation, the criminal police and/or the investigating judge must inform all victims of the offence of their right to appear in the criminal proceedings as private pros-

ecutors and/or to seek compensation for the damages arising from the criminal offence. Victims of the offence are also informed that the public prosecutor will seek compensation on their behalf, unless they waive the right to obtain compensation or decide to seek compensation through a separate civil action before the courts of the civil branch of the jurisdiction.

## Initiative

In the last years the General Council for the Judiciary, together with the Ministry of Justice and the Autonomous Communities with competences in the field of justice, have established Victims' Support Units in all major courthouses of the country. Victims' Support Units are served by officials within the justice system and provide detailed information, support and advice to victims of all type of crimes, including advice regarding the appointment of advocates and legal representatives (*procurador*) under legal aid schemes, programmes for the protection of witnesses, compensation of damages, specific assistance for victims of terrorism or gender violence, etc.

#### *Objective and impact*

The objective of the Victims' Support Units programme is to provide advice and support to victims of all types of crime, in order to adequately guarantee their rights in the context of criminal proceedings. The programme has contributed to strengthen the position of victims, particularly of victims of gender violence and terrorist offences, two criminal phenomena which raise serous concern in the public opinion.

#### 10.1. Sweden

#### Status

In certain cases, the court can appoint an 'aggrieved party counsel', usually an attorney who will assist the victim of crime. An aggrieved party counsel can be appointed if a victim of a crime has been subjected to, for example, a sexual offence, assault, unlawful deprivation of liberty, robbery or other offence that can lead to the imprisonment of the person who committed the offence. An aggrieved party counsel protects the interests of the victim of crime and can, for example, bring an action for damages on the victim's behalf in the criminal case. In a case where a custodian has a close relationship with a person suspected of an offence against a child, the court nay appoint a 'special representative' for the child. The special representative shall, instead of the child's custodian, protect the child's rights during the preliminary investigation and during the trial. A victim of

crime is also allowed to have a suitable person with him or her as a support person during the trial. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, a witness support person assists victims of crime (please see above 5.4. Sweden).

# **10.2.** Involvement in proceedings

#### 10.2. Austria

Status

According to the Austrian Criminal Code of Procedure victims – regardless of their position as private participants – shall have the right:-

- a) to be represented,
- b) to have insight into official files,
- c) to be informed on the subject matter of the proceedings and on their significant rights prior to their examination,
- d) to be informed about the progress of the proceedings,
- e) to be granted the assistance of an interpreter,
- f) to participate in adversary questioning of witnesses and the accused, at a fact-finding session,
- g) to be present during the main trial, and to interrogate the accused, witnesses and expert witnesses, and to be heard in relation to their claims,
- h) to request the continuation of proceedings, which were suspended by the public prosecutor's office.

Witnesses – especially young ones and/or in cases of sexual offences – can be interrogated by an expert (psychologist) *in absentia* of other parties (esp. the accused) who have the right to intervene via video or audio. This video recording can be used in the trial (main hearing).

Upon their request victims shall be granted psycho-social or legal assistance during court proceedings. Psycho-social assistance during court proceedings comprises the preparation of the affected person for the proceedings and for the emotional burden related to it, as well as accompanying the person to the hearings during investigative proceedings and the main trail, legal assistance during the court proceedings, legal advice and representation by an attorney. According to the Criminal Code of Procedure (CCP) a victim may become a private participant to the criminal proceeding by declaration in order to request compensation for the damages sustained or the infringement of the rights.

In case of an acquittal the private party is referred to civil proceedings to claim his or her compensation. If the defendant is sentenced the court also has to decide on claims of the private participant. In case the court is not in the position to decide on the full claim the private participant may be referred to civil proceedings. The private participant has the right to appeal against the court decision if he or she is referred to civil proceedings. The courts decision on claims of private participant is enforceable.

Besides other rights a private participant particularly:

- may request the taking of evidence,
- may in case the public prosecutor withdraws the indictment pursue the indictment as subsidiary prosecutor,
- may appeal against the courts decision to dismiss the charges,
- has the right to be summoned to the trial and may give reasons for the claim,
- may appeal against the courts decision in regard of his or her claims.

# 10.2. Belgium

# Status

Any legal means may be presented to prove the extent of the damage and the causal link between the offence and the damage. The victim of an offence who wishes to obtain compensation from the criminal court for the damage suffered must formerly declare himself to be a plaintiff. This formality is known as "filing a civil action". A complaint to the legal or police authorities is not sufficient. Two procedures are available to an injured party: filing an action and filing an intervention: 1) Filing an action, which triggers a prosecution, can be done in two distinct ways: by filing a civil action with the examining magistrate and by direct summons. 2) Filing an intervention is the most common and least costly procedure. The victim intervenes in the proceedings already instituted by the public prosecutor. The Royal Prosecutor may decide not to prosecute the suspect if the latter meets certain conditions. The first condition to which the offender must submit, which is of direct interest to the victim, is compensation or reparation for the damage. This particular procedure is known as criminal mediation. It may only be used for offences for which the Royal Prosecutor does not consider petitioning for more than two years' imprisonment. The procedure takes place before the public prosecutor's office magistrate responsible for criminal mediation. The offender and the victim must reach an agreement on compensation. The agreement is drawn up in a report. If the offender does not fully comply with the conditions set, the victim may institute civil action for damages in the civil courts or file for civil action.

## 10.2. Croatia

#### Status

See above 10.1. Croatia. Victims are entitled to claim compensation as part of the criminal procedure or in separate civil procedure.

## 10.2. Czech Republic

## Status

Victims can follow the information about criminal proceedings, they have the right to obtain information at any point in time. Victims have the right to

- suggest evidence in criminal proceedings
- look in file and make copies or excerpts
- be present at all court hearings and voice their views and needs
- demand reimbursement of damages caused by the criminal conduct
- be represented in the criminal proceedings by a proxy or by an attorney.

## 10.2. Denmark

# Status

The victim is involved in the proceedings as a witness and as the injured party claiming legal compensation. In most cases the victim makes a statement directly before the court in the presence of the defendant. However, there are rules aiming at the protection of the witnesses in the rare cases where there might be a reason to fear reprisals. The court can decide that the defendant must leave the courtroom when the witness makes a statement or decide that the identity of the witness and other information about the witness must not be known by the defendant. The law prescribes a special procedure for these cases. As the injured party the victim has the right to claim compensation during the criminal proceedings and to produce evidence. In many cases the court has appointed a lawyer that assists the victim. The court can decide that a claim is not admissible during the criminal proceedings where after the victim must bring a civil action against the defendant.

## 10.2. England and Wales

## Status

The courts do not have any specific duty towards victims of crime. In fact the main statutory duty on a Court dealing with crime is under the Human Rights Act 1998 and the "convention right" under article 6 which guarantees a fair trial and particular rights under article 6(2) and (3). The Criminal Procedure Rules 2005 (under continuous review but made pursuant to section 69 Courts Act 2003) has as its overriding objective that "criminal cases be dealt with justly" (rule 1.1). Dealing with a case justly expressly includes giving a defendant a fair trial (rule 1.1(2).c) but also includes at "(d) respecting the interests of witnesses, victims and jurors…"

As witnesses, there are provisions to assist in the giving of evidence such as the availability of special measures which can include screens in court, playing a pre recorded interview as evidence in chief, allowing cross examination by remote T.V. link Certain witnesses by reason of age or the offence charged are automatically entitled to special measures if requested, others have to apply to the court for special measures to be used. Under the Criminal Evidence Act 2008 the court can make a "witness anonymity order" where the court is satisfied that balancing the defendant's right to a fair and open trial with the safety of the witness and the interests of justice, such an order should be made.

#### 10.2. Germany

# Status

Victims may make use of many rights in criminal proceedings. In particular, the victim may under certain circumstances take part in the criminal proceedings as an additional prosecuting plaintiff or prosecutor, be assigned a state-financed lawyer, view the files through a lawyer and claim compensation.

# 10.2. Hungary

Status

The injured party is entitled to be notified on the procedural measures, to be present at the procedural action, to inspect the documents affecting him, to make motions and objections, to receive information regarding his/her rights and obligations and to file for legal remedy. The injured party may act as a substitute private accuser if the prosecutor/investigating authority rejected the report, terminated the investigation, or dropped the charges, or if only formal charges were filed.

During certain procedural measures the injured party may be represented by a lawyer. Personal participation is not always required.

In case of smaller crimes – punishable with no more than 5 years of imprisonment – the Hungarian Criminal Procedural Code provides for the possibility to get moral and material satisfaction through mediation techniques (*restoration of status*).. Experiences gained during the last 2½ years show, that mediation offered by experts is useful and effective. Mediation is an excellent instrument to dig to the roots of the conflict, and to settle the relationship between the injured party and the defendant. Defendants usually undertake to go and see other specialists (family counsellor, psychologist) or to undergo treatment (detoxication cure). It is also possible that the defendant offers financial compensation in the amount established by the injured party. Once the mediation is successful, no further punishment will be imposed.

Since one can turn to mediation even in the court stage of the administration of justice, it is important that the judge informs both parties on this possibility and its content. In order to achieve this judges have to have a solid knowledge on these options. Training with mediation experts helps judges in this respect. Personal exposure helps judges to acknowledge the importance of this measure, and makes it possible for the judge to introduce to the victims and the defendants this legal instrument.

#### 10.2. Italy

#### Status

As regards the acquisition of witness evidence by the victims of sexual offences, including those who have reached full age, the law provides for the possibility to examine the injured party prior to commencing the process, in the forms such as to guarantee also the rights of the accused (pretrial

evidence hearing). Thus, it is possible to acquire the victim's report and avoid that the injured party is called to testify in the trial; this prevents the witnesses from having to narrate more than once, also at a later time, what is for them a traumatic event.

The injured party has the possibility to join a civil claim to criminal proceedings. The criminal judge, in this case, must decide not only whether or not the accused is guilty, but also on the damage claim filed by the victim. In case of judgment, the judge may also order the accused to pay damages in favor of the victim; at the civil party's request, the accused is ordered, effective immediately, to pay a sum – so-called advance – according to the limit within which the proof of damage has already been assessed. If the victim decides to file a separate civil action for the payment of damages suffered as a result of the offence, the law provides that the definitive judgment of conviction from a penal court is effective in civil court in terms of supporting a finding, its criminal unlawfulness, and in claiming that the accused has committed it. The injured or offended party may request the seizure of the accused's assets, in case the guarantees underlying the fulfillment of the civil obligations deriving from the offense are at risk (liability jurisdiction).

# <u>10.2. Latvia</u>

# Status

According to the Criminal Procedure Law victims shall have the right in pre-trial criminal proceedings:

- 1) to familiarize him or herself with the Criminal Proceedings Register;
- to submit applications; complaints and to appeal procedural decisions in pre-trial criminal proceedings;
- to familiarize him or herself with a decision regarding the determination of an expertexamination before the transferral thereof for execution, and to submit an application regarding the amendment thereof, if the expert-examination is conducted on the basis of his or her own application;
- 4) after the completion of pre-trail criminal proceedings, to receive copies of the materials of the criminal case to be transferred to a court that directly apply to the criminal offence with which harm has been caused to him or her, if such materials have not been issued earlier, or with the consent of a public prosecutor to become acquainted with these materials of a criminal case;

 to submit a request to the investigating judge that he or she be acquainted with the materials of special investigative actions that are not appended to the criminal case (primary documents);

When questioning and interrogating a victim, the victim has all the rights and duties of a witness.

In the Court of First Instance the victim has the right:

- 1) to find out the place and time of the trial in a timely manner;
- to submit a recusation to the composition of the court, an individual judge, a maintainer of state prosecution, and an expert;
- 3) to participate him or herself in the examination of a criminal case;
- 4) to express his or her view regarding every matter to be discussed;
- 5) to participate in an examination performed directly and orally of each piece of evidence to be examined in court;
- 6) to submit applications;
- 7) to speak in court debates;
- 8) to familiarise him or herself with a court adjudication and the minutes of a court session;
- 9) to appeal a court adjudication in accordance with the procedures specified by Criminal Procedure Law.

In the Court of Appeal the victim has the right

- 1) to receive copies of appellate complaints to the victim;
- 2) to find out the place and time of the trial in a timely manner.

Further the victim has the same rights as in a court of first instance, as well as the right to maintain and justify his or her complaint, or withdraw such complaint. If it is decided to do a written procedure, a victim has the right to submit an objection the court or an individual judge against a written procedure. A victim also has the right to receive an adjudication of a court of appeal and to submit a cassation complaint.

# 10.2. Lithuania

Status

The victim has a right to attend court hearings during the whole legal proceeding and must also carry out his/her duties. In accordance with his/her duties, the victim's legal situation is very similar to the situation of the witness. The victim must attend court hearings on demand. He/she must also give evidence and keep order.

# 10.2. The Netherlands

# Status

- Victims of certain serious crimes may have a personal interview with the public prosecutor. During this interview, the effects of the crime may be discussed as well as the further course of the proceedings. There is also room for questions.
- Since 2004, victims in certain criminal cases are also entitled to draw up a so-called victim's statement, in which the consequences of the crime for the victim are described. This written statement is added to the file and may be read out loud during the hearing.
- Since 2005, victims in certain criminal cases are also entitled to describe the consequences of the crime in a personal statement during the hearing.
- Victims wishing to claim compensation for damages incurred by a criminal act may join the criminal case as a party to the action without additional cost. The criminal law judge will then rule on the criminal case as well as on the compensation. In the more complex cases, the criminal law judge will refer the claim for compensation to the civil law judge.

# Initiative

An issue that was raised in the previous customer evaluation study was the fact that victims and the accused have to await their hearing in the same waiting room, without any separation between them. Following this finding, a number of courts have rearranged their waiting rooms so as to avoid such contact before the hearing.

# 10.2. Norway

# Status

The victim has traditionally been treated in court as an ordinary witness, and most victims give testimony directly before the court.

# Initiative

From 2008 the status and interests of victims have been strengthen at different stages of the prosecution and court proceedings. Some of the initiatives are:

- The victim shall be given a special seat in the courtroom.
- The victim has the opportunity to give evidence before the defendant, and hear his or hers statement.
- The victims counsel has the right to express opinions on procedural issues.
- The counsel has the right to ask questions to the defendant, witnesses and expert witnesses after the prosecutor and the defence counsel.

# 10.2. Poland

# Status

It is possible for the victim of a crime persecuted under indictment to participate in the case as an auxiliary prosecutor together with or instead of the public prosecutor. In such a situation the aggrieved acts as a party. The participants of the proceedings, both criminal as well as civil ones, are advised by the court on certain cases. Mainly about the time limits and the manner of appealing against rulings made.

## 10.2. Scotland

## Status

Victims may in giving evidence be deemed vulnerable and accorded special protection.

# 10.2. Slovakia

## Status

The victim has the right (in cases stipulated by the act) to express whether he/she agrees with the prosecution. He/she shall be entitled to compensation, shall have the right to make proposals for taking evidence or its ad, the right to present evidence, to inspect the files and study them, to participate in the trial and a public meeting held on appeal or on an agreement on guilty and punishment, to make comments on the evidence, to have the right of closing speech and the right of appeal to the extent specified by law.

Victim, who is under the law eligible for compensation for the damages caused by an offence, is entitled to suggest the court to order a defendant within the convicting sentence to pay the damage; It must be obvious from the proposal on what grounds and in what amounts the claim for damages is applied.

The victim has the right to implement specific proposals to conclude a settlement or agreement with the perpetrator.

## 10.2. Spain

# Status

The victim who appears before the court in the capacity of private prosecutor has similar procedural rights like other prosecution parties (including the public prosecution) and may therefore apply for investigative actions, precautionary and protective measures (including pre-trial custody of the suspect or defendant) and file an indictment at the trial phase. Applications for precautionary measures and the filing of an indictment can be made by the private prosecutor even if the public prosecution objects the application or indictment, and it is for the investigating judge or the trial court to decide whether the application filed by the private prosecutor should be granted. This means that in certain percentage of criminal cases the private prosecutor is the only prosecuting party, since the Public Prosecution Service may have applied for the dismissal of the criminal proceedings.

#### 10.2. Sweden

#### Status

In most cases victims of crime are given notice to attend the court to be questioned about the offence committed against him or her. The victim of crime is questioned by the prosecutor, by the aggrieved party counsel, if such has been appointed, by the defendant's attorney and sometimes by the court. If the victim experiences discomfort due to the presence of for example the accused in a criminal case, the court can decide that the accused may not be present during the questioning of the victim.

# 10.3. Ability to influence the sentence of the offender

# 10.3. Denmark and Norway

# Status

In Denmark and Norway the victim has no influence on the sentence of the defendant.

# 10.3. Austria

# Status

Victims of crime have the right to be heard in relation to their claims during the trial. And as a private party besides others they have the right to appeal against the courts decision in regard of his or her claims (see also above 10.2. Austria).

# 10.3. Belgium

# Status

E.g. probation or imprisonment can depend on the victim.

# 10.3. Czech Republic

# Status

Victims can comment the proceedings and declare their opinion, but the judgement is always rendered by the judge.

# 10.3. England and Wales

# Status

In sentencing there has been increasing use of "victim impact statements" in the criminal courts. The present scheme started in October 2001 and is now subject to the Practice Direction (Criminal Proceedings Consolidation). This provides for "personal statements of victims". The statements should not include any views from the victim or the victim's family as to the sentence but if such a view is given the Judge must ignore it. This Practice Direction has been updated from May 2009 which widens the occasions when the family of victims can make statements.

In sentencing again – there has been a pilot of the use of "Family impact statements" in murder or manslaughter cases. This has run through much of 2007 in certain courts and the use of them has been the subject of a report by a group under Professor Rock reporting to the Office of Criminal

Justice Reform. Part of the scheme involved the use of separate advocates instructed solely for the purpose of making a statement before sentence in open court to the Judge. Experience shows that this has not been used much – although the Prosecution barrister has been used on a number of occasions to make such a statement. The statement should not influence sentence and other than giving an emotional outlet for grieving families, the use of such statements has been questioned. This is not a legal area – but is highly political. Whilst the future of such statements is not known – it is envisaged that the use of such statements will continue albeit provided exclusively by or through the prosecution. When the idea of "victims, advocates" was first mooted by Lord Falconer and Harriet Harman (then Solicitor-General) it was stated that £30m had been set aside to finance this. There would appear to be no separate budget for this now.

## 10.3. Germany

## Status

If victims appear as prosecuting plaintiffs or prosecutors, they can influence proceedings in many ways, in particular by asking questions and submitting motions to take evidence, submitting statements including an oral pleading and to a certain extent lodging appeals.

# 10.3. Latvia

## Status

Victims may appeal the case in accordance with the procedures provided by the Criminal Procedure Law. Victims may also submit a cassation complaint.

#### 10.3. Lithuania

## Status

The Court may hear the victim regarding the amount of the penalty. Trivial criminal cases can be closed upon the reconciliation of the victim and the offender. Voluntary damage reimbursement to the victim is also significant to the amount of the penalty.

## 10.3. The Netherlands

Status

The effects of the crime on the victim are taken into account in the sentencing. For a more elaborate description of the means for victims to influence the sentence of the offender. See above 10.2. The Netherlands.

## 10.3. Scotland

#### Status

As well as giving evidence, victims may in certain circumstances make impact statements to the court.

## 10.3. Slovakia

## Status

In criminal matters, in cases limited by law the consent of the victim is required to initiate the prosecution or its continuation. If the victim refuses to give such consent it is not possible to begin or continue the prosecution.

## 10.3. Spain

## Status

The victim of the offence who appears as private prosecutor in criminal proceedings can effectively influence the sentence of the offender. This is so because the private prosecutor is fully entitled to file an indictment against the defendant and, under the Spanish code of criminal procedure, the indictment must contain a petition of sentence to the trial court. The indictments by the prosecution parties are binding for the trial court, in as far as the defendant cannot be committed for trial if there is no previous indictment by any of the prosecution parties (even solely the private prosecutor) and the court may not pass a higher sentence than the petition by the prosecuting parties regarding sentence, in case the defendant is convicted of the charges. On the other hand, the victim of the offence usually gives witness evidence at trial including aspects concerning impact of the offence in his/her everyday life, and this evidence may also influence the court's decision as to sentence.

#### 10.3. Sweden

#### Status

The court decides what sentence an offender should have. The prosecutor and the aggrieved party counsel can in their closing arguments argue for a certain kind of sentence, for example that the

sanction should be imprisonment due to the severe injuries of the victim. The court is however free to chose another sentence or another sanction.

## 10.4. Compensation.

## 10.4. Austria

## Status

A victim may become a private participant to the criminal proceeding (see above 10.2. Austria).

The Victims of Crime Act provides a scheme under which victims of severe crime who have suffered physical/mental injuries are financially compensated for medical treatment or rehabilitation loss of maintenance for dependants as well as for non pecuniary damages (compensation for pain suffering) etc. According to this act victims of crime have the right to a lump sum of  $1.000 \in$  with regard to serious injury or of  $5.000 \in$  with regard to serious permanent consequences of the crime.

## 10.4. Belgium

## Status

The victim of an offence who wishes to obtain compensation from the criminal court for the damage suffered can declare him self a plaintiff (see above 10.2. Belgium).

It is also possible to obtain compensation from the commission for financial aid for victims of deliberate acts of violence. For more details see:

http://ec.europa.eu/civiljustice/comp\_crime\_victim/comp\_crime\_victim\_bel\_en.htm

## 10.4. Croatia

## Initiative

See above 10.1. Croatia. Victims are entitled to compensation in the criminal procedure or in separate civil procedure.

## 10.4. Czech Republic

## Status

Victims can file their claim for damages at latest during the main court hearing before the start of evidence proceedings.

## 10.4. Denmark

#### Status

The victim can claim compensation as part of the criminal proceedings (see above 10.2. Denmark). The state also awards compensation and damages for personal injury inflicted by violation of the Criminal Code. Any decision on compensation is made by the Criminal Injuries Compensation Board under the Minister of Justice. The compensation may cover treatment expenses, pain and suffering, lost earnings, permanent injury, loss of earning capacity, damages for clothing and other personal property and small amounts of cash carried by the victim when the injury was inflicted.

#### 10.4. England and Wales

## Status

A compensation order may be made to the victim to cover any personal injury, loss and damage. In the case of death the payment for funeral expenses can be made to the person incurring them and a payment for bereavement can be ordered. Compensation can be reduced for reasons of the victim provoking the assault. No exemplary or aggravated damages can be awarded. However the Court must have regard to the means of the defendant.

There have been a number of schemes to allow a person injured as a result of a crime to claim compensation from the Board. The claim must be for at least a minimum of  $\pounds1,000$  and concerns injuries only. This is a statutory scheme set up outside of the criminal court system aware that many defendants do not have any means to pay proper compensation. There is a right of appeal to a tribunal as to the level of compensation, or as to denial or reduction of it because of e.g. contributory behaviour.

Victims of crime have all the usual rights to bring claims in the civil courts for damages for loss and injury. There is very little state funding to assist the legal costs of bringing such a claim. It is expected that if a victim has a claim against someone who has the financial ability to pay it, then legal proceedings will be brought on a conditional fee basis or "no win, no fee".

## 10.4. Germany

Status

Under certain circumstances, victims may claim compensation from the defendant in criminal proceedings. Under certain circumstances, victims can also receive compensation from the state.

## 10.4. Hungary

## Status

In case of smaller crimes – punishable with no more than 5 years of imprisonment – the Hungarian Criminal Procedural Code provides for the possibility to get moral and material satisfaction through mediation techniques (*restoration of status*), Experience gained during the last 2,5 years shows that mediation offered by experts is useful and effective. Mediation is an excellent instrument to dig to the roots of the conflict, and to settle the relationship between the injured party and the defendant. Defendants usually undertake to go and see other specialists (family counsellor, psychologist) or to undergo treatment (detoxication cure). It is also possible that the defendant offers financial compensation in the amount established by the injured party. Once the mediation is successful, no further punishment will be imposed.

Since one can turn to mediation even in the court stage of the administration of justice, it is important that the judge informs both parties on this possibility and its content. In order to achieve this judges have to have a solid knowledge on these options. Training with mediation experts helps judges in this respect. Personal exposure helps judges to acknowledge the importance of this measure, and makes it possible for the judge to introduce to the victims and the defendants this legal instrument.

One of the most important conditions to give material satisfaction is to secure the material and financial resources of the defendants – especially assets gained from crime – in the course of the investigation. However, this sanction is rather rarely imposed, because it is very time consuming and may result in a delay in the procedure. On the other hand, the failure to secure the funds that may serve as material compensation does hurt the rights and interests of the injured party. When there is conflict, unfortunately the injured party suffers this loss.

## 10.4. Latvia

Status

Victims may request and receive a moral and financial compensation. Compensation is paid by the accused voluntarily or on basis of the judgement. The victim may also bring a civil action against the accused and claim compensation and the victim will in these cases be relieved from paying court fees.

## 10.4. Lithuania

## Status

If amends cannot be made for the victim before the conclusion of case the State shall compensate the damage under the established order. Afterwards it should be recovered from the offender.

## 10.4. The Netherlands

## Status

- Victims wishing to claim compensation for damages incurred by a criminal act may join the criminal case as a party to the action without additional cost. The criminal law judge then rules on the criminal case as well as on the compensation to the victim. In the more complex cases, however, the criminal law judge will refer the claim for compensation to the civil law judge.
- The Criminal Injuries Compensation Fund (*Schadefonds Geweldsmisdrijven*) provides financial compensation to victims having suffered personal injury following a violent crime who are unable to lodge a claim for financial compensation with the perpetrator (i.e. because the perpetrator is unknown).

## 10.4. Norway

## Status

A victim has the right to have his or her civil legal claims decided in connection with the criminal proceedings in court. (In Norway most judges are both criminal and civil judges). The prosecutor is obliged to present the claim when there is no special counsel appointed. The court may refuse to allow the claim pursued during the main hearing if the proceedings would cause substantially inconvenience, and my also civil procedures. The victim will in that case most often be entitled to free legal aid.

Compensation can be given from the State compensation to victims of violent crime, <u>www.voldsoffererstatning.no</u>. In the case of a victim who dies, the surviving relatives may be eligible for compensation. Compensation may be granted even if the perpetrator cannot be held responsible for his or her actions. The compensation from the state covers income the person lose or will lose, expenses stemming from the injury, travel expenses and damage to clothing or personal articles. In addition a person might be eligible to receive special compensation or redress for longlasting medical injuries and certain non-economic damages.

## 10.4. Poland

#### Initiative

In 2005 the act on state compensation for victims of certain deliberated crimes came into force and a significant amendment was introduced in July 2009. Among other things, its scope of applicability was extended to cover also unintentional crimes. In consequence, the title of the act changed and the title is currently: "On state compensation for victims of certain crimes".

#### 10.4. Portugal

#### Status

The victim can ask for compensation from the offender for the damage he has caused. Such a claim must be formulated as a civil claim in the criminal procedure.

## Initiative

An act of September 2009 approves compensation to victims of violent crimes and of domestic violence. Concerning victims of violent crimes only pecuniary loss caused by the injury is eligible for compensation. In regard to victims of domestic violence the amount of the compensation is set taking into account the existence of serious financial distress resulting from the crime but it may not exceed the monthly equivalent of the national minimum wage for a period of three months, which may be extended by a further three months or, in situations of extreme distress, a further six months.

#### 10.4. Romania

#### Status

Victims of crime can recover the prejudice suffered as a result of a crime from the offender. For this purpose they are entitled to formulate civil claims - compensation in money, restitution in integrum, etc. – during a criminal trial. In case the defendant is convicted, the defendant will have to also repair the prejudice suffered by the victim. When making a criminal complaint or when giving dec-

larations during the criminal investigations and/or during the criminal trials, in this way, it's easier for the victims to also state on the prejudice occurred and to produce evidence thereof. Victims are given indications regarding this possibility, starting with the criminal investigations phase. The advantage is that the judge who sits for the criminal trial would know the facts better to decide correctly on the alleged prejudiced incurred by the victim. The disadvantage is that criminal trials are usually longer than civil suits.

## 10.4. Scotland

## Status

The arrangements correspond with those in England and Wales, see above.

## 10.4. Slovakia

## Status

There is an effective legal enactment on compensation of victims of violent crime, which provides compensation to victims of crime ensured by the State. The law regulates the single financial compensation of persons, who were caused bodily harm as a result of violent intentional crimes. The decisions on providing the compensation are made and the compensation is paid upon the written request of the victim by the decision-making body, which is the Ministry of Justice (hereinafter the "Ministry").

If a citizen of Slovakia, a citizen of another Member State with the permanent residence in Slovakia, or a stateless person with permanent residence in Slovakia or in another Member State has suffered a bodily harm as a result of a crime committed in another Member State, such victim can apply for compensation at the assisting authority of the Slovak Republic. The assisting authority of the Slovak Republic is the Ministry. The assisting authority shall provide the victim with information on how to obtain compensation in the Member State, in which territory the crime resulting into the bodily harm was committed. It shall also provide the application forms needed to apply for such compensation, and on request their assistance in filling the forms.

#### 10.4. Spain

Status

In the Spanish criminal system compensation to victims of the offence is normally fixed within criminal proceedings, which means that the victim does not need to seek compensation through a separate civil action before the courts of the civil branch of the jurisdiction, although he/she can do so if he/she wishes. The victim of the offence who appears before the criminal court has two basic options: a) If the victim appears in the capacity of private prosecutor, he/she may seek compensation in the indictment; b) If the victim only applies for compensation without filing an indictment regarding criminal actions, he/she may appear before the criminal court in the capacity of private claimant and limit his petition to compensation of damages arising from the offence. The victim of the offence may also decide to exercise the civil action in a separate civil procedure before the courts of the civil branch of the jurisdiction, and in that case compensation is not fixed in the context of criminal proceedings but in a separate civil procedure.

Even if the victim of the offence does not appear before the criminal court in the capacity of private prosecutor or private claimant, the public prosecutor must seek compensation on behalf of the victim in his indictment, in so far as the victim has not waived his/her right to seek compensation or decided to seek compensation in a separate civil procedure. The victim of the offence must be informed by the criminal police or the investigating judge of this feature (the public prosecutor seeking compensation on behalf of the victim), so that the victim may decide not to appear as private prosecutor or private claimant in criminal proceedings. On the other hand, victims of terrorist violence and victims of gender domestic violence are entitled to compensation by the State up to an amount of money fixed by statute. The State is entitled to recover the sums paid as compensation for terrorist or gender domestic violence from the convicted offenders responsible for the damages for which compensation was paid.

## 10.4. Sweden

## Status

A victim of crime can request damages from the defendant (the person who is alleged to have committed the offence). Such damages can relate to, for instance, compensation for destroyed clothing, a broken tooth, costs for medical care, pain and suffering, or personal violation. The amount of the damages will be decided by the court, in accordance with established practice. If the person liable to pay damages does not have any assets and if compensation is not covered by insurance, it is

188

in several cases possible to get compensation from the Crime Victim Compensation and Support Authority.

An aggrieved party, who has been given notice to attend a trial, is also entitled to compensation for travelling to the court. This also applies to any expenses for accommodation and lost income from work.

# 11. Contact Persons for further details

## **11.1. Member States**

Country and Organization	Name of contact	Contact details
Denmark	Mr. Niels Grubbe	ngr@hrintern.dk
Danish Court Administration	Ms. Joy Winter	jow@domstolsstyrelsen.dk
Belgium	Mr. Jean-Marie Siscot	jean-marie.siscot@hrj.be
High Council of Justice –	Mr. Axel Kittel	axel.kittel@csj.be
Belgium		info@csj.be
England and Wales	Mr. Keith Cutler	hhjudge.cutler@judiciary.gsi.gov.uk
Judges Council of England	Mr. Derek Searby	derek.searby@judiciary.gsi.gov.uk
and Wales		encj@judiciary.gsi.gov.uk
Hungary	Dr. Árpád Orosz	orosza@legfelsobb.birosag.hu
National Council of Justice of		oroszag@gmail.com
Hungary		banhegyig@oith.birosag.hu
Italy	Mr. Riccardo Fuzio	encj@cosmag.it
CSM-Italy	Mr. Fabio Roia	f.roia@cosmag.it
	Mr. Andrea Montagni	a.montagni@cosmag.it
Lithuania	Mr. Vigintas Višinskis	vvisinskis@vtr.lt
Judicial Council of Lithuania	Ms. Zita Smirnoviene	vigvis@gmail.com
		v.dvareckas@teismai.lt
		nca@teismai.lt
		z.smirnoviene@vaateismas.lt
Netherlands	Mr. Frans van Dijk	f.van.dijk@rechtspraak.nl
Netherland's Council for the	Mr. Herco Uniken Venema	unikenvenema@rechtspraak.nl
Judiciary	Ms. Christiane Flaes	c.c.flaes@rechtspraak.nl
Poland	Ms. Magłorzata Niezgódka –	encj@krs.pl
High Council for Judiciary of	Medek	

Portugal		
Portugal	Ms. Mafalda B. Chaveiro	mafalda.v.chaveiro@csm.org.pt
Superior Council for Judiciary		
of Portugal		
Romania	Ms. Alexandrina Radulescu	alexandrinaradulescu@yahoo.com
Romanian Superior Council	Mr. Marius Tudor	marius.tudor@csm1909.ro
of Magistracy		
Scotland	Lord Patrick Hodge	lord.hodge@scotcourts.gov.uk
Judicial Council		
Slovakia		encj@sudnarada.gov.sk
Slovak Republic Administra-		
tive Judicature		
Spain	Mr. José Miguel García Moreno	josemiguel.garcia@cgpj.es
CGPJ of Spain		

# 11.2. Observers

Country and Organization	Name of contact	Contact details
Austria	Mr. Reinhard Hinger	reinhard.hinger@justiz.gv.at
Federal Ministry of Justice	Ms. Gabriele Bajons	gabriele.bajons@bmj.gv.at
Croatia	Mr. Duro Sessa	duro.sessa@vsrh.hr
State Judicial Council of Cro-	Ms. Katarina Buljan	<u>katarina.buljan@vsrh.hr</u>
atia		dsv@pravosudje.hr
Cyprus	Mr. Charis Malachtos	alazaridou@dc.judicial.gov.cy
Ministry of Justice		
Czech Republic	Ms. Jana Sigmundova	jsigmundova@msp.justice.cz
Ministry of Justice		www.justice.cz
Finland	Mr. Sakari Laukkanen	sakari.laukkanen@oikeus.fi

Ministry of Justice Finland		
Germany	Mr. Harald Reichenbach	reichenbach-ha@bmj.bund.de
Ministry of Justice		
Latvia	Mr. Oksana Tjurina	oksana.tjurina@tm.gov.lv
Ministry of Justice		
Macedonia	Ms. Elisabeta Vaskova	vaskovab@yahoo.com
Judicial Council of the Repub-		
lic of Macedonia		
Norway	Ms. Anne Austbø	anne.austbo@domstol.no
The National Courts Admin-	Mr. Iwar Arnstad	iwar.arnstad@domstoladministrasjo
istration of Norway		<u>nen.no</u>
		post-
		mottak@domstoladministrasjonen.n
		<u>o</u>
Sweden	Mr. Mattias Henriksson	mattias.henriksson@dom.se
Swedish National Courts Ad-		
ministration		